# Incident Management Capability Metrics Version 0.1

Audrey Dorofee Georgia Killcrece Robin Ruefle Mark Zajicek

April 2007

TECHNICAL REPORT CMU/SEI-2007-TR-008 ESC-TR-2007-008

#### **CERT Program**

Unlimited distribution subject to the copyright.



This report was prepared for the

SEI Administrative Agent ESC/XPK 5 Eglin Street Hanscom AFB, MA 01731-2100

The ideas and findings in this report should not be construed as an official DoD position. It is published in the interest of scientific and technical information exchange.

This work is sponsored by the U.S. Department of Defense. The Software Engineering Institute is a federally funded research and development center sponsored by the U.S. Department of Defense.

Copyright 2007 Carnegie Mellon University.

#### NO WARRANTY

THIS CARNEGIE MELLON UNIVERSITY AND SOFTWARE ENGINEERING INSTITUTE MATERIAL IS FURNISHED ON AN "AS-IS" BASIS. CARNEGIE MELLON UNIVERSITY MAKES NO WARRANTIES OF ANY KIND, EITHER EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED, AS TO ANY MATTER INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, WARRANTY OF FITNESS FOR PURPOSE OR MERCHANTABILITY, EXCLUSIVITY, OR RESULTS OBTAINED FROM USE OF THE MATERIAL. CARNEGIE MELLON UNIVERSITY DOES NOT MAKE ANY WARRANTY OF ANY KIND WITH RESPECT TO FREEDOM FROM PATENT, TRADEMARK, OR COPYRIGHT INFRINGEMENT.

Use of any trademarks in this report is not intended in any way to infringe on the rights of the trademark holder.

Internal use. Permission to reproduce this document and to prepare derivative works from this document for internal use is granted, provided the copyright and "No Warranty" statements are included with all reproductions and derivative works.

External use. Requests for permission to reproduce this document or prepare derivative works of this document for external and commercial use should be addressed to the SEI Licensing Agent.

This work was created in the performance of Federal Government Contract Number FA8721-05-C-0003 with Carnegie Mellon University for the operation of the Software Engineering Institute, a federally funded research and development center. The Government of the United States has a royalty-free government-purpose license to use, duplicate, or disclose the work, in whole or in part and in any manner, and to have or permit others to do so, for government purposes pursuant to the copyright license under the clause at 252.227-7013.

For information about purchasing paper copies of SEI reports, please visit the publications portion of our Web site http://www.sei.cmu.edu/publications/pubweb.html

### **Table of Contents**

Abs	stract		V
1	Intro	oduction	1
	1.1	About This Report: A Benchmark	1
	1.2	What Are These Metrics?	1
	1.3	What We Mean by Incident Management Capability	2
	1.4	Overview of the Major Categories	3
		1.4.1 Protect	3
		1.4.2 Detect	3
		1.4.3 Respond 1.4.4 Sustain	4
	1.5	Intended Audience	4
2	Exp	anation of the Structure	5
3	Usir	g these Metrics to Evaluate the Incident Management Capability of an Organization	7
	3.1	Identify The Groups Involved in Incident Management and Allocate the Functions	7
	3.2	Assess Each Group	8
	3.3	Look at the Results and Decide What to Improve	8
	3.4	Determine What To Do About Groups That Cannot Be Assessed	9
	3.5	Final Thoughts	9
4	Gen	eral Guidance for Scoring Metrics	11
	4.1	Answer the Function Question First	11
	4.2	Check Completeness and Quality of Documented Policies and Procedures	11
	4.3	Determine Personnel Knowledge of Procedures and Successful Training	12
	4.4	Identify Quality Statistics	12
5	The	Incident Management Capability Metrics	15
	Com	mon: Section 0 of Incident Management Capability Metrics 0.1 Organizational Interfaces	16 17
	Prote	ect: Section 1 of Incident Management Capability Metrics	20
		1.1 Risk Assessment	22
		1.2 Malware Protection     1.3 Computer Network Defense Operational Exercises	38 42
		1.4 Constituent Protection Support and Training	48
		1.5 Information Assurance/Vulnerability Management	59
	Dete	ct: Section 2 of Incident Management Capability Metrics	63
		2.1 Network Security Monitoring	65
		2.2 Indicators, Warning, and Situational Awareness	69
	Res	pond: Section 3 of Incident Management Capability Metrics	75
		3.1 Incident Reporting	77
		3.2 Incident Response 3.3 Incident Analysis	96 116
	Sust	•	135
	Just		136
		4.2 Project/Program Management	143
		4.3 CND Technology Development, Evaluation, and Implementation	165

	4.4 Personnel	170
	4.5 Security Administration	176
	4.6 CND Information Systems	182
	4.7 Threat Level Implementation	203
Appendix	List of Incident Management Functions	209
Acronyms		215
Bibliograp	phy	217

## List of Tables and Figures

Table 1: Function Categories	2
Figure 1: Standard Format for an Incident Management Capability Function Table	6

#### **Abstract**

Successful management of incidents that threaten an organization's computer security is a complex endeavor. Frequently an organization's primary focus on the response aspects of security incidents results in its failure to manage incidents beyond simply reacting to threatening events.

The metrics presented in this document are intended to provide a baseline or benchmark of incident management practices. The incident management functions—provided in a series of questions and indicators—define the actual benchmark. The questions explore different aspects of incident management activities for protecting, defending, and sustaining an organization's computing environment in addition to conducting appropriate response actions. This benchmark can be used by an organization to assess how its current incident management capability is defined, managed, measured, and improved. This will help assure the system owners, data owners, and operators that their incident management services are being delivered with a high standard of quality and success, and within acceptable levels of risk.

#### 1 Introduction

#### 1.1 ABOUT THIS REPORT: A BENCHMARK

The Software Engineering Institute is transitioning a method that can be used to evaluate and improve an organization's capability for managing computer security incidents. This set of generic incident management capability metrics leverages earlier work created by the U.S. Department of Defense (DoD) Certification and Accreditation of Computer Network Defense Service Providers (CNDSP) and the Department of Homeland Security (DHS) United States Computer Emergency Readiness Team (US-CERT) Federal Computer Network Defense (CND) Metrics. Note that neither of these sets of metrics are (as of the writing of this document) publicly available.

There are many aspects to successfully managing computer security incidents within an organization. Frequently, the primary focus is on the response aspects of computer security incidents and, as a result, the organization fails to adequately consider that there is more to incident management than just responding when a threatening event occurs.

The metrics provided in this document are being published to provide a baseline or benchmark of incident management practices. The incident management functions—provided in a series of questions and indicators—define the actual benchmark.

This benchmark can be used by an organization to assess how its current incident management capability is defined, managed, measured, and improved. This will help assure the system owners, data owners, and operators that their incident management services are being delivered with a high standard of quality, success, and within acceptable levels of risk.

A companion evaluation method will also be published to provide a structured methodology that can be used to guide a practitioner through the process for evaluating an incident management capability.

#### 1.2 WHAT ARE THESE METRICS?

As mentioned above, the metrics are questions that can be used to benchmark or evaluate an incident management capability. Each function or service within the capability has a set of goals, tasks, and activities (that is, a mission of its own) that must be completed to support the overall strategic mission of the organization. The questions explore different aspects of incident management activities for protecting, defending, and sustaining an organization's computing environment in addition to conducting appropriate response actions.

Indicators, included with the metrics questions, are used by an evaluator or practitioner to determine whether a metric has successfully been achieved. The results from an evaluation can help an organization in determining the maturity of their capability, independent of the type of organization (a commercial organization, an academic institution, or a government entity, etc.).

A complete list of the questions is provided in the Appendix.

#### 1.3 WHAT WE MEAN BY INCIDENT MANAGEMENT CAPABILITY

An incident management capability is instantiated in a set of services considered essential to protecting, defending, and sustaining an organization's computing environment, in addition to conducting appropriate response actions. Such services can be provided internally by security or network operators, outsourced to managed security service providers (MSSPs), or they can also be provided and managed by a computer security incident response team (CSIRT). Note that we recognize that it may not always be the CSIRT that performs an incident management activity. However, for the sake of simplicity, the term *incident management personnel* is generally used in this document to represent the groups (or individuals) performing these activities. The terms *constituents* and *constituency* are used to indicate those who are receiving the services provided by whoever is performing incident management activities.

Table 1 provides an overview of the four major function categories—activities conducted in the Protect, Detect, Respond, and Sustain categories. Each category contains a range of subcategories with a set of one or more functions. Each function includes a question about the performance of that function and several indicators that essentially describe the activities leading to adequate performance of that function.

Within the four major function categories, each function is assigned a priority:

- Priority I functions are critical services that a CSIRT or incident management capability should provide.
- Priority II functions are the next most important services. These focus on traditional operational concerns.
- Priority III and Priority IV functions constitute the remaining questions. They represent additional best practices that support operational effectiveness and quality.

Table 1: Function Categories

PROTECT	DETECT	RESPOND	SUSTAIN		
<ul> <li>Risk Assessment Support</li> <li>Malware Protection Support</li> <li>CND Operational Exercises</li> <li>Constituent Protection Support and Training</li> <li>Information Assurance/ Vulnerability Management</li> </ul>	Network     Security     Monitoring     Indicators,     Warning, and     Situational     Awareness	<ul> <li>Incident         Reporting</li> <li>Incident         Response</li> <li>Incident         Analysis</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>MOU¹s and Contracts</li> <li>Project/Program         Management</li> <li>CND Technology         Development,         Evaluation, and         Implementation</li> <li>Personnel</li> <li>Security         Administration</li> <li>CND Information         Systems</li> <li>Threat Level         Implementation</li> </ul>		

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> MOU stands for Memorandum of Understanding.

#### 1.4 OVERVIEW OF THE MAJOR CATEGORIES

The next few paragraphs will provide an overview of each of the major categories: Protect, Detect, Respond, and Sustain. In each of these categories, the organization must have defined procedures and methods to perform the function; the staff with the requisite knowledge, skills, and abilities (KSAs) to perform the tasks and activities; and the infrastructure with appropriate tools, techniques, equipment, and methodologies to support that work.

#### 1.4.1 Protect

The Protect process relates to actions taken to prevent attacks from happening and mitigate the impact of those that do occur.

Preventative actions secure and fortify systems and networks, which helps decrease the potential for successful attacks against the organization's infrastructure. Such steps can include

- implementing defense-in-depth and other best security practices to ensure systems and networks are designed, configured, and implemented in a secure fashion
- performing security audits, vulnerability assessments, and other infrastructure evaluations to identify and address any weaknesses or exposure before they are successfully exploited
- collecting information on new risks and threats and evaluating their impact on the organization

Mitigation involves making changes in the enterprise infrastructure to contain, eradicate, or fix actual or potential malicious activity. Such actions might include

- making changes in filters on firewalls, routers, or mail servers to prohibit malicious packets from entering the infrastructure
- updating IDS or anti-virus signatures to identify and contain new threats
- installing patches for vulnerable software

Changes to the infrastructure may also be made, based on the process improvement changes and lessons learned that result from a postmortem review done after an incident has been handled. These types of changes are made to ensure that incidents do not happen again or that similar incidents do not occur.

#### 1.4.2 Detect

In the Detect process, information about current events, potential incidents, vulnerabilities, or other computer security or incident management information is gathered both proactively and reactively. In reactive detection, information is received from internal or external sources in the form of reports or notifications. Proactive detection requires actions by the designated staff to identify suspicious activity through monitoring and analysis of a variety of logging results, situational awareness, and evaluation of warnings about situations that can adversely affect the organization's successful operations.

#### 1.4.3 Respond

The Respond process includes the steps taken to analyze, resolve, or mitigate an event or incident. Such actions are targeted at understanding what has happened and what needs to be done to enable the organization to resume operations as soon as possible or to continue to operate while dealing with threats, attacks, and vulnerabilities. Respond steps can include

- analysis of incident impact, scope, and trends
- collection of computer forensics evidence, following chain of custody practices
- additional technical analysis related to malicious code or computer forensics analysis
- notification to stakeholders and involved parties of incident status and corresponding response steps
- development and release of alerts, advisories, bulletins, or other technical documents
- coordination of response actions across the enterprise and with other involved internal and
  external parties, such as executive management, human resources, IT and telecommunication
  groups, operations and business function groups, public relations, legal counsel, law
  enforcement, internet service providers, software and hardware vendors, or other CSIRTs and
  security teams
- verification and follow-up to ensure response actions were correctly implemented and that the incident has been appropriately handled or contained

#### 1.4.4 Sustain

The Sustain process focuses on maintaining and improving the CSIRT or incident management capability, itself. It involves ensuring that

- the capability is appropriately funded
- incident management staff are properly trained
- infrastructure and equipment are adequate to support the incident management services and mission
- appropriate controls, guidelines, and regulatory requirements are followed to securely maintain, update, and monitor the infrastructure

Information and lessons learned from the Protect, Detect, and Respond processes are identified and analyzed to help determine improvements for the incident management operational processes.

#### 1.5 INTENDED AUDIENCE

This document is intended for individuals and organizations who want to baseline their incident management functions to identify strengths and weaknesses and improve their incident management capability. The guidance is provided to help an individual practitioner or team understand the application of these questions against a series of baseline requirements and indicators that can lead to an evaluation of an effective incident management capability.

#### 2 Explanation of the Structure

The structure for each incident management function provides two basic sets of information.

- explanatory information and scoring guidance—additional information explaining the significance of the function and how to evaluate the performance of that function
- the function itself, presented in a table with a main question, and a more detailed set of indicators that can be used by the evaluator to assess the performance of the function

Each function also includes a set of cross-references to selected regulations or guidance: Federal Information Security Management Act (FISMA), National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) publications, and best practices.

As stated previously, each function includes indicators to evaluate the performance of that function. Indicators that must be met have an added "required" label (indicated by the placement of [R] at the end of the statement). These required items are best practices for ensuring that an effective capability exists for incident management.

The indicators cover six groups:

- prerequisites that must be met before this function can be performed, or be performed adequately
- controls that are available or exist that direct the proper execution of the activities
- activities that are performed as part of this function (and could be observed by an evaluator)
- supporting mechanisms that are needed for adequate execution of activities
- artifacts that result from or support the activities and can be observed by an evaluator to verify execution of activities
- quality indicators that measure effectiveness, completeness, usefulness and other quality aspects of the activities

An example of a function table is shown in Figure 1. To help the evaluator use the tables, the following list explains how the information for each function is organized. Reading the table from left to right, the fields are

- 1. major function category and number – protect, for example
- 2. function subcategory and number – risk assessment support, for example
- 3. function reference number – represents major category, subcategory, and specific function, for example, 1.1.1
- 4. question – the function that is being evaluated
- 5. priority – I through IV (where Priority I is the most important)
- Not Observed used to indicate situations where function was not observed during the evaluation

- 7. Not Applicable in those cases where this may apply<sup>2</sup>, the function is excluded from the scoring
- 8. Yes statement defining what is required to score this question as having been fully met
- 9. Partial statement defining what is required to score this question as having been partially met (only present for Priorities II, III, and IV)
- 10. Score value based on evaluation results
  - For Priority I functions, the scoring selection is "Yes" or "No"
  - For Priority II-IV, the scoring selections are "Yes", "Partial", or "No"
- 11. Indicators the items, actions, or criteria the evaluators can see or examine during the evaluation to help them determine whether the metric is being met (refer to additional details in guidance and scoring requirements). Those indicators that are required for a [Yes] score are marked with a [R]
- 12. References standards, guidelines, or regulations relating to this function, including a placeholder for organization-specific references

Incident Management Capability Functions									
{1} Major function category									
{2} Function subcategory									
{3} Function reference #	{4} Question	{4} Question					ity		
{6} Not observed	{7} Not	{8} Yes	•	statement representing Yes answer for question		{10} Score			
observed	applicable	{9} Partial	•	statement representing Partial answer for question	Y	P 🗆	N		
Prerequisites  Controls  Activity  Supporting Mechanisms  Artifacts  Quality  U									
{12} Regulatory References:									
{12} Guidance	{12} Guidance References:								
{12} Internal Organization References:									

Figure 1: Standard Format for an Incident Management Capability Function Table

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Note that the guidance and scoring description provides additional information about Not Applicable responses.

# 3 Using these Metrics to Evaluate the Incident Management Capability of an Organization

This section provides an overview of how the metrics can be used to assess and improve an organization's incident management capability. A complete evaluation method description for using these metrics by an expert team will be documented and released in the future. It is possible to use these metrics for a broad range of evaluations. For example, the entire set of metrics can be used to evaluate an organization's entire incident management capability. A subset could be used to more narrowly focus on only the specific responsibilities of an actual CSIRT or a security service provider. The extent or scope of the evaluation is determined early in the process, based on the goals of the organization or sponsor of the evaluation. The assumption for this section is that the entire incident management capability is being evaluated. A narrower scope would simply use fewer metrics and evaluate fewer groups.

Incident management, as a complete capability, includes activities that may be performed by a CSIRT or by other groups across an organization. There may be several groups, each with some distinct or overlapping responsibilities, that support management of cyber security events and incidents. In this latter case, applying these metrics only against the designated CSIRT may result in an inaccurate or very limited view of the organization's total ability to effectively manage cyber security incidents. An evaluation should consider all groups performing incident management activities in order to produce accurate results.

An evaluation using these metrics generally requires the following tasks:

- Identify the groups involved in incident management and allocate their functions to the groups (from the Protect, Detect, Respond, and Sustain categories).
- Assess each group.
- Look at the results and decide whether the group is effectively performing its functions or identify what to improve.
- Determine what to do about groups that cannot be assessed.

# 3.1 IDENTIFY THE GROUPS INVOLVED IN INCIDENT MANAGEMENT AND ALLOCATE THE FUNCTIONS

There are many techniques for identifying the groups involved in incident management. One technique would use a benchmark for incident management, such as that described by Alberts [Alberts 2004]. By comparing the organization to this process model of incident management activities, all of the groups performing such activities can be identified. Another alternative would be to use some form of work process modeling [Sharp 2001] to map out all of the groups and interfaces associated with incident management activities. Once the groups and activities have been identified, functions can be allocated to each group (e.g., allocate Detect functions to the groups performing network monitoring).

#### 3.2 ASSESS EACH GROUP

The simplest way to assess each group against its functions is to conduct interviews or group discussions and ask the assembled individuals about each function that is applicable to their group. Artifacts related to the functions can be requested and reviewed, and where necessary, activities can be observed. The scoring guidance (in Section 4 and with each metric) and the indicators included with the function provide help by listing prerequisites that are needed, activities that are performed, supporting mechanisms that may be in place to help do the work, or physical artifacts (forms, templates, lists, etc.) that can be examined for completeness and currency. To further assist the evaluator, as mentioned earlier, some indicators are designated as required [R]. These indicators must be met to obtain a successful or passing score for that function.

Priority I metrics will be scored either as a Yes or No. Priority II, III, and IV metrics can obtain scores of either Yes, Partial or No. For further delineation of the results, a five-point scale using Qualified Yes and Qualified No in addition to Yes, Partial and No is also a possibility, although it is not discussed further in this document.<sup>3</sup> It is also possible that the function could be scored either "Not Observed" or "Not Applicable."

"Not Observed" is used when a function cannot be evaluated because the evaluator does not have access to the individuals who can provide the correct answer, or cannot observe that the activity or function was performed. "Not Applicable" is used when the activity is not performed by the organization as part of the incident management processes. The guidance and scoring information preceding each metric provides additional information to help the evaluator in situations where a Not Observed or Not Applicable claim is made.

#### 3.3 LOOK AT THE RESULTS AND DECIDE WHAT TO IMPROVE

The organization, at this point, will have a clear idea of how well it is meeting these metrics with respect to incident management. It will know what its strengths and weaknesses are. To improve the processes, the organization can look at the resulting scores and begin to build a strategy for improvement by building off its strengths. For example, the following questions could be asked:

- Are there any Priority I functions with a score of No?
  - If so, these should be the first candidates for improvement.
- Are there any Priority II, III, IV functions with a score of No?
  - If so, these are the second candidate set for improvement, in Priority order (in other words, improve the Priority II functions first, the Priority IV functions last).
- Are there any Priority II, III, IV functions with a score of Partial?
  - These are the third candidate set for improvement, in Priority order.

Existing strengths can be used to improve weaker areas. For example, if some functions have exceptionally good procedures and policies, use those as a basis for developing policies and

The forthcoming evaluation method document for these metrics will include a detailed discussion of a five-point scale, which can provide a much more refined picture of the state of the organization's incident management capability. This more refined picture provides a better platform of improvement with the greater granularity of the evaluation results.

procedures for functions where they are not as robust or missing. If there is a strong training program for some types of personnel, expand that program to include additional types of training for identified incident management functions that are lacking.

Note that a further review of the results may be needed when considering improvements in the Priority II through Priority IV functions—for example, improving a Priority IV metric from No to Partial might be less critical than improving a Priority II function from Partial to Yes. Each organization will need to make its own determination concerning the order in which to improve scores on any Priority II-IV functions based on a review of the entire set and by considering the changes that are needed, the required resources, the mission, goals, and objectives.

Finally, a common type of improvement for all of the functions can be found by looking at the non-required indicators. This type of improvement goes beyond meeting best practice and considers additional improvements that can build an exceptional incident management capability. Even those functions where required indicators were successfully met can be improved by implementing the non-required indicators.

Ultimately, the end goal for these metrics (or other types of assessments) is to strive for continuous improvement of the processes, so it is also a recommended best practice to periodically re-evaluate to see what new "current" state has been achieved. This could be done on an annual basis or as conditions change (e.g., as new technologies are deployed, the infrastructure changed, or new partnerships or supply chains adopted).

#### 3.4 DETERMINE WHAT TO DO ABOUT GROUPS THAT CANNOT BE ASSESSED

Given the complexities and political realities of some organizations, it may not be possible to meet with some groups or obtain access to certain types of information. At the very least, the interface to that group should be evaluated. The organization can then decide if those groups should be evaluated at a later time, or whether arrangements can be made for those other groups to assess themselves using applicable information from these metrics, and to then provide the results (or feedback) to appropriate individuals. Alternatively, an external or third-party organization can be contracted to perform the evaluation on the relevant groups.

#### 3.5 FINAL THOUGHTS

These metrics are a starting place for identifying improvements. They are not a precisely defined path for every organization to build the perfect incident management capability, but serve as a baseline for determining the effectiveness of teams, based on approaches used by other entities and the experience of the CERT Program in helping organizations build their teams or incident management capabilities. One additional comment on considering the positive or negative impacts can be made. Each function should be examined to consider the relative consequences of "doing" or "not doing" the function or required indicators therein. This can provide elemental insight into whether the result will be a detrimental or unexpected result. Look to the suggested improvements for ideas on enhancing performance or identifying ways to improve. In applying the metrics, use judgment and common sense, respect the budgetary process, and stay abreast of changing regulations and standards in this ever-evolving environment.

Furthermore, there has been no mention of adding up the scores to achieve some predefined threshold that constitutes a "passing" score. The metrics must be tested and used by the

community to determine if scoring ranges would be relevant, accurate, and achievable, and if so, what those ranges would be.

Our goals are to work with the incident response community and others to discuss what constitutes the appropriate threshold scores for a CSIRT or incident management capability. For example, are different "ranges" of thresholds required for different types of teams, such as a corporate team vs. a national team?

One suggested approach for transitioning the metrics has been to release them publicly, encourage adoption, and establish a baseline set of thresholds. These thresholds can slowly increase to "raise the bar" across the different types of CSIRTS for what constitutes a passing score. This approach can also serve as the appropriate driver for continuous improvement in incident management activities. For example, start with some established set of percentages across each Priority (e.g., you would need to successfully perform 75% of the Priority I functions, 60% of the Priority II functions, and so on), then periodically increase the percentages needed to achieve success. Determining how to raise the threshold could be done through regularly scheduled reviews of the metrics themselves to keep them aligned with the current state of the art. These are all future considerations.

For the present these metrics can be used to identify critical weaknesses in the organization's incident management capability and provide insight for where to make practical improvements.

#### 4 General Guidance for Scoring Metrics

This section discusses some issues evaluators need to remember as they are conducting the evaluation. The guidelines addressed here are

- answer the primary function question first
- check completeness and quality of documented policies and procedures
- determine personnel knowledge of procedures and successful training
- identify quality statistics

#### 4.1 ANSWER THE FUNCTION QUESTION FIRST

The function question is what the evaluator is seeking to answer; it is the overarching measure as to whether the activity is being performed. The included indicators provide guidance that assists the evaluators in answering the function question. For example, while the initial answer to the question may be "Yes, we do vulnerability scans," the indicators provide the evaluator with the means of gathering additional supporting information to prove that vulnerability scans are done effectively through documented procedures and training, and that the results of scans are analyzed and passed to appropriate personnel to take action, etc.

As a cautionary note, in evaluating a function, don't forget to get the answer to the question. In most cases the question itself and the statements defining the [Yes] or [Partial] conditions are not repeated specifically under the indicators.

#### 4.2 CHECK COMPLETENESS AND QUALITY OF DOCUMENTED POLICIES AND **PROCEDURES**

For evaluators, when deciding if documented policies and procedures referenced in the Control indicators are adequate, consider the following:

- Does the policy or procedure adequately address the process, technology, requirements, expected behaviors, or other topic it is supposed to address?
- Do the procedures reflect what is actually done by personnel?
- Are the policies and procedures easily available to personnel?
- Are the policies or procedures being kept up to date? There should be a review and/or revision date or some indication that they are reviewed and changed as needed. Also look for
  - defined process and periodicity for reviewing and revising
  - established criteria for when to review (e.g., change in organization structure, major technology installation)
  - defined roles and responsibilities for review and update

The evaluator should use judgment to determine if a real revision was made or if the date was simply changed to make it look up to date. The evaluator could ask to see specific changes or compare the document to the previous version.

- defined process for communicating changes and revisions throughout relevant parts of organization
- change log history

# 4.3 DETERMINE PERSONNEL KNOWLEDGE OF PROCEDURES AND SUCCESSFUL TRAINING

The evaluator should be able to determine from discussions with the personnel whether they understand the process (e.g., they are able to intelligently describe it). More importantly, the personnel should be able to easily show how they perform that work (show the forms that they fill in, describe the process by which they take information from an incident report that is displayed and extract information to feed into summary or other organizational or regulatory reports, or demonstrate how they perform analysis on a set of logs, etc.).

Training can range from formal training that has complete packages with materials and dedicated instructors to informal, on-the-job mentoring by more senior personnel. The evaluator is seeking to determine whether training is provided, that it is sufficient to meet the needs of organization, and, as shown in the Quality indicators, that the personnel are knowledgeable and perform the procedures consistently.

The observation of personnel performing the tasks is a further indication of the maturity of the operations and training that has been provided. For example, observation can show that personnel know the following:

- how to discuss the process with a level of understanding that supports knowledge of their functions with regard to the activities being observed
- where reports or data are archived
- what types of information are contained in reports or alerts or other documents and products
- where procedures, policy, or guidance documents are kept and how to access them if needed
- how to use the tools that support the functions

#### 4.4 IDENTIFY QUALITY STATISTICS

Evaluating quality indicators can be accomplished in many ways. At the most basic, discussions with personnel can be used to determine if they have anecdotal or quality assurance reports showing the percentage or numbers of items they produce that meet quality measures (and what those measures are). For example, if there are reports or references to meeting a general or specific percentage for usefulness to constituent, continue to inquire how "usefulness" is defined. It is easy to say that all response guidance is useful but if "useful" is not defined or the wrong people are asked, then a very subjective and inaccurate picture could result.

It's worth noting here that because *quality* measures or statistics are not necessarily in common use in the security field, it may be difficult to obtain such information, and what is available may not be very accurate or meaningful. In many cases constituents are polled or surveyed using openended or vague questions that fail to accurately obtain the intended results. For example, while it may be easy to recognize that the guidance provided to constituents is clear and easy to understand, it may be difficult to measure whether the constituents actually *follow* the guidance provided.

Evaluators should use their own judgment when it comes to looking at any quality statistics or reports in terms of the definition of the quality measures, the applicability of the measures, the means of collecting them, analysis techniques, and what happens with the reports once they have been obtained—reporting for the sake of reporting is not as effective as using the results from such reports as input into appropriate follow-on actions or as part of an improvement process.

#### **The Incident Management Capability Metrics**

The remainder of this document contains Version 0.1 of the metrics. There are five sections, representing the four main categories of metrics as well as an additional category at the beginning for common metrics. These sections are

Common: Section 0 of the metrics Protect: Section 1 of the metrics Detect: Section 2 of the metrics Respond: Section 3 of the metrics Sustain: Section 4 of the metrics

These metrics are a work in progress, and so there may be places where "To Be Determined" or TBD is used a placeholder. In some cases, there could be multiple answers to a TBD, which could have varying degrees of complexity, depending on the type of organization and maturity of the incident management capability. As a result, we have left these placeholders to encourage users of these metrics to consider what response is most appropriate.

#### COMMON: SECTION 0 OF INCIDENT MANAGEMENT CAPABILITY METRICS

There are four main categories of functions: Protect, Detect, Respond, and Sustain. However, there also appear to be functions that are "common" to all or most of the categories. At this point, there is only one common function that we have included. From our research and interactions with customers, as well as discussions with teams over the years, the one interface that continues to be critical is communications. It can often be traced to the cause of a delay or failure in action. It is a key success factor for an incident management capability to examine its communications requirements and pathways, to ensure they are clearly defined, and to exercise diligence in ensuring they are effective, efficient, and understood by those involved in those communications.

The *organizational interface metric* is a common function that is focused on the interfaces between any groups performing incident management activities. An interface is any communication, exchange of information, or work that occurs between two groups. The interface output from one group could be electronic data, email, a conversation, a report, a request for assistance, automated distribution of information, logs, or analyses that serve as input into the other group.

Note that this interface function is a bit unusual because it requires a bidirectional evaluation. When there is an interface between two groups (such as a CSIRT and its constituents, or an Information Security Officer [ISO] and law enforcement) this interface should be asked of *both* sides—for example, it's not only important to know that a CSIRT thinks the interface is working well, the evaluator should ask whether the ISO thinks the interface is working well.

The importance of this interface function is clear when you consider that a CSIRT (or some other group) may need to improve a specific Priority I function that depends entirely upon the successful completion of an activity by another group. If the other group is too busy to make improvements, a CSIRT would be left unable to improve its component piece of the incident management process. If the interface were undefined, undocumented, and unenforceable, then a CSIRT would have no real basis on which to argue for improvement. If the interface were well documented, with clearly defined roles and responsibilities, then a CSIRT would have the grounds to ask management to help enforce the agreement.

As other common functions are identified, they will be added to this section. Other candidates for this section may be, for example, personnel training or policy and procedures management.

#### 0. Common Functions

#### 0.1 Organizational Interfaces

0.1.1 Have well-defined, formal interfaces for conducting organization incident management activities been established and maintained?

This function focuses on the interfaces between the various groups involved in incident management functions, including internal components (e.g., a CSIRT, ISO, or a network administration group) and external groups such as service providers or subcontractors. Interviewing external groups for an evaluation might be difficult. Therefore, it may only be practical to evaluate the organization side of the interface. All interfaces should be identified and discussed, whether informal or formal. The best practice is to have interfaces formalized, but informal interfaces may be all that exist.

**Please note:** There may be multiple interfaces to evaluate to answer this question, depending upon how many groups are performing incident management activities. The simplest means for evaluating this question is to gather information about the various interfaces and provide a summary answer for how well interfaces, in general, are handled. If the evaluation team decides it is necessary, each interface could be evaluated against this function separately, with an individual score for each interface.

**Not applicable** – This question is Not Applicable if there is no interface or *need* for an interface between groups within the organization. While an interface may not currently exist, if the need for one is raised during the course of evaluating organizational incident management activities, then the answer to this question can be used by the organization to show that the interface is needed as part of its improvement and that both groups should be involved in refining the interface.

**Impact Statement** – When interfaces are properly defined and managed, there are no gaps or poorly functioning processes in the flow of any work or information associated with the incident management activities.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – The goal of satisfying this question is to show that the interface is appropriately documented to prevent misunderstandings or incomplete performance and that each side of the interface performs according to requirements. A failing answer to this question applies to all sides of the interface, not to just one group. This is a Priority I function and the question can only have a Yes or No answer.

- The satisfactory grading of this question [Yes] can be achieved only if all of the required indicators [R] have been met for all of the identified interfaces. A permissible variation for a Yes score would be to determine that some interfaces are critical and check that all required indicators for critical interfaces are met and the majority of the required indicators are met for non-critical interfaces. Note the following:
  - How an interface is documented can vary greatly—from a series of email exchanges between managers to formal contracts. As long as the required aspects are documented and personnel responsible for the interface know about and meet the requirements, the formality of the interface is left to the organization.
  - The evaluator should be able to determine from discussions with personnel whether they know how to properly interface with another group (e.g., by whether they are able to

- intelligently describe it). More importantly, personnel should be able to easily show how they perform that work (e.g., show the forms that they fill in, describe the process for providing and receiving inputs and outputs to and from the interface).
- There may be no hard copy of a report stating that a specific percentage of the interface exchanges have been successful. If anecdotal evidence gathered from discussions with personnel from both groups along with the judgment of the evaluator indicates that the interface is functioning well, then the Quality indicator "\_\_\_\_\_% of interface exchanges are handled according to requirements" may be considered to be met.

#### Improvement – TBD

Caution for evaluators: during an evaluation, you may find additional groups to talk with, and, in talking with those groups, find even more groups. Be careful not to unnecessarily extend the evaluation into peripheral groups whose participation in incident management is marginal, at best.

		Incident Management Capability Metrics					
0. Gener	ral Metrics						
0.1 Orga	anizational Inte	erfaces					
0.1.1 Have well-defined, formal interfaces for conducting agency incident management activities been established and maintained?							
		Torniar interfaces for conducting increasin management	Y	N			
		activities in the organization have been defined.					
T   T   Control	Prerequisites There is (or should be) an interface between the groups [R]  Controls Personnel in both groups are appropriately trained on the requirements, procedures, and relevant technology for implementing this interface [R] Both parties define and maintain a documented interface (e.g., email, MOU, MOA, LOA, SLA, procedure, or formal contract) that includes Roles and responsibilities [R] Requirements for exchange of information or data [R] Required timeframes/criteria, as applicable, for the exchange of information or data [R] Requirements for making any decisions (criteria, timeframe, content, scope) affecting either party [R] Process and POCs for resolution of conflicts or issues Process for review and modification of interface agreement  Activity Mock exercises are held to test the effectiveness of the interface under different conditions  Supporting Mechanisms Muchanisms Up-to-date contact information (e.g., phone, email) [R] Artifacts Samples of logs or reports produced by these interactions Documentation of the interface (e.g., email, MOU, MOA, LOA, SLA, procedure, or formal contract, work process flows, organization charts) [R]						
□ Po	<b>R</b> ]	groups are aware of, knowledgeable of, and consistently follow the pr					
ar	nd artifacts assoc	and criteria for periodically evaluating and improving the quality of prize with this/these interfaces [R]	erforma	ance			
	ory References: ce References:	•					
		Deferences					
Internal	Organization 1	keierences:					

#### PROTECT: SECTION 1 OF INCIDENT MANAGEMENT CAPABILITY METRICS

The mission of the Protect process is to adequately protect and secure critical organization data and assets including the computing infrastructure of the groups performing incident management functions and their constituency, in response to current risk, threats, and attacks while handling information in a timely, secure fashion.

The Protect process focuses on efforts to

- evaluate the security posture of the computing infrastructure by performing such tasks as
  proactive scanning and network monitoring, and by performing security and risk evaluations
  after setting appropriate management approvals
- implement changes to the computing infrastructure to stop or mitigate an ongoing incident or to stop or mitigate the potential exploitation of a vulnerability in the hardware or software infrastructure
- pass off to the Detect process any information about ongoing events or incidents, discovered vulnerabilities, or other security-related events
- implement infrastructure protection improvements resulting from incident postmortem reviews or other process improvement mechanisms

An incident management capability has a role in the protection of an organization's networks by helping to prevent incidents from occurring as well as detecting and containing those incidents that do occur. This can take the form of providing the protect functions directly, or by providing guidance, recommendations, and assistance to those who perform the protect functions. For instance, information can be provided to business owners of organization networks and systems about recommended security best practices, configuration guidelines, filtering policies, vulnerability patching and remediation strategies, general security awareness training, and other activities. Information can also be provided on methods for containing or mitigating incidents by making changes within the infrastructure. Helping to fortify these systems and networks decreases the potential for successful attacks against the organization's infrastructure and helps contain and reduce any impact on organizational goals, objectives, and operations. There should be established interfaces with other parts of the organization (internal and external of the protect process). Information on configuration management, patch management, and change management activities should be shared across this interface.

There are a variety of standards and best practices that organizations can use to provide guidance for proactively securing and hardening their infrastructure, for example<sup>6</sup>:

- ISO 17799 (ISO/IEC 17799:2005) [ISO 2005a]
- ISO 27001 (ISO/IEC 27001:2005) [ISO 2005b]
- Control Objectives for Information and related Technology (COBIT) [ITGI 2006]

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> An external interface may be with managed security service provider, for example.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See the Bibliography for complete reference information.

- Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council (FFIEC) Handbooks [FFIEC 2002]
- International Information Systems Security Certification Consortium (ISC)<sup>2</sup> Certified Information Systems Security Professional (CISSP) Common Body of Knowledge (CBK) [ISC2 2005]
- Information Security Forum Best Practices [ISF 2005]
- Information Technology Governance Institute (ITGI) sources [ITGI 2006]
- IT Infrastructure Library (ITIL) [OGC 2006]
- National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) FIPS PUB 199, FIPS PUB 200, and Special Publications 800 series [NIST 2004, 2006, 2007]
- SEI body of work including the Capability Maturity Model Integration (CMMI),
   Operationally Critical Threat, Asset, and Vulnerability Evaluation (OCTAVE), and Security Knowledge in Practice (SKiP) [SEI 2002, 2003, 2005,]

Within the Protect category, the sub-groupings include

- Risk Assessment Support<sup>7</sup> for measuring the computer security posture of information systems and computer networks. This category also includes vulnerability scanning and assessment functions.
- Malware Protection Support incident management personnel play a vital role in the protection of the constituency's networks, alerting system and network operations personnel to new malicious code (e.g., viruses, worms, spyware) and assisting when an incident occurs.
- Computer Network Defense Operational Exercises mock exercises that test the response
  plans and reactions of incident management personnel and the organization to various
  incident and vulnerability scenarios.
- Constituent Protection Support and Training incident management personnel must be knowledgeable about the organization's network configurations in order to assist with "hardening" systems and correcting vulnerabilities identified in network configurations. The intent is that incident management personnel will participate in efforts to transition computer security knowledge and awareness to the community it serves.
- Information Assurance/Vulnerability Management a positive control system that
  participates in identifying new system vulnerabilities and notifies the appropriate parts of the
  organization to enable the application of effective countermeasures. Incident management
  personnel monitor constituent compliance with vulnerability recommendations and
  prevention strategies, as well as provide technical support as required.

Examples are assessment tools such as the National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) Computer Security Expert Assist Team (CSEAT) [NIST 2005] and the Software Engineering Institute (SEI) OCTAVE Method [SEI 2003].

#### 1.1 Protect

#### 1.1 Risk Assessment

#### 1.1.1 Are Risk Assessments (RAs) performed on constituent systems?

Response to this question ascertains whether risk assessments (RAs) are performed on the organization's or constituents' systems (function 4.6.4 addresses risk assessments on incident management systems). Risk assessments should be used to identify weaknesses and problems in the infrastructure and organizational security practices before they can be exploited. This allows problem areas to be mitigated proactively, increasing the overall security of the organization. Incident management personnel may or may not be involved in performing the risk assessments, but they should have access to the results, even if the risk assessments are conducted by third parties.

Not applicable – Note that even if incident management personnel never actually provide any assistance, they should have access to the lessons learned from risk assessments as a means of staying informed about the current security posture of the organization and to improve the incident management capability. This function may be conducted via third-party contracting, and that contractor may or may not be included in this evaluation.

**Impact statement** – A thorough risk assessment provides a valuable means of proactively identifying and repairing risks in technology, process, and people, before such weaknesses can be exploited.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – The question is answered satisfactorily when risk assessments are conducted on constituent systems. This is a Priority I function and the question can only have a Yes or No answer. Specifically, the scoring guidance is as follows:

- A [Yes] answer for this question can be achieved if all required items are met.
- Any other combination of indicators is insufficient and results in a [No].

**Improvement** – Improvement can be achieved by implementing

- formalized procedures, guidelines, and training including how to perform risk assessments; how to determine if the assessment will interfere with other incident management operations (situational awareness); and how to mitigate risks that are found
- quality assurance checks on the type of risk assessment method and the information produced
  to ensure that it is complete, timely, accurate, clear, up to date, useful, and meets any
  organization, institutional or legal compliance guidelines
- training for personnel on the types of RAs available; sources that provide this service; how to choose which type of RA is most appropriate; or specific RA methods. Incident management personnel providing this service should be knowledgeable in the appropriate RA methods.

			Incident Management Capability Metrics		
1. Pro	tect				
		ssessment			
1.1.1	1.1.1 Are Risk Assessments (RAs) performed on constituent systems?		Priority I		
No	t	Not		Y	N
obser	ved	applicable	<ul> <li>Risk assessments are periodically performed and the results</li> </ul>	1	11
			are used to improve the security posture of the organization.		
Prere	quisi	tes	1		
			given approval for RAs to be conducted on the constituent systems and	l netwo	orks
	[R]				
		-	nent personnel have access to the results of RAs if they do not actually	perfor	m
	them	ı [R]			
Contr			de la companya de la	(R)	
			edures exist for conducting the risk assessment (e.g., COBIT, OCTAV	E <sup>®</sup> ) or	for
П			third party to conduct the risk assessment [R]	of migh	
		ssments are ar	cies and procedures exist that describe the process by which the results	OI IISK	<u>.</u>
			ropriately trained on the procedures, process, methods, and supporting		
_			to provide conduct or contract for RAs [R]		
			or requesting RA assistance from the incident management personnel		
Activi			5. 1. 4 4. 4. 5. 11. 4. 6. 11.		
		assessments a	are performed on constituent systems [R]		
	Tech	nical assistan	ice is provided to constituent for performing RAs [R]		
	Resu	ılts of RAs are	e provided to the constituent [R]		
			cked and recorded [R]		
			e provided to incident management personnel [R]		
			ders and the type of assessments they perform (e.g., COBIT, OCTAVI	E <sup>®</sup> ) is	
			ned, and updated if third-party providers are used to perform RAs		
		g Mechanism			
			ools and methods [R]		
_			g and reporting tools and methods [R]		
			equesting assistance roviding assessment results and information to the requestor		
Artifa		namsms for p	Toviding assessment results and information to the requestor		
		of RA types a	and providers		
			essment results and improvement/mitigation actions [R]		
Quali		00 01 11011 4550	esoment results and improvement intigation actions [11]		
		onnel are awa	are, knowledgeable, and consistently follow the applicable procedures,	proces	ses,
			nd technologies for performing these activities [R]	-	,
	Risk	analyses are	archived in a secure and protected manner [R]		
			ons of the risk analyses are done in a secure and protected manner [R]		
			and criteria for evaluating the quality of performance and artifacts asse	ociated	1
		this activity [			
			ffectiveness of this activity are periodically evaluated and appropriate		
	impr	ovements are	made [R]		

#### **Incident Management Capability Metrics**

#### Regulatory References:

FISMA Sec 3544(b)(1) [OLRC 2003]

3544 "(b) AGENCY PROGRAM—Each agency shall develop, document, and implement an agency-wide information security program [...] to provide information security for the information and information systems that support the operations and assets of the agency [...] that includes—

"(1) periodic assessments of the risk and magnitude of the harm that could result from the unauthorized access, use, disclosure, disruption, modification, or destruction of information and information systems that support the operations and assets of the agency."

#### **Guidance References: None**

[indirect]

NIST SP 800-26 Security Self-Assessment Guide for Information Technology Systems [Swanson 2001] NIST SP 800-61 Computer Security Incident Handling Guide [Grance 2004]

Sec. 2.5 Incident Response Team Services

[p 2-14, 2-15] "Vulnerability Assessment. An incident response team can examine networks, systems, and applications for security-related vulnerabilities, determine how they can be exploited and what the risks are, and recommend how the risks can be mitigated. [...] organizations should typically give primary responsibility for vulnerability assessments to another team and use incident handlers as a supplemental resource."

#### **Internal Organization References:**

# 1.1.2 Are the constituents assisted with correcting problems identified by Risk Assessment (RA) activities?

This question focuses on the provision of technical recommendations, guidance, and support to the constituency to help with correcting security problems and vulnerabilities that have been identified in a risk assessment. Depending on the level and set of incident management services provided, the assistance given could take the form of hands-on configuration, where incident management personnel make the corrections or work with the appropriate system and network owner to make the changes, or the assistance could consist of offering technical remediation strategies and advice.

**Not applicable** – If another part of the organization handles the performance of risk assessments and actual mitigation, incident management personnel may only have access to the results for their information. The part of the organization that conducts risk assessments and assists with mitigation should be included in the evaluation.

**Impact statement** – Risk assessments without follow-on mitigation actions are a waste of resources.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – The function is satisfactorily performed when incident management personnel provide technical recommendations, strategies, and plans or actions to correct security problems and vulnerabilities in the constituent infrastructure that were identified by performing a risk assessment.

A [Yes] answer for this question can be achieved if all required [R] indicators are met.

The partial [P] grade for this metric can be achieved if

- the organization is in the process of developing such a capability or service OR
- analysis results are occasionally used to improve the security posture of constituent infrastructure network and systems OR
- the organization has informal procedures for completing this task AND
- personnel understand and follow the informal procedures consistently

Improvement – Improvement can be made by instituting quality assurance testing, ensuring all procedures are documented and tested, and by making sure all personnel are trained in the procedures and have a background in risk remediation techniques. Personnel will also require training for any other tasks that they may need to perform, such as vulnerability patching, security awareness training, or network defense configuration, as part of the remediation. Greater efficiency can also be achieved by maintaining and updating a prioritized list of criteria for how vulnerabilities might affect the infrastructure. This list can be used to determine which vulnerabilities must be addressed first. Further improvements can be made by using automated tools such as patch or configuration management systems. Any changes should be tracked and recorded and follow organization change management processes.

		Inci	ident Management Capability Metrics					
1.1.2	Are the constituents assisted with correcting problems identified by Risk Assessment (RA) activities?					Priority III		
Not observed	Not applicable	Yes	<ul> <li>Detailed technical remediation support or assistance is provided to constituents for correcting problems identified by RA activities.</li> </ul>		P	N		
		Partial	<ul> <li>Remediation capabilities are being developed.</li> </ul>					
Prerequisites					to			
Quality Po	<ul> <li>Quality</li> <li>□ Personnel are aware of, knowledgeable of, and consistently follow the procedure, processes, and technologies for performing this task [R]</li> <li>□ There is a process and criteria for evaluating the quality of performance and artifacts associated with this activity [R]</li> </ul>							
	isks and identific		ns are successfully remediated or corrected% of the	e time				
FISMA S 3544 "(b informat "(6) a pr deficience OMB Ci "Correct	Sec 3544(b)(6) AGENCY PROPERTY PROPERTY PROPERTY PROPERTY PROPERTY PROPERTY PROPERTY PROPERTY A-130 App III ion of Deficience	[OLRC 20 OGRAM— gram [] ng, impler nation secu Sec A.5.a ies. Agence	—Each agency shall develop, document, and implement that includes— [] menting, evaluating, and documenting remedial actionarity policies, procedures, and practices of the agency	n to ad	dress a	ny		

#### **Incident Management Capability Metrics**

#### **Guidance References: None**

[indirect]

NIST SP 800-61 Computer Security Incident Handling Guide [Grance 2004]

Sec. 2.5 Incident Response Team Services

[p 2-14, 2-15] "Vulnerability Assessment. An incident response team can examine networks, systems, and applications for security-related vulnerabilities, determine how they can be exploited and what the risks are, and recommend how the risks can be mitigated. [...] organizations should typically give primary responsibility for vulnerability assessments to another team and use incident handlers as a supplemental resource."

**Internal Organization References:** 

# 1.1.3 Is proactive vulnerability scanning (VS) performed on constituent networks and systems?

This question focuses on whether there is a defined process for performing vulnerability scanning (VS) and network monitoring on the enterprise infrastructure to ensure that vulnerabilities and anomalous behavior are identified and addressed in a timely manner to prevent or minimize damage to the organization. Depending on the range and level of incident management services provided and the expertise of incident management personnel, vulnerability scanning tasks can take many forms. Tasks can range from the simple provision of information on implementing vulnerability scanning methodologies and tools to actual performance of vulnerability scanning and analysis for the constituents. Constituents should be encouraged to proactively look for threats to their infrastructure to protect it from known attacks and vulnerabilities. This allows problem areas to be mitigated in a proactive manner, increasing the overall security of the organization.

As part of this process there should be guidelines for requesting assistance. Mechanisms such as templates or web forms for requesting scanning or other assistance may be made available. Assistance can be given via written or verbal recommendations, meetings, training sessions, or actual conducting of the scanning.

**Not applicable** – Note that even if incident management personnel never provide any assistance, they should have access to the lessons learned from vulnerability scans to improve the incident management capability.

#### **Impact statement** – TBD

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – The function is satisfactorily performed when vulnerability scanning and analysis is performed. This is a Priority I function and the question can only have a Yes or No answer. Specifically, the scoring guidance is as follows:

- The [Yes] grade for this metric can be achieved only if all required indicators [R] are met.
- Any other combination of indicators is insufficient and results in a [No].

#### **Improvement** – Improvement can be achieved by implementing

- formalized procedures, guidelines, and training, including how to provide notification, how to
  determine if the scanning will interfere with other incident management operations
  (situational awareness), and how to perform the vulnerability scanning methodology
- quality assurance checks on the information provided to ensure that it is complete, timely, accurate, clear and understandable, up to date, and useful, and meets any organization, institutional or legal compliance guidelines
- training for personnel on the methodologies and tools for vulnerability scanning. Personnel
  providing this assistance should be knowledgeable in methods to ensure they provide useful
  information to the requestor by making certain all relevant systems and networks are
  reviewed.
- automated tools for performing vulnerability scanning and tracking, including a vulnerability
  database that allows tracking of vulnerabilities by organizational or constituent unit, along
  with the ability to track vulnerability remediation

			Incident Management Capability Metrics			
1.1.3		Is proactive v and systems?	ulnerability scanning (VS) performed on constituent networks	Priority I		
No		Not		Y	N	
obser	ved	applicable	<ul> <li>Proactive vulnerability scanning (VS) is performed on constituent networks and systems.</li> </ul>	o l		
		Constituent networks and systems.				
Prere	equis	ites				
		ere is written po	ermission from constituent management (or other documentation) to u	se VS	tools	
Comt	[R]					
Cont		numented notice	cies and procedures exist			
	-		the process and method by which permission for VS on constituent sys	stems i	S	
			assistance is provided to the constituents [R]	3001115 1	5	
	-		g the VS if they conduct this activity [R]			
	-		data gathered from VS [R]			
			ropriately trained on the procedures, process, methods, and supporting			
			to conduct VS and perform corresponding analysis [R]			
			tation that describes the VS tools and their potential impacts on consti	tuent		
Activ	•	ems				
		active vulneral	bility scans are run on constituent networks and systems [R]			
			d and evaluated prior to use on constituent systems [R]			
			llyzed, recorded, and tracked [R]			
			lerted to any vulnerabilities found in their systems [R]			
		g Mechanism				
			onstituent to request assistance			
			roviding information to the requestor uning tools and methodologies [R]			
			king and reporting tools and methodologies [R]			
Artifa		incraomity tract	and reporting tools and memodologies [K]			
		horization to i	nstall tools and perform scans			
			constituent request forms or written requests for assistance			
			ılts and analysis [R]			
		oies of alerts or	r guidance to constituents for addressing problems identified by VS [R	.]		
Quali		.1	in a line a common and anatostad annua [D]			
		•	ived in a secure and protected manner [R] ons of the analyses are done in a secure manner [R]			
			ons of the analyses are done in a secure manner [K] are of, knowledgeable of, and consistently follow the procedures, procedures,	esses		
			nd technologies for performing this task [R]	,,,		
			and criteria for evaluating the quality of performance and artifacts ass	ociate	d	
	witl	n this activity [	[R]			
			ffectiveness of this activity are periodically evaluated and appropriate			
	imp	rovements are	made [R]			

## **Regulatory References:**

FISMA Sec 3544(b)(5) [OLRC 2003]

3544 "(b) AGENCY PROGRAM—Each agency shall develop, document, and implement an agency-wide information security program [...] to provide information security for the information and information systems that support the operations and assets of the agency [...] that includes— [...]

"(5) periodic testing and evaluation of the effectiveness of information security policies, procedures, and practices, to be performed with a frequency depending on risk, but no less than annually, of which such testing—

"(A) shall include testing of management, operational, and technical controls of every information system identified in the inventory required under section 3505(c); and

"(B) may include testing relied on in a evaluation under section 3545"

#### **Guidance References:**

NIST SP 800-61 Computer Security Incident Handling Guide [Grance 2004]

Sec. 2.5 Incident Response Team Services

[p 2-14, 2-15] "Vulnerability Assessment. An incident response team can examine networks, systems, and applications for security-related vulnerabilities, determine how they can be exploited and what the risks are, and recommend how the risks can be mitigated. These responsibilities can be extended so that the team performs auditing or penetration testing, perhaps visiting sites unannounced to perform on-the-spot assessments. Incident handlers are well suited to performing vulnerability assessments because they routinely see all kinds of incidents and have first-hand knowledge of vulnerabilities and how they are exploited. However, because the availability of incident handlers is unpredictable, organizations should typically give primary responsibility for vulnerability assessments to another team and use incident handlers as a supplemental resource."

# 1.1.4 Is the constituent assisted with correcting problems identified by vulnerability scanning (VS) activities?

This question focuses on the provision of technical recommendations, guidance, and support to the constituency to help with correcting security problems and vulnerabilities that have been identified via proactive vulnerability scanning. Depending on the level and set of incident management services provided, the assistance given could take the form of hands-on configuration, where incident management personnel make the corrections or work with the appropriate system and network owner to make the changes, or the assistance could simply be the provision of technical remediation strategies and advice.

Not applicable – TBD

**Impact statement** – TBD

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – The function is satisfactorily performed when technical recommendations, strategies, plans, or actions are provided to correct security problems and vulnerabilities in the constituent infrastructure that were identified through proactive vulnerability scanning.

The [Yes] answer for this question can only be achieved if all required [R] indicators are met.

The [Partial] grade for this metric can be achieved if

- the organization is in the process of developing such a capability or service OR
- analysis results are occasionally used to improve the security posture of constituent infrastructure network and systems OR
- there are informal procedures for completing this task AND
- personnel understand and follow the informal procedures consistently

**Improvement** – Improvement can be gained by instituting quality assurance testing, ensuring all procedures are documented and up to date, making sure all personnel are trained in the procedures and have a background in vulnerability remediation techniques. Personnel will also need sufficient skills or training for any other tasks that they may need to perform, such as vulnerability patching, security awareness training, or network defense configuration, as part of the remediation.

Teams can also improve by maintaining and updating a prioritized list of criteria for how vulnerabilities might affect the infrastructure and using this list to determine which vulnerabilities must be addressed first. Further improvements can be achieved by using automated tools such as patch or configuration management systems. Any changes should be tracked and recorded and follow organization change management processes.

		Inc	ident Management Capability Metrics						
1.1.4	Is the constituent assisted with correcting problems identified by vulnerability scanning (VS) activities?					Ш			
Not observ		Yes	<ul> <li>Detailed technical remediation support or assistance is supplied to constituents for correcting problems identified by VS activities.</li> </ul>	Y	P	N			
		Partial	<ul> <li>Remediation capabilities are being developed or provided on an ad hoc basis.</li> </ul>						
Contro	Prerequisites  VS results are available [R] Criteria for prioritizing vulnerabilities based on business impacts exist  Controls  Documented policies and procedures exist for - assisting constituents in applying remediation strategies for identified vulnerabilities [R] - documenting and archiving actions taken exist [R]  Personnel are appropriately trained on - the policies and procedures for providing assistance to constituents [R] - countermeasures and remediation strategies for vulnerabilities [R]  Activity  VS results are used to determine potential impacts and to recommend improvements to constituent infrastructure to prevent computer security incidents [R]  Recommendations for correcting problems such as vulnerabilities or security issues identified in VS results are provided [R]  Remediation of the identified problems is performed Follow-up actions are performed to ensure the problems are corrected and the actions are closed								
	Configuration a Change manage	and patch ma	ling mechanisms or systems [R] nagement systems ns						
	Copies of record dentified vulne Copies of follow	erabilities in	and remediation strategies provided to constituents f their infrastructure [R] showing that the problems were corrected	or fixii	ng				
Qualit		ware of. kno	wledgeable of, and consistently follow the procedure.	proce	sses, ar	nd			
<u> </u>	technologies fo There is a proceadherence to se	r performing ess and criter curity best p		y, usef	ulness,	and			
	The quality and	effectivenes	ss of this activity are periodically evaluated and appro	priate					
	improvements are made [R]  Vulnerabilities and identified problems are successfully remediated or corrected. % of the time								

# **Regulatory References:**

FISMA Sec 3544(b)(6) [OLRC 2003]

3544 "(b) AGENCY PROGRAM—Each agency shall develop, document, and implement an agency-wide information security program [...] that includes—[...]

"(6) a process for planning, implementing, evaluating, and documenting remedial action to address any deficiencies in the information security policies, procedures, and practices of the agency" OMB Cir A-130 App III Sec A.5.a.

"Correction of Deficiencies. Agencies shall correct deficiencies which are identified through the reviews of security for systems and major applications described above."

#### **Guidance References:**

NIST 800-61 Computer Security Incident Handling Guide [Grance 2004]

Sec 2.5 Incident Response Team Services

[p 2-14, 2-15] "Vulnerability Assessment. An incident response team can examine networks, systems, and applications for security-related vulnerabilities, determine how they can be exploited and what the risks are, and recommend how the risks can be mitigated. [...] Incident handlers are well suited to performing vulnerability assessments because they routinely see all kinds of incidents and have first-hand knowledge of vulnerabilities and how they are exploited. However, because the availability of incident handlers is unpredictable, organizations should typically give primary responsibility for vulnerability assessments to another team and use incident handlers as a supplemental resource."

#### 1.1.5 Is trend analysis supported and conducted?

This question focuses on whether the constituent organization takes a proactive, broad-based, bigpicture view of the system and network incident and vulnerability information it is collecting in order to determine any trends in the types of attacks targeting the organization or changes in the types of malicious activity seen on the organization's infrastructure. This analysis can also show any patterns in the types of weaknesses being exploited in the organization, trends in the organization's security posture, or be helpful in identifying the root causes of security problems across the enterprise. These trends could show improvements or highlight repeating problem areas, for example

- any increase or decrease in the number of vulnerabilities and incidents
- any change in the types of vulnerabilities and incidents being reported
- recurring vulnerabilities and incidents
- changes in the scope of incident impact
- targeted areas of the organization vs. the entire enterprise

#### Not applicable – TBD

## **Impact statement** – TBD

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – The question is satisfied when personnel, with approval from management, follow defined procedures to perform this analysis using automated tools and incorporating all available data to help improve the security of the constituent systems. It is partially satisfied if the analysis is done manually or is not inclusive of all data or if only informal procedures are available. Specifically, the scoring guidance is as follows:

- The [Yes] grade for this question can be achieved if all the required indicators [R] are met.
- The [Partial] grade for this question can be achieved if
  - manual correlation is performed OR
  - there are informal procedures for completing this task AND/OR
  - trend analysis is performed using the output of some scanning or monitoring tools AND
  - performance analysis reports are provided to constituents AND
  - personnel understand and follow the informal procedures consistently AND
  - analysis results are occasionally used to improve the infrastructure or alter tool acquisition

### **Improvement** – Improvement can be gained by

- ensuring tested, automated tools are set up to support collection of data for trend analysis in a consistent fashion
- ensuring all appropriate data from vulnerability scans, risk assessments, network monitoring, and other similar activities are incorporated into the trend analysis
- documenting all policies and procedures
- providing training to personnel on the best methods for performing trend analysis

•	keeping an up-to-date list of vulnerabilities and problems discovered through trend analysis in a searchable database that can be used in identifying remediation actions or in future correlation and analyses							

		Inc	ident Management Capability Metrics						
1.1.5	Is trend analy	trend analysis supported and conducted?							
Not observed	Not applicable	Yes	<ul> <li>Trend analysis is conducted using the results from other proactive analyses such as risk analysis, vulnerability scanning, and system monitoring activities.</li> </ul>	Y	P	N			
		Partial	<ul> <li>Manual correlation is performed OR</li> <li>Trend analysis is conducted informally or occasionally.</li> </ul>						
Proper	performed [R]  Proactive analysis and monitoring data are accessible to support trend analysis [R]								
☐ Cri ☐ Do inf	information, and archive actions taken [R]								
Activity  Tree sca	<ul> <li>Trend analysis is performed using the results from other proactive risk analysis, vulnerability scanning, and network and system monitoring activities [R]</li> <li>Trend analysis results are provided to designated individuals [R]</li> </ul>								
Supporting U Vu Ou too	<ul> <li>Outputs from vulnerability scanning, network monitoring and other data collection and analysis tools [R]</li> </ul>								
Artifacts Co Do	☐ Automated trend analysis tools  Artifacts ☐ Copies of trend analysis reports [R]								
☐ Per [R]	<ul> <li>☐ Vulnerability tracking database is kept up to date</li> <li>☐ Personnel are aware of, knowledgeable of, and consistently perform the procedures for this activity [R]</li> </ul>								
of act	the trend analy ivity [R]	sis) for eva	ia (such as completeness, timeliness, accuracy, clarity aluating the quality of performance and artifacts associated this activity are periodically evaluated and approximately activity are periodically evaluated.	ciated v					

# **Regulatory References: None**

[indirect]

FISMA Sec 3544(b)(3) [OLRC 2003]

3544 "(b) AGENCY PROGRAM—Each agency shall develop, document, and implement an agency-wide information security program [...] to provide information security for the information and information systems that support the operations and assets of the agency [...] that includes—

"(3) subordinate plans for providing adequate information security for networks, facilities, and systems or groups of information systems, as appropriate"

#### **Guidance References:**

NIST SP 800-61 Computer Security Incident Handling Guide [Grance 2004]

Sec 2.5 Incident Response Team Services

[p 2-15] "Technology Watch. A team can perform a technology watch function, which means that it looks for new trends in information security threats. [...] The team should then make recommendations for improving security controls based on the trends that they identify. A team that performs a technology watch function should also be better prepared to handle new types of incidents."

#### 1.2 Malware Protection

#### 1.2.1 Is there an institutionalized Malware/Anti-Virus (AV) Program?

This question focuses on the ability to assist constituents with malware detection, analysis, and response. Malware can include viruses, worms, Trojan horse programs, spyware, rootkits, and other attack vectors. A malware capability includes

- installing and maintaining anti-virus and anti-spyware software tools across the enterprise
- public and private monitoring of anti-malware sites and organizations
- alerting constituents to the potential or current malware threat and remediation guidance
- keeping up to date on malware through research, training, mentoring, and other professional development efforts
- coordinating with other internal and external parties such as vendors, coordinating CSIRTs,
   ISPs, anti-virus groups, law enforcement, and other security experts to contain and eliminate threats and malicious activity
- properly reporting malicious activity to approved collaborators, partners, or upper management

Organizational collaboration and coordination of malware support will require defined processes, roles, and responsibilities internally and externally. Alerting and reporting of potential or real-time malicious activity should be done through multiple communication channels, such as email, FAX, phone, web sites, publications such as advisories or bulletins, and other broadcast mechanisms. If personnel are responsible for providing 24/7 support, they should be reachable via pager, cell phone, or email at all times. POC lists for malware experts, vendors, and other security organizations should be available.

Not applicable – Note that even if incident management personnel do not perform this function, they should have access to the results of the malware program to improve the incident management capability.

#### **Impact statement** – TBD

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – The goal of satisfying this question is to show that incident management personnel are able to consistently, accurately, and reliably assess the risk or threat of a confirmed malware incident to the constituents' networks or systems and respond accordingly. This is a Priority I function and the question can only have a Yes or No answer.

- The satisfactory answer to this question [Yes] can be achieved if all required [R] indicators are met.
- Any other combination of indicators is insufficient and results in a [No].

The prerequisite states there must be current documentation on critical constituent systems and the assets on those systems. Without this information, risk or threat can only be evaluated in an abstract, theoretical sense.

**Improvement** – Improvements can be implemented by

• implementing an enterprise-wide program for automatic updates

- considering the use of multiple A/V products from different vendors for more robust coverage of anti-virus signatures
- instituting a 24x7x365 malware capability
- monitoring anti-virus web and alert sites and mailing lists on a daily basis
- having defined document types and corresponding templates for disseminating information
- improving malware analysis techniques, building a test environment or lab facility, adding automated tools for collecting information on malware
- developing technical relationships with trusted experts (e.g., A/V vendors, CERT/CC)
- keeping POC lists up to date, with at least weekly or monthly review/refresh rates
- coordinating reports on a consistent and timely basis with appropriate contacts
- training end-user staff to recognize various types of malware and in timely reporting of malware activities
- training end-user staff in how to prevent malware attacks by following best practices in secure use of their systems

			Incident Management Capability Metrics				
1.2 M	alwa	are Protection					
1.2.1			stitutionalized Malware/Anti-Virus (AV) Program?	Priority I			
	nandling malware activity.						
Prere	List rols Doc	of constituen	t critical assets and data [R] cies and procedures exist that describe the process and method by which led to the constituents, including notifications, alerts, and remediation as		ce		
	Doc disc Pers	covered includ sonnel are app	cies and procedures exist that define reporting requirements when malw ling working with vendors or other external entities propriately trained on the procedures, process and supporting technological and remediate malware [R]		il to		
Activ	ity A co Sou	urrent list of P	POCs for notifications and alerts is maintained mation on emerging malware (e.g., FIRST, CERT/CC, vendor anti-virus	s sites,	and		
	Constituents are alerted to emerging or current malware threats [R] Remediation, response, and recovery solutions to malware occurrences and threats are provided [R] Documented anti-malware installation & update procedures are provided to appropriate personnel Constituents are advised of sources for anti-malware signature updates Malware outbreaks and remediation are tracked and recorded [R]						
Supp	Ava	<b>ng Mechanisn</b> nilable, approv	ns /ed anti-malware software is used in accordance with organizational req	uireme	ents		
	Wel	b site for posti	e mechanisms for patch and remediation [R] ing anti-malware files for constituents to download emination mechanisms such as email lists or web sites [R]				
Artifa	ucts Up- Exa Rec	to-date POC 1 imple of virus ent email or w	list with individual names and phone numbers infection reports and statistics [R] web malware warnings and advisories [R] on from vendors on products and/or services on file				
Quali			r				
			are of, knowledgeable of, and consistently perform the procedures, proc nd technologies for performing this task [R]	esses,			
	The		s and criteria for evaluating the quality of performance and artifacts asso	ciated	with		
	The imp	quality and e rovements are					
			ted to appropriate parties within required timeframe of discovery are handled in a timely manner				

# **Regulatory References: None**

[indirect]

FISMA Sec 3544(b)(3) and (7) [OLRC 2003]

3544 "(b) AGENCY PROGRAM—Each agency shall develop, document, and implement an agency-wide information security program [...] to provide information security for the information and information systems that support the operations and assets of the agency [...] that includes—

"(3) subordinate plans for providing adequate information security for networks, facilities, and systems or groups of information systems, as appropriate [...]

"(7) procedures for detecting, reporting, and responding to security incidents [...]"

### **Guidance References:**

NIST SP 800-61 Computer Security Incident Handling Guide [Grance 2004]

Sec 5 Handling Malicious Code Incidents

(includes Sec 5.1 Incident Definitions and Examples, Sec 5.2 Preparation, Sec 5.3 Detection and Analysis, Sec 5.4 Containment, Eradication, and Recovery, Sec 5.5 Checklist for Handling Malicious Code Incidents, and Sec 5.6 Recommendations)

## 1.3 Computer Network Defense Operational Exercises

# 1.3.1 Are operational exercises conducted to assess the security posture of the organization?

This question focuses on how operational exercises are conducted. These exercises may involve Red Teams, mock or test incident exercises, penetration testing, table top or other comparable exercises. They may be internal to the organization or part of broader, inter-organization exercises (although broader multi-organization exercises should NOT be the only form of operational exercise conducted). The type of operational exercises that are approved and performed may be designated by organization or determined by other requirements. This question covers multiple types of activities that might be performed as part of this function, such as

- maintaining a vetted list of POCs as sources of operational exercises
- helping constituents choose or find a source for operational exercises or alternatives
- actually performing, conducting, or coordinating the operational exercise

The intent is to ensure that operational exercises of some kind are conducted and that they are conducted by reliable, capable, and vetted sources.

## Not applicable – TBD

**Impact statement** – Operational exercises test the incident management capability and the security of an organization and its corresponding infrastructure, providing lessons learned that will help improve the security posture of the organization.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – The function is satisfactorily answered when there are documented policies, procedures, and guidance for performance and notification of operational exercises. The function is partially satisfied if exercises are occasionally performed in an ad hoc, undocumented way. The scoring guidance is as follows:

- The [Yes] answer for this question can be achieved if all required [R] indicators are met.
- The [Partial] grade for this question can be achieved if
  - operational exercises are performed or supported in a limited or ad hoc manner AND
  - operational exercises analysis and lessons learned are provided to appropriate management and technical personnel AND
  - personnel understand and follow the informal procedures consistently

## **Improvement** – Improvement can be achieved by

- implementing formalized procedures, guidelines, and training, including how to provide notification, how to determine if the exercise will interfere with other incident management operations (situational awareness), and how to follow the methodology
- keeping all POC lists and source information up to date
- implementing a plan for quarterly testing that uses various combinations of techniques or approaches (such as penetration testing in combination with mock exercise, etc.)

			In	cident Management Capability Metrics				
1.3 Co	mpt	ıter Network	Defense (	Operational Exercises				
1.3.1	Are operational exercises conducted to assess the security posture of the organization?					Priority III		
Not observ		Not applicable	Yes	<ul> <li>Operational exercises are conducted periodically or upon request.</li> </ul>	Υ	P	N	
			Partial	<ul> <li>There are limited, ad hoc operational exercises.</li> </ul>	]	]	_	
Prerec	ıuisi	tes			·	·		
	Orga the c			as given approval and guidance for performing operation networks [R]	onal ex	ercises	on	
		umented polic	iec requir	ing periodic testing or audit of organization security exi	ct			
	Poli	cies and proce	dures exis	it that outline roles, responsibilities, scope, appropriate or operational exercises [R]		nd		
		umented guid		erforming the operational exercises exists [R] alidating current policies and procedures during operation	onal ex	ercises	3	
	Pers			trained on the procedures, process and supporting technology [R]	ologie	s used	to	
Activi		1						
	Å lis	st of types and ntained	sources (	e.g., other departments or organizations) for operational	l exerci	ises is		
		onnel help the opriate type o		nt with identifying the need for operational exercises, the and sources	ne mos	t		
				rt operational exercises [R]				
				otified of operational exercises per guidance				
				ares are validated during operational exercises				
		g Mechanism	S					
		rcise plans		d				
		ware for pene		ong or mechanisms				
⊔ Artifa		aciii reportiilg	systems 0	n meenamsms				
		rcise materials	or scenar	ios				
				and sources of exercises provided to constituents				
				from exercises [R]				
				ganizations and trusted agents to contact				
		criptions of po	tential im	pacts on constituent systems from operational exercises				
Qualit								
				nducted more often than annually				
				wledgeable of, and consistently follow the procedures, p	process	ses,		
				ogies for performing this task [R] exercises is up to date, accurate, and relevant				
				tercises are used to improve the security posture of the	arganiz	ration [	R1	
				ia for evaluating the quality of performance and artifact				
		activity [R]	011101	and the state of th				
	The	quality and ef	fectivenes	s of this activity are periodically evaluated and appropr	iate im	prover	nents	
	are r	nade [R]						

# **Regulatory References:**

FISMA Sec 3544(b)(5) [OLRC 2003]

3544 "(b) AGENCY PROGRAM—Each agency shall develop, document, and implement an agency-wide information security program [...] to provide information security for the information and information systems that support the operations and assets of the agency [...] that includes—

"(5) periodic testing and evaluation of the effectiveness of information security policies, procedures, and practices, to be performed with a frequency depending on risk, but no less than annually, of which such testing—

"(A) shall include testing of management, operational, and technical controls of every information system identified in the inventory required under section 3505(c); and

"(B) may include testing relied on in a evaluation under section 3545,

#### **Guidance References:**

NIST SP 800-61 Computer Security Incident Handling Guide [Grance 2004]

Sec 2.4.3 Incident Response Personnel

[p 2-12] "Develop incident handling scenarios and have the team members discuss how they would handle them. Appendix B contains a set of scenarios and a list of questions to be used during scenario discussions" [p 2-13] "Conduct simulated incident handling exercise for the team. Exercises are particularly important because they not only improve the performance of the incident handlers, but also identify issues with policies and procedures, and with communication."

and App B Incident Handling Scenarios

[p B-1] "Organizations are strongly encouraged to adapt these questions and scenarios for use in their own incident response exercises."

[indirect]

Sec 2.3.1 Policy and Procedure Elements

[p 2-4] "SOPs should be tested to validate their accuracy and usefulness [...]"

# 1.3.2 Are lessons learned from operational exercises incorporated into the constituents' network defenses?

This function looks at how technical recommendations, guidance, and support are provided to the constituents to help them incorporate lessons learned from operational exercises. Depending on the incident management services provided, the assistance given could take the form of hands-on assistance, where incident management personnel make the corrections or work with the system and network owner to make the changes, or the assistance could be the provision of technical remediation strategies, training, advice, and guidance.

Not applicable – TBD

### **Impact statement** – TBD

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – The function is satisfactorily performed when the constituent is provided with the assistance needed to incorporate lessons learned from operational exercises. The scoring guidance is as follows:

- The [Yes] answer for this question can be achieved if all required [R] indicators are met:
- The [Partial] grade for this question can be achieved if
  - there are informal procedures for completing this task AND
  - personnel understand and follow the informal procedures consistently AND
  - personnel assists the constituents in incorporating the lessons learned on an occasional basis OR
  - personnel send feedback on lessons learned to the appropriate contacts

**Improvement** – Improvements can be gained by instituting a quality assurance review of the assistance provided, by verifying that lessons learned are incorporated, and by validating that improvements are made and were beneficial.

		I	ncident Management Capability Metrics					
1.3.2	Are lessons l	learned fr	om operational exercises incorporated into the	Priority III				
Not observed	Not applicable	Yes	<ul> <li>The results of operational exercises are analyzed and the constituent is assisted with incorporating lessons learned to improve their network defenses.</li> </ul>	Y	P	N		
		Partial	Operational exercise results are informally or occasionally analyzed and constituents are occasionally assisted with incorporating lessons learned to improve their network defenses.					
Prerequ								
			cise lessons learned results that can be accessed [R] gnated who is to implement appropriate lessons learned [	R1				
Control		nave desig	gnated who is to implement appropriate lessons learned [	.13				
□ D □ P	ocumented pol		procedures for assisting constituents in applying lessons ly trained about the policies and procedures for providing					
□ P	ersonnel are ap		trained on best practices, methodologies, and remediati			for		
	-	rk and sys	tem defenses and mitigating organizational security wear	knesse	s [R]			
Activity  A		lts of opera	ational exercises and documentation of recommendations	s is per	formed	1 [R]		
			vided for correcting problems such as vulnerabilities or s					
	entified in ope		ercises [R]					
	emediation is p							
	t <b>ing Mechanis</b> ulnerability tra		dling systems					
			anagement systems					
□ C	hange manager	ment system	ms					
		oring and h	ardening systems and networks					
Artifact		ic reculte f	from the operational exercises					
			is and remediation strategies provided to constituents for	incorp	orating	<u>y</u>		
			nfrastructure [R]	г		,		
	opies of follow	-up report	s showing that lessons learned were incorporated					
Quality		C 1						
	ersonnel are aw chnologies for		owledgeable of, and consistently follow the procedure, p	rocesso	es, and			
			are successfully incorporated % of the time					
			eria (such as completeness, timeliness, accuracy, clarity,	usefulr	ness, ar	ıd		
			practices, institutional regulations, and laws) for evaluati	ng the	quality	of of		
	performance and artifacts associated with this activity [R]							
	☐ The quality and effectiveness of this activity are periodically evaluated and appropriate improvements are made [R]							
	ory Reference	s:						
	Sec 3544(b)(6)							
			Each agency shall develop, document, and implement	an age	ency-w	ıde		
			that includes—[] ementing, evaluating, and documenting remedial action t	o addr	ess ans	7		
			curity policies, procedures, and practices of the agency"	o addi	coo uny			

### **Guidance References:**

NIST SP 800-61 Computer Security Incident Handling Guide [Grance 2004]

Sec 3.4 Post-Incident Activity

Sec 3.4.1 Lessons Learned

[p 3-22 and 3-23] "Many organizations have found that holding a "lessons learned" meeting with all involved parties after a major incident [...] is extremely helpful in improving security measures and the incident handling process itself. [...] Questions to be answered [...] include—[...] What corrective actions can prevent similar incidents in the future?"

and Sec 3.4.2 Using Collected Incident Data

[p. 3-23] "A study of incident characteristics may indicate systemic security weaknesses and threats [...]. This data can be put back into the risk assessment process, ultimately leading to the selection and implementation of additional controls." [indirect]

Sec 2.4.3 Incident Response Personnel

[p 2-12] "Develop incident handling scenarios and have the team members discuss how they would handle them. Appendix B contains a set of scenarios and a list of questions to be used during scenario discussions" [p 2-13] "Conduct simulated incident handling exercise for the team. Exercises are particularly important because they not only improve the performance of the incident handlers, but also identify issues with policies and procedures, and with communication."

and App B Incident Handling Scenarios

[p B-1] "Organizations are strongly encouraged to adapt these questions and scenarios for use in their own incident response exercises."

## 1.4 Constituent Protection Support and Training

#### 1.4.1 Is there a list of which systems, data, and information are mission critical?

This function focuses on understanding the organization's critical systems and the data that must be protected. There should be current information about what is on an organization's networks and systems so as to best assess protection requirements and to ensure a timely and appropriate response. It should also ensure legal compliance with regulations or laws (e.g., to make sure information is released or accessed in an authorized fashion). When an event, incident, or vulnerability is reported, this information allows impacts to be assessed in light of the criticality of the data or system. If the location of critical data is not known then notification to end users and other relevant parties, according to compliance laws, may be delayed or not occur.

If possible, there should be up-to-date configuration information for all supported organization networks and systems. Configuration information can include

- a list of IP address ranges and responsible administrative personnel or ISOs
- the latest constituent network diagram(s)
- an up-to-date inventory of information systems, network components, application software, operating systems, and network services utilized by constituents
- a list of network access points and their operational importance

Not applicable – Not all incident management personnel, especially those in distributed control environments, will have direct access to such configuration information. In that case, they may need to establish a formal interface with the part of the organization that does have this information. This interface can also be used as a means of coordinating improvements to system and network configurations based on trend analysis, incident history, and incident management staff expertise. Where possible the organization can benefit by involving incident management personnel in the change management process to ensure knowledge about infrastructure changes is appropriately shared from a security perspective and also to allow incident management personnel to have security-related input in needed changes.

**Impact statement** – Knowing the critical systems, data, and information to be protected ensures that the personnel involved in incident management functions are focusing the right resources on protecting the right assets.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – The function is satisfactorily performed when there is consistent and up-to-date information or access to information on mission-critical systems, data, and information. This is a Priority I function and the question can only have a Yes or No answer. The scoring guidance is

- A [Yes] answer for this metric can be achieved if all required [R] items are met.
- Any other combination of indicators is insufficient and results in a [No].

**Improvement** – Improvement can be achieved by implementing

 a process to ensure that this information and POC for updating this information are kept up to date

- a process to ensure that incident management personnel are included in any change management system and change notices
- a process to ensure that incident management personnel have a way to provide input to the configurations and defense strategies for critical systems and data
- an automated system to record and track critical data and systems that can be integrated with any incident handling or tracking system

		Incident Management Capability Metrics							
1.4 Cor	ctituent Protect	ion Support and Training							
1.4.1	Is there a list	of which systems, data, and information are mission critical?	Prior	rity I					
Not observe	erved applicable Up-to-date, accurate, and complete information on the								
Contro	<ul> <li>The organization has identified its mission critical systems, data, and information [R]</li> <li>Controls</li> <li>Documented policies and procedures exist that describe the process and method by which the information is obtained, stored, and used [R]</li> </ul>								
Activity		use this information [R]							
in d	ersonnel have ac nformation [R] his list of missio	cess to an up-to-date and accurate list of mission critical systems, data on critical systems, data, and information is used to assess the impact at se strategies and priorities for computer security events, incidents, and	nd	esses					
	ting Mechanism	ns.							
	Patabase or other Change and config neident handling	mechanism for tracking mission critical systems, data, and informatio guration management systems and tracking system king, patch management systems	n						
Artifac	•								
	ists or database of OCs for critical s	of critical systems, data, and information [R] systems, data, and information							
	he list is sufficie	ently detailed to enable analysts to determine if an event or incident aff	ects						
□ P	ersonnel are awa	rstems, data, or information [R] are of, knowledgeable of, and consistently follow the procedures, proceed technologies for collecting and using this information [R]	esses,						
☐ I	nformation is arc there is a process	hived in a secure and protected manner [R] and criteria for evaluating the quality of performance and artifacts ass	sociate	d					
u 1	with this activity [ The quality and efunction or the content of t	ffectiveness of this activity are periodically evaluated and appropriate							
	ory References:	· .							

# 1.4 Constituent Protection Support and Training

#### **Guidance References:**

NIST 800-61 Computer Security Incident Handling Guide [Grance 2004]

Sec 3.2.6 Incident Prioritization

[p 3-14] "Criticality of the Affected Resources. Resources affected by an incident (e.g., firewalls, Web servers, Internet connectivity, user workstations, and applications) have different significance to the organization. The criticality of a resource is based primarily on its data or services, users, trust relationships and interdependencies with other resources, and visibility (e.g., a public Web server versus an internal department Web server). Many organizations have already determined resource criticality through their business continuity planning efforts or their Service Level Agreements (SLA), which state the maximum time for restoring each key resource. When possible, the incident response team should acquire and reuse existing valid data on resource criticality."

NIST SP 800-59 Guideline for Identifying an Information System as a National Security System [Barker 2003]

# 1.4.2 Is guidance provided to constituents in best practices for protecting their systems and network?

This function focuses on whether there is a defined process and methodology to provide constituent guidance on best practices for protecting systems and networks. These best practices can include methods for hardening system and network components, configurations, or perimeter defenses (such as firewalls and routers). Guidance can be given via training, presentations, mentoring, advisories, or other written technical publications. Guidance can be general or focus on specific constituent network and system components.

If it is available, having access to constituent network diagrams, configurations, and critical systems and data can help determine the most appropriate guidance to provide. As part of this process there should be defined policies, procedures, and processes for developing, disseminating, and updating recommendations and guidance.

## Not applicable – TBD

Impact statement – Guidance to constituents raises their awareness and provides recommendations for making improvements, allowing problem areas to be proactively mitigated, increasing the overall security of the constituent infrastructure, and thereby improving the security posture of the organization.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – The function is satisfactorily performed when current and appropriate guidance or best practices for securing systems and networks is provided in a written, consistent, timely fashion. The question is partially satisfied if the guidance is provided verbally or via informal mechanisms. The scoring guidance is as follows:

- The [Yes] answer for this question can be achieved if all required [R] indicators are met.
- The [Partial] grade for this question can be achieved if
  - the organization is in the process of developing such a capability or service OR
  - the guidance is provided verbally OR
  - the guidance is provided infrequently or in an ad hoc manner AND
  - there are informal procedures for completing this task AND
  - personnel understand and follow the informal procedures consistently

## **Improvement** – Improvement can be achieved by implementing

- formalized procedures, guidelines, and training, including how to develop guidance, how to disseminate guidance, how to create training and presentation materials, and how to provide training
- quality assurance checks on the information provided to ensure that it is complete, timely, accurate, clear and understandable, up-to-date, and useful, and meets any organization, institutional, or legal compliance guidelines
- training programs for personnel on the methods for securing and hardening systems and networks
- methods for updating guidance materials on a periodic basis

			In	cident Management Capability Metrics				
1.4.2	Is guidance provided to constituents in best practices for protecting their systems and network?  Priority II							
Not observed		Not applicable	Yes	<ul> <li>Guidance is provided in best practices through training, presentations, and technical publications on a regular basis.</li> </ul>	Y	Р 🗖	N	
			Partial	<ul> <li>Provided guidance is ad hoc or informal.</li> </ul>				
Contr	<ul> <li>Controls</li> <li>□ Documented procedures exist for providing and updating general best practice guidelines for protecting constituents systems and networks [R]</li> <li>□ Documented policies and procedures for disseminating best practice information exist [R]</li> <li>□ Personnel are appropriately trained on         <ul> <li>best practices and strategies for protecting constituent systems and networks [R]</li> <li>the procedures, process, and supporting technologies used to provide guidance on best practices [R]</li> </ul> </li> <li>Activity</li> <li>□ Guidance is provided to constituents on best practices for protecting constituent systems and networks [R]</li> <li>□ Training or presentations on best practices for protecting constituent systems and networks is provided</li> </ul>						r	
	<ul> <li>□ Display and distance education equipment</li> <li>□ Web sites</li> <li>□ Publishing software</li> <li>Artifacts</li> <li>□ Constituent network diagrams and configurations</li> <li>□ Copies of recommended general and specific best practice guidance given to constituents</li> </ul>							
□ Quali	Tech ty	-	tions prov	iding best practice guidelines				
	<ul> <li>Personnel are aware of, knowledgeable of, and consistently follow the procedures and processes for performing this task [R]</li> <li>Personnel are aware and knowledgeable about security best practices [R]</li> <li>Best practice information is up to date, current, and relevant to the constituents [R]</li> <li>There is a process and criteria for evaluating the quality of performance and artifacts associated with this activity [R]</li> </ul>							

# Regulatory References:

FISMA Sec 3544(b)(3) and (4) [OLRC 2003]

3544 "(b) AGENCY PROGRAM—Each agency shall develop, document, and implement an agency-wide information security program [...] to provide information security for the information and information systems that support the operations and assets of the agency [...] that includes—

- "(3) subordinate plans for providing adequate information security for networks, facilities, and systems or groups of information systems, as appropriate [...]
- "(4) security awareness training to inform personnel, including contractors and other users of information systems that support the operations and assets of the agency, of—
- "(A) information security risks associated with their activities; and
- "(B) their responsibilities in complying with agency policies and procedures designed to reduce these risks"

#### **Guidance References:**

NIST SP 800-61 Computer Security Incident Handling Guide [Grance 2004]

Sec 3.1.2 Preventing Incidents

[p 3-3] "Although incident response teams are generally not responsible for securing resources, they can be advocates of sound security practices. Other documents already provide good advice on general security concepts and operating system and application-specific guidance."

[footnote 36] http://csrc.nist.gov/publications/nistpubs/ provides links to the NIST Special Publications on computer security, which include documents on operating system and application security baselines.

## 1.4.3 Are constituents provided with security education, training, and awareness (ETA)?

This function measures the process and methodology by which the organization's security education, training, and awareness programs for constituents are provided. This provision can take many forms including identification of training requirements and gaps for each constituent group, providing of input for a security curriculum, or development and delivery of security training, education, or awareness. Incident management personnel can help identify where constituents require more guidance to better conform to accepted security practices and organizational security policies.

Security awareness can be increased through articles, posters, newsletters, web sites, or other informational resources that explain security best practices and provide advice on precautions to take. Activities may also include scheduling meetings and seminars to keep constituents up to date with ongoing security procedures and potential threats to organization systems. Topics covered can include

- security guidelines (such as creating good passwords, handling secure data, or avoiding identify theft)
- malicious code types, propagation, and remediation techniques
- installing and using anti-virus software, personnel firewalls, or spyware detectors
- incident reporting guidelines detailing what, how, and to whom to report suspicious or malicious behavior
- appropriate incident prevention and response methods
- other information necessary to protect, detect, report, and respond to computer security incidents

**Not applicable** – Many organizations have mandatory security awareness training requirements so it is unlikely that this function is Not Applicable. However, if security is an outsourced capability, then it is possible that defining security ETA requirements is not provided by incident management personnel and that this function is the responsibility (overall) of the organization and the external service provider.

**Impact statement** – Increasing the general security awareness of the constituents not only improves their understanding of security issues but also helps them perform their day-to-day operations securely. This can reduce the occurrence of successful attacks and increase the probability that constituents will detect and report attacks, thereby decreasing recovery times and eliminating or minimizing losses.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – The function is satisfactorily performed when security education, training, and awareness are provided on a regular basis via a documented curriculum. Materials are written, consistent, and up to date. The question is partially satisfied if the organization provides security education, training, and awareness assistance on an intermittent basis using an undocumented curriculum. The scoring guidance is as follows:

- The [Yes] answer for this question can be achieved if all required [R] indicators are met.
- The [Partial] grade for this question can be achieved if
  - the guidance is provided verbally OR

- the guidance is provided infrequently or in an ad hoc manner AND
- there are informal procedures for completing this task AND
- personnel understand and follow the informal procedures consistently

# **Improvement** – Improvement can be achieved by

- implementing a formalized process
- building in quality assurance checks to ensure materials are current, accurate, and up to date
- training ETA-development personnel on instructional design and curriculum issues and methodologies
- training ETA-development and delivery personnel on security awareness best practices

		Incie	dent Management Capability Metrics			
1.4.3	Are constituen awareness (ET	Priority II				
Not observe	Not applicable	Yes	<ul> <li>Security education, training, and awareness assistance is provided on a regular basis using a documented curriculum.</li> </ul>	Y	P	N
	аррисанс	Partial	<ul> <li>Some security education, training, and awareness assistance is provided on an intermittent basis using an undocumented curriculum.</li> </ul>			
			esignated as having responsibility for security and av	varene	ss train	ing
Control	S					
			t for providing and updating general security awarer	ness tra	ining a	and
	ducation content [ ocumented polici urriculum interfac	es and pro	ocedures exist for providing input into constituent se	curity	training	g
p	rovide security ed	lucation, tr	rained on the procedures, process, and supporting teraining, and awareness assistance [R]		_	
Activity		opriately t	rained on security awareness program methods and l	best pr	actices	[K]
•		training	and awareness assistance is provided [R]			
☐ C	onstituents are as eakness	sisted with	n identifying training requirements to strengthen area	as of co	onstitu	ent
	raining requireme			,	1	
			curity curriculum is provided by incident manageme r security awareness is provided	nt pers	onnei	
	ting Mechanisms		i security awareness is provided			
			hods and equipment including classroom instruction	, Com	outer-E	Based
			ation, or distance learning	, ,	L	
	-	culum deve	elopment systems and software			
Artifact		c	TOTAL CO			
	ssessment reports TA requirements		tuent ETA security program			
			nt recommendations made to constituents			
			ducational materials			
			aining program(s)			
	ecurity awareness	s posters, a	articles, or publications			
Quality	1	C 1	1 1 11 6 1 27 4 69 4	1		c
	ersonnel are awar erforming this tas		vledgeable of, and consistently follow the procedure	s and p	rocess	es for
☐ P			nowledgeable about security awareness methodolog	ies and	l practi	ces
_	-	erial and c	content are up to date, current, and relevant [R]			
□ T	here is a process a	and criteria	a (such as relevance, accuracy, completeness, and us		ss) for	
□ T	he quality and eff	ectiveness	formance and artifacts associated with this activity [It is of this activity are periodically evaluated and appropriate the control of the co			
	nprovements are i		s mandatory for all employees [R]			
<u> </u>	ccurry awareness	u anning I	s manuatory for an employees [K]			

# **Regulatory References:**

FISMA Sec 3544(b)(4) [OLRC 2003]

3544 "(b) AGENCY PROGRAM—Each agency shall develop, document, and implement an agency-wide information security program [...] to provide information security for the information and information systems that support the operations and assets of the agency [...] that includes—

- "(4) security awareness training to inform personnel, including contractors and other users of information systems that support the operations and assets of the agency, of—
- "(A) information security risks associated with their activities; and
- "(B) their responsibilities in complying with agency policies and procedures designed to reduce these risks"

#### **Guidance References:**

NIST 800-61 Computer Security Incident Handling Guide [Grance 2004]

Sec 2.5 Incident Response Team Services

[p 2-15] "Education and Awareness. Education and awareness are resource multipliers—the more the users and technical staff know about detecting, reporting, and responding to incidents, the less drain there should be on the incident response team. This information can be communicated through many means: workshops and seminars, Web sites, newsletters, posters, and even stickers on monitors."

## 1.5 Information Assurance/Vulnerability Management

#### 1.5.1 Is there a patch alert and management program?

This function focuses on the process for receiving alerts about patches, disseminating patch information to constituents, patching constituent systems, providing follow-up to ensure patches are correctly installed, and helping constituents to get extensions when patching cannot be implemented immediately. Patch information can be disseminated to constituents or the patches can be installed on constituent systems. There must be coordination with system and network administrators for systems that incident management personnel do not have control over, to ensure that those systems that need to be patched by the relevant system and network administrator are patched.

Incident management personnel should seek information about all patch notifications from as many sources as possible, including software and hardware vendors, other vulnerability analysis and reporting organizations, and other security experts. Tracking such notices, the impacts on constituent sites, and the actions taken in a database or tracking system can help keep a history of vulnerability actions for the organization and provide a source mechanism for trend analysis.

Patching may not be feasible for all systems, or may require significant testing, and some systems may require new system certifications if they are changed (patched). The organization needs to know which systems fall into these categories and ensure appropriate actions are taken to monitor those systems, conduct testing to prevent patches from affecting operational or production systems, and ensure appropriate actions are taken to mitigate security risks.

**Not applicable** – This function should never be Not Applicable.

**Impact statement** – Timely patch alerts and installation provide a method to protect systems from threats and to contain any malicious activity caused by exploitation of vulnerabilities. Patch management can help increase the security posture of the constituent organization by proactively protecting critical systems, networks, and data.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – This function is satisfactorily performed when notices of new patches are received, constituents are notified of available patches, the patches are installed (incident management personnel may provide assistance), and there are appropriate documented policies, procedures, and training for conducting these activities. This is a Priority I function and the question can only have a Yes or No answer. The scoring guidance is as follows:

- A [Yes] answer for this question can be achieved if all required [R] indicators are met.
- Any other combination of indicators is insufficient and results in a [No].

**Improvement** – Improvement can be achieved by implementing

- formalized procedures, guidelines, and training on providing assistance for patch management
- quality assurance checks on the information provided to ensure that it is complete, timely, accurate, clear and understandable, up to date, useful, and meets any organizational, institutional, or legal compliance guidelines
- training for CSIRT personnel on the patch mitigation and installation techniques and methodologies

- a process to keep all POC lists ands security mailing list subscriptions up to date
- automated tools for patch dissemination and installation

			Incident Management Capability Metrics				
1.5 In	ıform	ation Assura	nce/Vulnerability Management				
1.5.1			ch alert and management program?	Prio	rity I		
	Not observed applicable  Constituents are assisted in protecting their systems throu alerts of new patches, guidance for installation of patches monitoring of patch management activities, and performa of patch installation as appropriate.						
Prere	equisi	tes					
	Curr Curr or of The	rent inventory rent inventory ther reasons is	or list of critical systems, data, and information is available [R] of systems and applications that cannot be patched due to business, cos available [R] ted responsibilities for patch management [R]	omplia	nce,		
		e are docume	nted procedures for				
	- - - - Pers	testing/verify disseminating monitoring pa submitting an determining a onnel are apprused to provide	tion, including notifying/coordinating with system owners/ administrating patches before installation [R] a patches and patch information [R] atch implementation by constituents [R] and handling extension requests for constituency [R] and implementing the actions needed to isolate an unpatched system [R] ropriately trained on the procedures, processes, and supporting technologies patch management assistance [R] allation, patch monitoring, and identifying remediation strategies for spatched [R]	R] logies			
Activ		that carmot of	o puteriou [12]				
	A cu		aintained of constituent POCs, with primaries and alternates to contact, acknowledge receipt of patches, and track compliance and extension	t about	t		
			receives vendor and other security group patch notifications (including	the the			
	tech	nical advisorio	es) and actively manages patch information and alerts [R] provided to constituents in the development of procedures for patch				
		agement/insta					
	Patc		lerted to potential threats and problems and the release of new patches outed to constituents for installation or patches are directly installed on		tuent		
	Patc		tion by the constituents is monitored and technical assistance is provide	led as			
	Mon		rdinated with other responsible parties for systems not under direct inc	eident			
	Con	stituent patch	procedures are reviewed for adequacy as needed pordination are adjusted to special circumstances/situations at constitue	ent site	es		
_	when patching must be delayed						
			lace to monitor systems that cannot be patched				
Supp		g Mechanism					
	Mec	hanisms to no	For distributing and installing patches on constituent systems of tify incident management personnel and constituents of new patches [tech notifications (alerts, bulletins and advisories) are securely stored	R]			

#### **Incident Management Capability Metrics** Artifacts Copies of patch alerts and notifications sent to constituents [R] Mail from vendors or others announcing patch availability [R] Copies of extension requests, if done ☐ Records of patches that have been installed [R] Ouality Personnel are aware of, knowledgeable of, and consistently follow the procedures and processes for performing this including patch installation, patch monitoring, and remediation strategies [R] Information on patches provided to constituents is up to date [R] There is a process and criteria for evaluating the quality of performance and artifacts associated with this activity [R] The quality and effectiveness of this activity are periodically evaluated and appropriate improvements are made [R]

## **Regulatory References: None**

[indirect]

FISMA 3544(b)(3) [OLRC 2003]

3544 "(b) AGENCY PROGRAM—Each agency shall develop, document, and implement an agency-wide information security program [...] to provide information security for the information and information systems that support the operations and assets of the agency [...] that includes—

"(3) subordinate plans for providing adequate information security for networks, facilities, and systems or groups of information systems, as appropriate [...]

#### **Guidance References:**

NIST SP 800-40 Procedures for Handling Security Patches [Mell 2002]

Sec 2 Creating and Implementing a Patching Process

[p 5] "We recommend creating a "Patch and Vulnerability Group" (PVG)."

and Sec 5 Patching Procedures

NIST SP 800-61 Computer Security Incident Handling Guide [Grance 2004]

Sec 2.5 Incident Response Team Services

[p 2-14] "Advisory Distribution. A team may issue advisories that describe new vulnerabilities in operating systems and applications and provide information on mitigating the vulnerabilities. Promptly releasing such information is a high priority because of the direct link between vulnerabilities and incidents. [...] It is recommended that only a single team within the organization distribute computer security advisories, to avoid duplication of effort and the spread of conflicting information."

[counter reference: CSIRT should *not* be given responsibility for patch management] NIST 800-61

Sec 2.5 Incident Response Team Services

[p 2.15] "Patch Management. Giving the incident response team the responsibility for *patch management* (e.g., acquiring, testing, and distributing patches to the appropriate administrators and users throughout the organization) is generally not recommended. Patch management is a time-intensive, challenging task that cannot be delayed every time an incident needs to be handled. In fact, patch management services are often needed most when attempting to contain, eradicate, and recover from large-scale incidents. Effective communication channels between the patch management staff and the incident response team are likely to improve the success of a patch management program."

#### **DETECT: SECTION 2 OF INCIDENT MANAGEMENT CAPABILITY METRICS**

In the Detect process, information about potential incidents, vulnerabilities, and other computer security or incident management information is gathered both proactively and reactively. In reactive detection, information is received from internal or external sources in the form of reports or notifications, as shown in the examples below:

- Those using the organization's computing resources may notice some unusual or malicious
  activity and report it to the appropriate contact. The reporting may involve submitting an
  incident reporting form or calling the appropriate POC, such as a help desk or a CSIRT
  hotline.
- Other computer security experts may send an alert or notification that must be assessed to see if there is a potential threat to the receiver's infrastructure. For example, some other external team might receive reports of a new worm propagating in its area, create an advisory or alert, and send it out to a subscriber mailing list. The organization's incident management personnel see this advisory or alert and evaluate whether it might have a similar effect in their constituency, then take action based upon their analysis.
- An external team might send a report to an organization alerting personnel to activity appearing to originate from within the organization. The organization then needs to review or evaluate its own systems to determine if there is a problem.

Proactive detection requires actions by the designated staff to identify suspicious activity. Personnel monitor a variety of data (such as host logs, firewall logs, and netflows) and use intrusion detection and prevention software to monitor network behavior, looking for indications of suspicious activity. The data are analyzed, and any unusual or suspicious event information is "triaged" to the appropriate individuals for handling.

Personnel performing proactive detect functions may be located in various parts of an organization such as IT, telecommunications group, security group, or a formal CSIRT. In some organizations, the IT or network operations staff perform this function and pass on any suspicious activity or relevant incident or vulnerability information to an established CSIRT. In such cases, it is important to have established procedures for passing on this information. Personnel performing the monitoring must have criteria to help them determine what type of alerts or suspicious activity should be escalated. Personnel who conduct proactive monitoring can include

- IT staff (e.g., NIC staff, NOC staff, SOC staff, system and network administrators)
- selected members of the CSIRT staff
- third parties (e.g., MSSPs, collaborators, ISPs, trusted subject matter experts)
- coordination center

Proactive detection also includes technology watch or public monitoring functions to evaluate current information about security topics that may affect the organization's computing infrastructure. Personnel review security resources to obtain information about new vulnerabilities, new attack types and threats, new recommendations and solutions for preventing incidents, or general political, social, or sector-related information that may have relevance to ongoing or potential malicious activity. Security resources would include, for example, security

mailing lists, web sites, articles, or news reports that are available publicly, or aggregated information from a commercial service.

The two subcategories in the Detect category are

- Network Security Monitoring Network monitoring is an important proactive function that allows an organization to detect suspicious activity across the enterprise. Such monitoring can provide early warnings about malicious threats or activity in the organization's infrastructures, allowing response actions to be initiated in a timely manner, containing the damage and impact that could have been done. Technologies involved in network monitoring and analysis can include intrusion detection systems (IDS), intrusion prevention systems (IPS), anomaly detection systems (ADS), anti-virus detection systems (AVS), netflow analysis tools, and network forensics analysis tools (NFAT). Incident management personnel might assist organizations with monitoring tool selection, configuration and installation, and analysis of output for detection of possible intrusions.
- 2. **Indicators, Warning, and Situational Awareness** Organizations must understand the context within which network events and incidents occur. To do this they must keep up to date with new attack types, remediation strategies, detection strategies, best practice protection strategies, and security detection and response tools. However, to get a complete picture of the relationship of network and system traffic to current events, other political, social, economic, and financial activities must also be reviewed. This type of proactive monitoring of new and current developments is often called technology watch, public monitoring, and situational awareness. Such monitoring provides an overview of internet activity in the context of domestic and foreign developments. It can show connections between activity and attacks at different sites and help analysts better understand the scope and impact of malicious computer events and incidents.

#### 2. Detect

#### 2.1 Network Security Monitoring

## 2.1.1 Is there network monitoring of the constituent systems and networks?

Network monitoring is an important proactive (as well as reactive) function that allows an organization to detect suspicious activity across its enterprise. This can include

- monitoring constituents' systems
- helping or training constituents to monitor their own systems
- providing guidance and recommendations on tool selection, installation, and configuration, analysis and monitoring techniques and methodologies, or network monitoring strategies
- analyzing or monitoring output to detect possible intrusions
- notifying constituents of suspicious behavior

Technologies involved in network monitoring and analysis can include IDS, IPS, ADS, AVS, netflow analysis tools, NFAT, and other tools.

**Not applicable** – It is advisable for the organization to perform this function. Whoever performs this function, whether it be IT, local system administrators, or an established CSIRT, should be assessed relative to this function. In some organizations, monitoring might be completely outsourced to a third-party MSSP. The question would be applied to the MSSP if it is included in the evaluation. Note that in any case, the incident management capability needs an interface to whoever performs the monitoring to receive notifications of suspicious activity.

**Impact statement** – Monitoring can provide early warnings about malicious threats or activity in the organization's infrastructure, allowing a timely response and containing the potential damage. This improves the network defense posture of the organization and allows it to provide an agile response.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – This function is satisfactorily performed when the organization conducts network security monitoring and intrusion detection and prevention monitoring; disseminates the results of analysis; and forwards reports, alerts, and notifications to other organizations. This is a Priority I function and the question can only have a Yes or No answer. The scoring guidance is as follows:

- A [Yes] answer for this question can be achieved if all required [R] items are met.
- Any other combination of indicators is insufficient and results in a [No].

Note that if the detect activities are conducted by other external parties, incident management personnel or another organizational group must be sufficiently engaged and maintain a useful interface to have an accurate view of the organization's security posture as it relates to detection. If an established CSIRT exists, it is important that there is a defined interface through which the CSIRT can obtain this information.

**Improvement** – The optional or non-required indicators relative to network security monitoring identify areas where improvement in quality, timeliness, and accuracy can occur. This might include

- using automated tools
- ensuring automated alerts are enabled
- implementing multiple types of network monitoring systems
- ensuring results are analyzed in near real time
- ensuring network diagrams of monitoring system placement are available and up to date
- providing training to personnel on the various tools and methodologies being used

			Incident Management Capability Metrics		
2. Det	ectio	n			
		k Security M	Jonitoring		
2.1.1		-	k monitoring of constituent systems and networks?	Priority I	
No obser		Not applicable	Network security monitoring is performed on all constituent	Y	N
			networks.		
Prere	Perm Ther	nission to mor	nitor constituents' networks has been acquired [R] date, accurate, and complete list of all mission critical systems, data, and	d	
Contr	ols				
			characterizing anomalous events, including suspicious ports, protocols, sed and host based) [R]	ervices	
	MOU netw		ibing monitoring responsibilities of any third-party provider for constitu	ent	
	- (	constituent ne	tworks should be monitored and analyzed [R]		-1-
	- 1	to review IDS	ning is performed (as well as when) by IDS, AVS, and other network scar logs, including a requirement for near "real-time" review lit logs from constituents	ining to	OOIS
		e is a strategy	to ensure continuous network monitoring support to constituent network	ks and	
	Ther		nt resources to ensure continuous network monitoring support to constit	uent	
	Perso	onnel are appi	ropriately trained on the procedures, process, and supporting technologic nonitoring and analysis, including log file analysis [R]	es used	to
Activi	-				
		rity monitorii	ng is conducted on all constituent systems/networks [R]		
	IDS	or IPS on all	constituent mission-critical networks is performed [R]		
	Anoi detec		ork events are characterized in support of network monitoring and intrus	on	
			ring analysis are disseminated to appropriate individuals		
			d on a "real-time" basis or several times a day in order to detect possible	intrude	ers
	-		notifications are forwarded to other organizations as appropriate		
	unau	thorized activ			
<b>–</b> (	analy	/sis	estem logs are requested within required timeframe of event detection to	supple	ment
			re analyzed on a regular basis (real-time, hourly, etc.)		
		g Mechanism			
			ng tools, including network and host-based IDS or IPS [R]		
			have automated alert capability		
			ADS plugin to an IDS system		
			OS for heuristic scanning for unauthorized activity		
			re for heuristic scanning for malicious code detection		
	Aler		correlation tools exist, including appropriate communication mechanisms, such as page-or	out and	
	Back		very capabilities in the form of spare equipment for IDS sensors/console exist	and oth	ier

Artifa	
	Samples of logs, alerts, and reports generated by the network monitoring tools [R]
	Network diagrams showing placement of monitoring tools on constituent networks
	Results of testing or monitoring on critical network segments [R]
	IDS configuration file specifying what anomalous events trigger an alarm
Quali	ty Indicators
	Personnel are aware of, knowledgeable of, and consistently follow the procedures and processes for performing this task [R]
	Personnel are aware and knowledgeable about network monitoring tools and techniques, including
	how to review logs after detection of a potential incident [R]
	Constituents are aware of and knowledgeable about the network monitoring activities
	Criteria exist that define near-real-time as within minutes/hours of detection (e.g., for review
	of logs)
	There is a process and criteria for evaluating the quality of performance and artifacts associated with
	this activity [R]
	The quality and effectiveness of this activity are periodically evaluated and appropriate improvements
	are made [R]
Regul	latory References: None
[indire	ect]
FISM	A Sec 3544(b)(7) [OLRC 2003]
3544(	b) AGENCY PROGRAM - "Each agency shall develop, document, and implement an agency-wide
inforn	nation security program [] that includes [] (7) procedures for detecting [] security incidents
[]"	
Guida	ance References:
[coun	ter reference – which provides guidance to the effect that another group, not the CSIRT, should
perfor	rm this function]
NIST	SP 800-61 Computer Security Incident Handling Guide [Grance 2004]
Sec 2.	5 Incident Response Team Services (intrusion detection responsibility should be assigned to another
team)	
[p 2-1	5] <b>Intrusion Detection</b> . "An incident response team may assume responsibility for intrusion detection
becau	se others within the organization do not have sufficient time, resources, or expertise. The team
	ally benefits because it should be poised to analyze incidents more quickly and accurately, based on
the kn	lowledge it gains of intrusion detection technologies. Ideally, however, primary responsibility for
intrus	ion detection should be assigned to another team, with members of the incident response team
partic	ipating in intrusion detection as their availability permits."
[indire	ect]
	2.2 Signs of an Incident, and Sec 3.2.3 Sources of Precursors and Indications
	SP 800-31 Intrusion Detection Systems [Bace 2001]
	2 Why should I use intrusion detection systems?
	nal Organization References:
	<u> </u>

#### 2.2 Indicators, Warning, and Situational Awareness

2.2.1 Are network and system configurations or rule sets reviewed and updated in response to changes in the threat environment, and are the constituents notified of the updates?

This function focuses on whether the organization is able to quickly update and change network defense configurations and rule sets in a timely, structured manner to react to changes in the threat environment.

Not applicable – It is unlikely that this function would not be performed within the organization. To not perform this function is also ill advised. Failure to adjust network defenses to changes in threat environments could leave critical systems and data open to unauthorized access and exploitation. It is possible that this function might be handled by another part of the organization. If this is the case, then this question should be applied to that group and its activities. Incident management personnel should also have an established interface with the part of the organization with the authority to make these updates and also to other information sources that can provide indications of threat change levels.

**Impact statement** – Quickly making changes in network defense configurations in reaction to changing threat levels ensures that the organization can rapidly adjust its defenses and that the protection of critical systems and assets is at the highest level possible.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – This question is satisfactorily answered when the organization receives threat change information and is able to quickly adjust network defenses to protect against such threat changes while notifying constituents of the modifications and any resulting impacts. This is a Priority I function and the question can only have a Yes or No answer. Specifically, the scoring guidance is as follows:

- A [Yes] answer for this question can be achieved if all required [R] items are met.
- Any other combination of indicators is insufficient and results in a [No].

**Improvement** – The optional or non-required indicators relative to configuration and rule set modifications indicate areas where improvement in quality, timeliness, and accuracy can occur.

		Incident Management Capability Metrics			
2.2 Ir	ndicators, Warnin	g, and Situational Awareness			
2.2.1		and system configurations or rule sets reviewed and updated in anges in the threat environment, and are the constituents notified?	Priority I		
No obser	rved applicable	Configurations/rule sets are reviewed and updated in response to changes in the threat environment and the constituent is notified.	Y N		
Prere	There is access to Authority and resp assigned [R] rols	information detailing changes in threat levels and environments [R] configurations and rule sets [R] ponsibility for making network/system configuration and rule set updates cies and procedures exist that	s is		
	<ul> <li>define what to sets and the production</li> <li>detail the production</li> <li>define the production</li> <li>define the production</li> <li>the procedure updates [R]</li> <li>firewall rule sets</li> </ul>	ypes of changes in threat environments require changes to configurations process for gathering that information and determining actions to be taken bees for IDS signature updates and the conditions that warrant updates bees for updating router/firewall configurations (ACLs, logging, etc.) because for notifying constituents of changes in the threat environment propriately trained on es, process and supporting technologies used in making configuration or sets, IDS and router configurations, and other appropriate or constituent-	n [R] rule se	t	
Activ	ity Changes in the the Appropriate changer rules and configurations are not constituents are not constituents.	reat environment, e.g., threat and vulnerability reports/alerts, are monitor ges are implemented to IDS, router, firewall, and other appropriate networations [R] notified of modifications and impacts on constituent operations (increased f service, e.g., FTP port blocked) [R]	ork def		
	orting Mechanism Vulnerability and Information disse	threat monitoring mechanisms or methodologies [R] mination and communication mechanisms [R] d patch management systems and tools or methodologies [R]			
	Documentation or Change log for co Copies of notifica Up-to-date POC I	n when and why latest rule sets were updated onfiguration updates ation of changes and impacts [R] ists for constituents [R]			
	performing this ta				
	[R]	nnel have knowledge and skills to make changes to appropriate monitoring and criteria for evaluating the quality of performance and artifacts associated as a second criteria.	•		
	this activity [R]	ffectiveness of this activity are periodically evaluated and appropriate im			

# **Regulatory References: None**

[indirect]

FISMA Sec 3544(b)(3) [OLRC 2003]

3544(b) AGENCY PROGRAM - "Each agency shall develop, document, and implement an agency-wide information security program, to provide information security for the information and information systems that support the operations and assets of the agency [...] that includes [...] (3) subordinate plans for providing adequate information security for networks, facilities, and systems or groups of information systems, as appropriate"

## **Guidance References: None**

[indirect]

NIST SP 800-41 Guidelines on Firewalls and Firewall Policy [Wack 2002]

NIST SP 800-61 Computer Security Incident Handling Guide [Grance 2004]

Sec 2.5 Incident Response Team Services

[p 2-15] "**Technology Watch**. A team can perform a technology watch function [...] The team should then make recommendations for improving security controls based on the trends that they identify."

# 2.2.2 Is public monitoring of external security web sites and other trusted sources of information conducted?

This function focuses on whether the organization monitors security-related and general news sites in a structured manner to identify information that can be used to alert constituents to potential threats and problems. Part of this activity is the observation of new technical developments, new intruder activities, and related trends to help identify future threats. Topics reviewed can also include legal and legislative rulings, social or political threats, and emerging technologies. This service involves reading security mailing lists, security web sites, and current news and journal articles in the fields of science, technology, politics, and government to extract information relevant to the security of the constituent systems and networks. This can also include communicating with other parties who are authorities in these fields to ensure that the most accurate information or interpretation is obtained.

Such information might be used in daily briefings or shift change logs, as rationale for IDS signatures updates or changes in network monitoring configurations, as correlation information during incident or vulnerability analysis, as impetus for new training for incident management and constituent personnel, as a driver of new incident management research projects, or as information-sharing content sent to incident management staff.

Policies and procedures should identify the appropriate guidelines and rules for accessing and monitoring these sites, along with methods for extracting, synthesizing, and disseminating information.

**Not applicable** – It is possible that this function might be outsourced or handled by another part of the organization. If this is the case, this metric should be applied to that group and its activities. If this function is not performed anywhere within the organization or as an outsourced function, then a score of Not Applicable may be applied. However, note that this is a Priority I function, and it is considered a best practice. Performance of this function is critical to the effectiveness of the incident management capability.

Impact statement – Monitoring can provide early warnings about malicious threats or activity that may have an impact on the infrastructure. Monitoring may provide a better understanding of the significance, scope, and context of an event or incident, allowing response actions to be initiated in a timely manner to contain the potential damage and impact. This improves the overall network defense posture of the organization and allows it to have an agile response.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – This function is satisfactorily performed when the organization regularly monitors a variety of security, news, and other trusted sites for information relating to computing technologies, attacks, threats, and for socio-political, economic, or legal information that may be related to malicious computer security events and incidents. This is a Priority I function and the question can only have a Yes or No answer. Specifically, the scoring guidance is as follows:

- A [Yes] answer for this question can be achieved if all required [R] items are met.
- Any other combination of indicators is insufficient and results in a [No].

**Improvement** – Improvement could be implemented through use of automated tools or intelligence agents to scan for specific types of information.

				Incident Management Capability Metrics				
2.2.2		s public mon nformation c		ing of external security web sites and other trusted sources of ucted?	Prior	rity I		
No obser	ved	Not applicable	•	Public monitoring is conducted on a daily basis.	Y	N		
Prere			01120	es of information have been identified [R]				
Cont		sieu externar s	ource	es of information have been identified [K]				
		cies and proce	dure	es exist that detail how information is to be reviewed, collected, syr	thesiz	ed		
_		eminated, and				·,		
	A do	ocumented che		st exists that catalogs which sites to visit and critical information to	exam	ine		
П		day [R]	mord	de and instructions axist for socrabing high risk was sites such as "	alaala l	20t''		
				ds and instructions exist for searching high-risk web sites such as "libutable or non-traceable fashion [R]	Jiack-i	iai		
		onnel are app						
				, process checklists, reliable web sites and supporting technologies	used to	0		
				on gathering or public monitoring [R]				
				ynthesizing information in a secure, safe manner [R]				
Activ								
				ety of web sites or email lists on a daily or weekly basis [R]				
				synthesize information gathered [R]				
				te notable public monitoring information to appropriate technical a	nd			
C				where appropriate, to the constituency [R]				
		<b>g Mechanism</b> ail systems and		ilina lista				
				ws, and legal web sites and archives				
		search engin		ws, and regar web sites and archives				
				ds to monitor, synthesize, and disseminate information [R]				
Artifa								
	Reco	ords of gather	ed in	formation [R]				
		addresses for						
				m mailing list subscriptions				
		orts synthesize	ed ba	ased on the information gathered [R]				
Quali								
				are automated or sources of information are automatically aggregate		c		
				f, knowledgeable of, and consistently follow the procedures and pro	ocesses	s for		
П		orming this ta		criteria for evaluating the quality of performance and artifacts asso	ciated	with		
J		activity [R]	and	criteria for evaluating the quanty of performance and artifacts asse	ciatcu	WILII		
			fecti	iveness of this activity are periodically evaluated and appropriate				
		rovements are		, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,				
Regu		y References:						
[indir								
		c 3544(b) [OL						
				M - "Each agency shall develop, document, and implement an age				
				t, to provide information security for the information and information		tems		
				and assets of the agency [] that includes [] (3) subordinate plans				
			mati	on security for networks, facilities, and systems or groups of inform	nation			
syster	ns, as	appropriate"						

# **Guidance References:**

NIST 800-61 Computer Security Incident Handling Guide [Grance 2004]

Sec 2.5 Incident Response Team Services

[p 2-15] **Technology Watch**. A team can perform a technology watch function. Examples of this are monitoring security-related mailing lists [...]"

#### RESPOND: SECTION 3 OF INCIDENT MANAGEMENT CAPABILITY METRICS

In the Respond process, information that has been received by incident management personnel concerning potential incidents, vulnerabilities, or other computer security events or incidents is acted upon. This includes actions that may be performed by technical staff, management, or other entities within an organization. For example, technical actions can include

- analyzing the event or incident information, data, and supplemental material such as log files, malicious code, or other artifacts
- researching corresponding mitigation strategies and recovery options
- developing advisories, alerts, and other publications that provide guidance and advice for resolving or mitigating the event or incident
- containing any ongoing malicious activity by making technical changes to the infrastructure, such as disconnecting affected systems from the network, changing security configurations, or filtering ports, services, IP addresses, or packet content via firewalls, mail servers, routers, or other devices
- · eradicating or cleaning up any malicious processes and files
- repairing or recovering affected systems
- providing assistance to constituents regarding response actions

Depending on the scope of the event or incident being handled, actions in the Respond process may be performed by a variety of people. For example, a CSIRT may perform initial incident analysis activities and provide guidance on responding to the incident but not be involved in performing containment, eradication, or recovery actions within the infrastructure. IT staff members or local system administrators may make those changes. But as all actions are in response to ongoing incident activity, they are considered part of the incident management process.

From a different perspective, management response highlights activities that require some type of supervisory or management intervention, notification, interaction, escalation, or approval as part of any response that is undertaken. Such management involvement may include actions taken by executive management or functional business managers such as human resources, legal counsel, public relations, financial accounting, audits and compliance, and other internal organization entities. Management response can also involve ensuring that various parts of the organization work together to handle events and incidents, and resolving any problems that occur between different parts of the organization.

Coordination must occur across all areas of the Respond process to be efficient and effective. All those involved in the response must communicate the steps that are being taken and any relevant information that needs to be disseminated. A response, such as a technical response, may require others to be involved. This type of cooperation and coordination should occur through established channels of communication that should be outlined in the policies, procedures, and plans associated with the Respond process. Actions are coordinated to ensure that efforts are not duplicated and that all tasks are completed within agreed-upon timeframes.

The Respond category includes the following subcategories:

**Incident Reporting** – incident management personnel and constituency understand the requirements for reporting and notification, information is appropriately managed, accessed, stored, archived, or destroyed

**Incident Response** – a 24x7 response capability exists and effective response processes are implemented, including involvement of appropriate individuals from technical, management, and other areas of the organization as required. Information is tracked and recorded, guidance is provided to constituency on how to report, incident management personnel build trusted relationships with internal organization experts and other external experts to facilitate response activities.

**Incident Analysis** – is conducted to determine the scope and impact of reported events and incidents and to determine the appropriate response strategies or workarounds to provide

## 3. Respond

#### 3.1 Incident Reporting

# 3.1.1 Are incidents reported to and coordinated with appropriate external organizations or groups in accordance with organizational guidelines?

This function focuses on incident coordination and external communication. The primary focus is timely reporting of incidents to appropriate contacts in other organizations or groups. In addition, coordination with these groups or other CSIRTs to exchange and compare information is addressed here, although it is not a required activity. For example, in the U.S., at the federal government level, the Federal Information Security Management Act (FISMA) requires government agencies to report incident-related activities to US-CERT [OLRC 2003]. Some organizations in specific domains may have requirements for reporting incidents to a central reporting organization or may be part of a voluntary group of organizations pooling their incident information for greater effect.

**Not applicable** – If there is no requirement to report to an external group or organization, this function can be considered Not Applicable. Note that there may be other sector-specific requirements for reporting, such as disclosure of personally identifiable information that would make this function applicable.

**Impact statement** – If this function is performed well, then the communication channels and reporting chain(s) of the organization will support broad awareness. In other words, information gets to where it needs to be to enable effective and timely action in more than one organization.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – The goal of satisfactorily answering this question is to show that the organization not only understands the requirements for reporting and coordination, but also submits requisite reports and shares information in a consistent, accurate, timely, and complete manner. This is a Priority I function and the question can only have a Yes or No answer.

- The satisfactory answer for this question [Yes] can be achieved only if all of the required indicators [R] are met.
- All other combinations of indicators yield a [No] answer.

**Improvement** – There are some non-required indicators that show where improvements could still be made, even if this metric is met. For example, activities for "coordinating with other CSIRTs" and "attending conferences, workshops, etc." if met, show that incident management personnel have the ability to effectively share information and work with external groups to expand their own views regarding incidents and help others achieve a broader understanding. They are active and contributing members of the global CSIRT community.

Having a cost-effective means of meeting reporting requirements (e.g., automated tools, templates, etc.) is not truly required for this metric, but would certainly improve the efficiency and eliminate costly manual efforts to produce reports. Implementing a centralized incident database that can also automatically produce the required reports is an excellent example of such an improvement.

			Incid	lent Manage	ement (	Capabi	ility M	etrics				
3. Re	spor	nd										
		ent Reporting										
3.1.	1	Are incidents organizations									Prio	rity I
No		Not									Y	N
obsei	rved	applicable		lents are repo						ıps		
			or or	ganizations a	accordi	ng to oi	rganiza	uionai g	guideimes.			
	Gu Rej app The for Do rrol Cri Do inc Do inf Do ass Per	idance exists, in porting personno propriate entities and esignal reporting incide cumented requiremented criteria exist for decumented criterialude [R] cumented policommation with a cumented procession of the	nel are knowns (e.g., POC) ted departments and the irements for this semination is exist for expensive exists for edures exist responsibilities.	viedgeable ab Cs, web site)   nent, group, or e personnel we r levels of cor ag information what categor externally re TS [R] for reporting litties and POO	oout the [R] or mana work wimmuni n [R] ries of gincide Cs [R]	e design ager in t ith that ications inciden g inciden ents to o	the org group s securi	anization or person ty exist aport and coord elevant	reporting on that has on [R] [R] d the type of inating/excorganization	incider the res of infor changin	nts to ponsib rmation	
	Per inte	rsonnel report in ermediate organ ordination with permation on int	nization gro other CSIF rusions, atta	up [R] RTS occurs to acks, or suspi	o compa	are and	exchar es with	nge not	es, analysis	s repor	S	other
		sonnel particip ng Mechanism		snops, comer	rences,	WOIKIII	ig grou	ps, tech	ilicai excii	anges,	eic.	
	For Do Sec cor cor Co Au	rms (e.g., paper cumented, accu- cure communical astituents (e.g., numensurate for st effective mea data collection tomated tools a	r, email, well arate POC liation mecha PGP, GPG, the sensitivans of meetimechanisms	ist for other Canism to quick, S/MIME, Pkvity of the infering reporting s)	CSIRTS kly dis KI, sec formation require	S and/or semina ure FA on [R] ements,	r interr te intru X/STU , (e.g.,	nediate usion in , secure automa	internal graformation to portal) wi	oup(s) to appr th secu	[R] opriate urity	<b>;</b>
Artif						FD 7						
	Co	pies of reports and infirmation rece					e [R]					
Qual □		sonnel are awa	re of know	ledgeable of	and co	onsister	ntly fol	low the	procedures	s for th	is activ	vity
	[R]						•		-			•
		ere is a process h this activity [		i ioi evaiuatin	ng me (	quanty	or peri	omanc	e and arth	acis ass	sociale	u
	The	e quality and ef	fectiveness	of this activit	ity are p	periodio	cally ev	valuated	l and appro	priate		
	Inf	provements are ormation obtain , firewall ACL,	ned from co	ordination is	used to	o impro	ove Def	fense-in	-Depth lay	ers (e.	g., hot	IP

# **Regulatory References:**

FISMA Sec 3544(b)(7)(B) [OLRC 2003]

3544 "(b) AGENCY PROGRAM—Each agency shall develop, document, and implement an agency-wide information security program [...] to provide information security for the information and information systems that support the operations and assets of the agency [...] that includes— [...]

"(7) procedures for detecting, reporting, and responding to security incidents [...] including—[...]

"(B) notifying and consulting with the Federal information security incident center referred to in section 3546 [US-CERT]"

## **Guidance References:**

NIST SP 800-61 Computer Security Incident Handling Guide [Grance 2004]

Sec 2.3.2.3 Incident Reporting

[p 2-6] "FISMA requires Federal agencies to report incidents to [US-CERT] [...]"

# 3.1.2 Are incidents reported to appropriate organization management in accordance with organizational guidelines?

The purpose of this function is to ensure that the incident management personnel follow organization guidelines in reporting incidents (and/or events) within the organization. The objectives are to be able to demonstrate that appropriate notification is made to organization management using a repeatable, consistent, and reliable process that is well-documented, up to date, and understood by members of the team.

**Not applicable** – It would be highly unusual for this function to be Not Applicable as that would imply organization management has no interest. It is possible that this question applies to both an established CSIRT and an intermediate group/individual. An established CSIRT, for example, may report to an ISO, who then reports to other organization managers.

**Impact statement** – If this function is performed well, then the communication channels and reporting chain(s) of the organization will support broader awareness within the organization. In other words, information gets to where it needs to be to enable effective and timely action.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – Satisfactorily answering this question shows that incident management personnel are following organization management requirements for guidance on reporting. This is a Priority I function and the question can only have a Yes or No answer.

- The satisfactory answer for this question [Yes] can be achieved only if all of the required [R] indicators have been met.
- Any other combination of indicators yields a [No] answer.

**Improvement** – The optional quality indicators relative to gathering feedback and statistics are hallmarks of an organization that takes the time and effort to ensure that management assimilates information appropriately. In other words, incident management personnel check to determine if the reports are serving a useful function, and if not, work to improve them.

Incident Management Capability Metrics		
3.1.2 Are incidents reported to appropriate organization management in accordance with organizational guidelines?	Prior	ity I
observed applicable Incidents are reported internally to appropriate organization  management according to organizational guidelines	Y	N
Inaliagement according to organizational guidelines.		
Prerequisites  ☐ Organization guidance (including criteria for what incidents to report, how to report, require content for report, and required timeframes) for internal reporting of incidents to organization management exists [R]  Control		
<ul> <li>Policy defining what types of incidents should be reported and to whom exists [R]</li> <li>Documented procedures for reporting incidents internally to organization management exis</li> <li>Personnel are appropriately trained on the procedures and relevant technology [R]</li> </ul>	ist [R	.]
Activity  □ Regular review of reporting guidelines with organization management is conducted, guidel updated as needed [R]	lines	are
Supporting Mechanism  ☐ Documented and up-to-date POC list with appropriate contact information and alternates [F]  ☐ Defined mechanisms (e.g., forms, email, or telephone) used for incident reporting, along w instructions and examples [R]  Artifacts		
<ul> <li>□ Copies of reports to management [R]         <ul> <li>Tangible examples of reports to management from event/incident database or tracking (daily/weekly/monthly)</li> <li>□ Sample organization management reports, showing accuracy of reported information</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	g syst	em
<ul> <li>Quality</li> <li>□ Personnel are aware of, knowledgeable of, and consistently follow the procedures</li> <li>□ There is a process and criteria for evaluating the quality of performance and artifacts associated with this activity [R]</li> <li>□ The quality and effectiveness of this activity are periodically evaluated and appropriate improvements are made [R]</li> </ul>	ciated	I
Regulatory References: None		
Guidance References:  NIST SP 800-61 Computer Security Incident Handling Guide [Grance 2004] 3.2.7 Incident Notification  [p 3-16] "When an incident is analyzed and prioritized, the incident response team needs to notify appropriate individuals within the organization and, occasionally, other organizations. Timely reparant notification enable all those who need to be involved to play their roles. [] Incident respons policies should include provisions concerning incident reporting—at a minimum, what must be reto whom and at what times (e.g., initial notification, regular status updates)."  Sec 3.5 Incident Handling Checklist	portir se	ng
[p 3-26] Table 3-6. Generic Incident Handling Checklist of Uncategorized Incidents Action 2. "Report the incident to the appropriate internal personnel and external organizations." Sec 3.6 Recommendations [p 3-28] "Include provisions regarding incident reporting in the organization's incident response p	nolic	ev.
Organizations should specify which incidents must be reported, when they must be reported, and twhom. The parties most commonly notified are the CIO, head of information security, local information of security officer, other incident response teams within the organization, and system owners."  Internal Organization References:	to	-

## 3.1.3 Are events/incidents reported from the constituency?

This function focuses on the communication from the constituency to the CSIRT or other incident management personnel designated as being responsible for receiving these reports as it relates to reporting events and incidents (e.g., the constituency discovers an event or incident and reports it). For this activity to occur in the most efficient way possible, defined, easy-to-use mechanisms for reporting events and incidents should exist. Such mechanisms facilitate the transfer of appropriate and useful information.

**Not applicable** – It would be unusual for this function to be Not Applicable, as that would imply the constituents never report events or incidents and incident management personnel only identify events and incidents through monitoring. The evaluator should capture the rationale for this function to be classified as Not Applicable and use judgment to decide whether the rationale is valid or not. If the reason is not valid, this question should be marked as not met.

**Impact statement** – If this function is performed well, then the communication channels and reporting chain(s) of the organization will support broader awareness within the organization. In other words, information gets to where it needs to be to enable effective and timely action.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – The goal of satisfactorily answering this question is to show that both the constituency and incident management personnel are familiar with reporting requirements, understand the types of activity to be reported (categories, reporting criteria, priorities, thresholds/triggers, etc.), and follow guidance on reporting. This is a Priority I function and the question can only have a Yes or No answer.

- The satisfactory answer for this question [Yes] can be achieved only if all of the required [R] indicators are met.
- All other combinations of indicators yields a [No] answer.

Improvement – Note that most of the indicators for this question are required, including the quality types of statistics. These statistics are critical if the organization is going to rely on the constituency to report accurate information. This does not mean that all constituents report all of the required information all of the time. A reasonable percentage should be established that provides the leeway for constituent reporting when incident management personnel must ask for more information or when the constituent simply does not have the required information. This indicator depends on the care with which incident management personnel define the information required for constituent reporting. If too much information is required from constituents, they may be discouraged from reporting. If too little information is required, incident management personnel will waste time contacting constituents to get additional data.

	T	Incident Management Capability Metrics		
3.1.3	Are events/in	cidents reported from the constituency?	Priority I	
Not Not observed applicable		The constituency provides incident/event reports.	Y	N
Control  Find the second of th	Defined reporting ersonnel exist (enformation that not be objected by the control of the control	parameters between constituency and appropriate incident manageme .g., MOU, SLA, policy, or general knowledge) that specify any data or nust be excluded, sanitized, or abstracted or have limited access [R] ning what types of events/incidents should be reported [R] redures exist for constituency reporting of events and incidents (includated access to report, how to report, required content for report, and required	r ing crit	teria
Activity				
□ F		ded to constituency on event/incident reporting requirements [R] freporting guidelines with constituent is performed, guidelines are upon	lated as	S
Suppor F e I	ting Mechanism orms/mechanism xamples (e.g., en	ns used for constituent events/incidents reporting, along with instructionail, Web forms/instructions) [R] up-to-date constituent POC list with appropriate contact information a		I
Artifac	ts			
	copies of reports	on file [R]		
U T	Constituency under There is a process with this activity		sociate	d
	ne quanty and en	ffectiveness of this activity are periodically evaluated and appropriate made [R]		
Regular FISMA 3544 "( informa	Sec 3544(b)(7) [ b) AGENCY PRotion security pro-	:	gency-	-wide

## **Guidance References:**

NIST SP 800-61 Computer Security Incident Handling Guide [Grance 2004]

Sec 2.3.1 Policy and Procedure Elements

[p 2-3] "[...] requirements for reporting certain kinds of incidents"

Sec 2.6 Recommendations

[p 2-15] "Create an incident response policy and use it as the basis for incident response procedures. The incident response policy is the foundation of the incident response program. It defines which events are considered incidents, establishes the organizational structure for incident response, defines roles and responsibilities, and lists the requirements for reporting incidents, among other items."

Sec 3.5 Incident Handling Checklist

[p 3-26] Table 3-6. Generic Incident Handling Checklist of Uncategorized Incidents Action 2. "Report the incident to the appropriate internal personnel and external organizations." Sec 3.6 Recommendations

[p 3-28] "Include provisions regarding incident reporting in the organization's incident response policy. Organizations should specify which incidents must be reported, when they must be reported, and to whom. The parties most commonly notified are the CIO, head of information security, local information security officer, other incident response teams within the organization, and system owners."

#### 3.1.4 Is a notification service provided to constituents?

This function demonstrates whether the organization provides complete, abbreviated, or abstracted event or incident reports. In addition, it demonstrates how well warnings, notifications, alerts, and other information is provided to constituents to promote their awareness or to support response actions. Part of any effective incident management process is the ability to quickly disseminate the right information to the right people at the right time.

Not applicable – It would be unusual for this function to be Not Applicable as that would imply the incident management personnel never notify anyone in the organization about events or incidents. The evaluator should capture the rationale for this function to be classified as Not Applicable and use judgment to decide if the rationale is valid or not. If the reason is not valid, this question should be marked as not met.

**Impact statement** – Involvement in the notification service ensures timely information is received by constituents to alert them to security situations that could affect operations or business functions of the organization. This enables them to respond to threats, vulnerabilities, or other malicious activity.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – The goal of satisfactorily answering this question is to show that the CSIRT provides an adequate notification service to its constituents. This is a Priority I function and the question can only have a Yes or No answer.

- The satisfactory answer for this question [Yes] can be achieved only if all of the required [R] indicators are met.
- All other combinations of indicators yields a [No] answer.

**Improvement** – The only non-required indicators refer to improvements that could be made by defining specific criteria for the quality of the notifications sent to constituents and gathering information from constituents that can be used to provide needed improvements to the content, mechanisms, timing, or delivery of notifications. Without such information, incident management personnel may not know that they are not providing what constituents need.

			Incident Management Capability Metrics		
244	Ta a matificati				•. •
3.1.4	is a nouncau	on ser	vice provided to constituents?	Prior	rity I
Not	Not			V	N
observed	l applicable		A notification service is provided to the constituency.	Y	11
			Triounication service is provided to the constituoney.		
Prerequ	isites	<u>I</u>			<u>I</u>
□ D	ocumented requ	ireme	nts exist for levels of communications security [R]		
□ C <sub>1</sub>	riteria exist for o	lissem	ninating information exist, defining who receives what data and v	when []	R]
Control					
			tist that define the types of notification given to constituents incl	uding	[R]
-			cluding what types		
-			e threat warnings and notifications		
-	official threat			م نداندا.	_
-			ic levels of awareness/risk/impact associated with threat/vulnerarinterim guidance for threats/vulnerabilities	iomnies	8
			hniques, and procedures for notifying constituency exist includi	nσ	
	how to notify		minques, and procedures for notifying constituency exist include	115	
_			r notifications [R]		
_	required time				
-			orts that emphasize Need to Know		
-			isk relative to organization and explaining impact [R]		
-	screening and				
	ersonnel are app	ropria	tely trained on the procedures and relevant technology [R]		
Activity					
			ats and vulnerabilities to constituents are analyzed and distribute		
			sures or protection strategies are documented and distributed, if	require	ed
			appropriate constituents [R]	1	4
		repor	ting guidelines with constituent are performed and guidelines ar	e upaa	tea
	needed [R]	NG.			
	ing Mechanism		g with instructions and examples, for reporting events/incidents	to	
			Web, mailing lists, etc.) [R]	io.	
_	secure comm	unicat	ion mechanism to quickly disseminate intrusion information to	annron	riate
			ensurate with the sensitivity of the information (e.g., PGP, GPG,		
			TU, secure portal) [R]		,
□ D			date constituent POC list with appropriate contact information a	nd	
	ternates [R]		11 1		
	ocumented sour	ces for	r information gathering on alerts and warnings [R]		
Artifact					
			ngs, event/incident reports, etc. [R]		
	alid, up-to-date	POC i	nformation for notifications [R]		
Quality	1		1 11 11 0 1 1 2 3 0 1 3 1 2 2 2		
			knowledgeable of, and consistently follow the procedures [R]		1
	1		riteria for evaluating the quality of performance and artifacts ass	sociate	a
	th this activity		canage of this activity are periodically evaluated and accessions		
	ne quanty and en oprovements are		eness of this activity are periodically evaluated and appropriate		
	ory References:				
regulate	ny references:	, TAOH	<del>c</del>		

#### **Guidance References:**

NIST SP 800-61 Computer Security Incident Handling Guide [Grance 2004]

Sec. 2.5 Incident Response Team Services

[p 2-14] "Advisory Distribution. A team may issue advisories that describe new vulnerabilities in operating systems and applications and provide information on mitigating the vulnerabilities. Promptly releasing such information is a high priority because of the direct link between vulnerabilities and incidents. Distributing information about current incidents also can be useful in helping others identify signs of such incidents. It is recommended that only a single team within the organization distribute computer security advisories, to avoid duplication of effort and the spread of conflicting information." [indirect]

Sec 3.2.7 Incident Notification

[p 3-16, 3-17] "When an incident is analyzed and prioritized, the incident response team needs to notify the appropriate individuals within the organization and, occasionally, other organizations. Timely reporting and notification enable all those who need to be involved to play their roles. [...] Incident response policies should include provisions concerning incident reporting—at a minimum, what must be reported to whom and at what times (e.g., initial notification, regular status updates). [...] During the handling of an incident, the team may need to notify certain parties frequently of the current status of the incident. In some cases, such as a major malicious code infection, the team may need to send organization-wide updates. The team should plan and prepare several communication methods, and select the methods that are appropriate for a particular incident. For example, if the email server has been overwhelmed by malicious code, the team should not send incident updates by email. Possible communication methods include—Email; Web site (Intranet-based); Telephone Calls; In person (e.g., daily briefings) Voice mailbox greeting [...]; Paper (e.g., post notices on bulletin boards and doors, hand out notices at all entrance points)."

# 3.1.5 Are incidents reported to law enforcement as required and/or the intelligence community as appropriate?

This function demonstrates whether the organization reports the appropriate types of activity to law enforcement (LE) or to the intelligence community (IC) as required. Information reported should include the timeframes, details, and any other relevant information. Law enforcement may have different reporting requirements from the intelligence community, so it will be important for any organization to determine when it should report to either area and the exact reporting process and points of contact.

Note that intelligence community reporting may not always be a requirement for some organizations. There may be indirect reporting and communication mechanisms, through a legal representative or senior management, for example. In that case, this function applies to both the incident management personnel for reporting to the intermediate group/person and to the intermediate group/person for reporting to law enforcement.

**Not applicable** – If only law enforcement reporting is required, then the words "intelligence community" can be ignored. In some jurisdictions, reporting to law enforcement may be a requirement, for example, when evidence of certain types of crime is revealed during investigation of an incident.

**Impact statement** – Some organizations may be required to report different types of activities to these entities and failure to do so may result in penalties or other consequences as defined by these entities or other regulations.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – The goal of satisfactorily answering this question is to show that the organization meets the needs of the law enforcement and/or intelligence community with respect to the reporting of incidents within the organization. This is a Priority I function and the question can only have a Yes or No answer.

- The satisfactory answer for this question [Yes] can be achieved only if all of the required [R] indicators are met.
- All other combinations of indicators yields a [No] answer.

**Improvement** – Improvements can be made by

- providing templates or forms to ensure consistent reporting if these are not provided by law enforcement or the intelligence community
- gaining confirmation of the receipt of reports where possible, to verify that the communication mechanisms are working properly
- arranging assignment of a specific case number and investigator(s) to successfully transitioned reports
- gathering information in a "forensically sound" manner

			Incident Management Capability Metrics		
3.1.5	Are incident	nts repor	rted to law enforcement as required and/or the intelligence	Prio	rity I
Not	Not			Y	N
observe	d applicab	le •	Incidents are reported to law enforcement and/or		1N
			intelligence communities as appropriate.		
Prerequ	isites				
□ G in	uidance from cidents to rep		orcement and intelligence community exists, including categorie equired information, timeframes, and contact mechanisms [R]	s of	
Control					
			d training materials are consistent with latest guidance from law		
			gence community [R] sts for requiring certain incidents to be reported to appropriate la	337	
			lligence community [R]	. vv	
			s exist for reporting incidents to law enforcement and intelligence	ee	
co	ommunity incl				
-			lity and/or POC in the organization or CSIRT		
-		d method	dology for sharing information with the intelligence community	via pro	oper
	channels	andlina r	and law and area mant/intelligence community requirements		
-			per law enforcement/intelligence community requirements for reporting including the type of information to provide		
		_	tely trained on the procedures and relevant technology [R]		
Activity		ppropria	tery trained on the procedures and relevant technology [15]		
		tained w	rith appropriate LE/IC POCs for changes in reporting requirement	nts [R]	
Support	ing Mechanis	sms			
			l or mechanism for reporting [R]		
			rting along with instructions and examples		
			GP, GPG, S/MIME encrypted email, PKI, or other suitable mech	hanism	is for
Artifact	cure informat	tion shari			
		ts to I E/	/IC or to intermediate group [R]		
Quality	opies of repor	is to LL/	Te of to intermediate group [K]		
	ersonnel are a	ware of.	knowledgeable of, and consistently follow the procedures [R]		
			d from law enforcement and intelligence community when appli	cable	
☐ L	E has assigned	d a case 1	number and handler to this incident as indication of successful h	and-of	f
			riteria (such as consistency with law enforcement or intelligence		
			quirements) for evaluating the quality of performance and artifac	cts	
	ssociated with				
	ne quanty and nprovements a		eness of this activity are periodically evaluated and appropriate		
	ory Reference				
_	Sec 3544(b)(7		OLRC 20031		
			AM—Each agency shall develop, document, and implement an a	gency-	-wide
			[] that includes—[]	<i>-</i>	
"(7) pro	cedures for de	etecting,	reporting, and responding to security incidents [] including—	·[]	
			with, as appropriate—		
"(i) law	enforcement a	agencies	and relevant Offices of Inspector General"		

# **Guidance References:**

NIST SP 800-61 *Computer Security Incident Handling Guide* [Grance 2004] Sec 2.3.2.2 Law Enforcement

[p 2.5, 2-6] "The incident response team should become acquainted with its various law enforcement representatives before an incident occurs to discuss conditions under which incidents should be reported to them, how the reporting should be performed, what evidence should be collected, and how it should be collected.

Law enforcement should be contacted through designated individuals in a manner consistent with the requirements of the law and the organization's procedures."

# 3.1.6 Is there support for incident management for classified or sensitive information, networks, and/or systems?

If incident management personnel provide classified or other sensitive incident management services, it is imperative that mechanisms and processes be in place to handle the information at the appropriate level of classification/sensitivity. They will need to know what information is sensitive or classified and where it exists or is transmitted on systems and networks. The constituents will need to know how to properly report events and incidents involving sensitive or classified information, systems, or networks. The evaluator may need appropriate clearances to be able to view, confirm, or validate that the question has been satisfied. Otherwise, incident management personnel must be able to provide sufficient detail (without providing access to classified/sensitive networks, data, or information) to provide confirmation of the existence of appropriate handling of such elements.

**Not applicable** – Although not all organizations may need to deal with classified information, all will have some types of information that is considered sensitive; even if it is only employee social security numbers and salary information. Therefore, this function should never be considered Not Applicable. If the organization believes this is truly not applicable, then proper documentation of this rationale is required.

**Impact statement** – Ensuring that mechanisms are well understood and in place for handling sensitive or classified data or information will prevent unauthorized disclosure of such information.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – The goal of this question is to assure that the organization has established incident management policies, procedures, and communication mechanisms in place commensurate with the sensitivity or classified nature of the information/data. This is a Priority I function and the question can only have a Yes or No answer.

- The satisfactory answer for this question [Yes] can be achieved only if all of the required [R] indicators have been met.
- Any other combination of indicators yields a [No] answer.

**Improvement** – For this question, one of the non-required indicators that can be an improvement relates to implementing a "decision matrix or mechanism that can be used to quickly assign proper classification or sensitivity levels." Such a mechanism can certainly improve efficiency when sensitive or classified information is relatively common, but produces less return on investment when such information is sparse.

			Incident Management Capability Metrics								
3.1.			ort for incident management for classified or sensitive networks, and/or systems?	Prio	rity I						
N	lot	Not		Y	N						
obse	erved	applicable	<ul> <li>Incident management for classified or sensitive information</li> </ul>		_						
	)		is supported.								
	equisit										
		is a documen	ted list of networks/systems which support classified or sensitive info	rmatic	on						
	[R] Defin	ed levels or so	chemes of sensitivity/classification for data and information exist as a	nnronr	riate						
	[R]	ca icveis of sc	themes of sensitivity/elassification for data and information exist as a	рргорг	iaic						
		mented requir	ements exist for levels of communications security [R]								
Cont		. 1 11									
		mented policy fied informati	exists for managing incidents involving networks supporting sensitive on [R]	e or							
			dures cover all aspects of incident management, including external an	d inter	nal						
	repor	ing, response,	, the required means of communicating, specified markings for level of	of							
			ation, any variations for different levels of sensitivity/classification, u	se of							
			ecure communication channel [R] opriately cleared for the applicable levels of sensitivity of								
_			nformation [R]								
			opriately trained on the procedures and relevant technology [R]								
Activ	vity										
			categorized and protected in accordance with appropriate organization	n							
		ntions [R]	sensitive or classified information are handled according to organiza	tion							
_		lines [R]	sensitive of classified information are nandred according to organiza	11011							
			on have been assigned and labeled according to the appropriate class	or cate	gory						
		sitivity [R]									
		Mechanisms		. ~							
			tions channel (STU/STE, secure FAX, etc.) for incidents involving class that are protected up to the level of classification/sensitivity of that		d or						
		nation [R]	on that are protected up to the level of classification/schishivity of that								
			ository appropriate to the levels of sensitivity/classification [R]								
			for associated classifications [R]								
			ues that meet NIST or other national or international regulations								
			mechanism for quickly assigning proper classification of event/incide	ent data	a and						
Artif	repor	.5									
		le, sanitized in	neident reports on classified or sensitive information or systems [R]								
			tivity level clearly marked on reports [R]								
		ified or sensiti	ive reports are stored at the level of their classification [R]								
Qual		nnal ara avvar	a of knowledgeable of and consistently newform the procedures [D]								
			e of, knowledgeable of, and consistently perform the procedures [R] are and knowledgeable of the procedures for incidents involving sense.	sitive o	r						
		fied informati		.101 7 0 0	-						
	Clear	ance records o	on file for personnel (100% for cleared personnel and those in interme	diate s	tatus						
		pending)) [R]		, <b>.</b> .	œ ·						
			and criteria (such as consistently appropriate management of sensitive								
		formation) for evaluating the quality of performance and artifacts associated with this activity [R] are quality and effectiveness of this activity are periodically evaluated and appropriate									

improvements are made [R]

# **Regulatory References:**

FISMA Sec 3544(b)(7) [OLRC 2003]

3544 "(b) AGENCY PROGRAM—Each agency shall develop, document, and implement an agency-wide information security program [...] to provide information security for the information and information systems that support the operations and assets of the agency [...] that includes—[...]

"(7) procedures for detecting, reporting, and responding to security incidents, consistent with standards and guidelines issued pursuant to section 3546(b) [National Security Systems] [...]"

#### **Guidance References: None**

[indirect]

NIST SP 800-59 Guideline for Identifying an Information System as a National Security System [Barker 2003]

## 3.1.7 Is there a central repository for constituent security event/incident reporting?

This function gauges the ability of the CSIRT or incident management personnel to serve as a repository (clearinghouse) to collect and archive data on events and incidents reported by constituents. Such a repository supports the collection and storage of historical information. This information can then be easily searched for common intruder signatures and attacks, relevant mitigation and resolution strategies, and historical trends.

**Not applicable** – In some organizations with distributed incident management responsibilities, a CSIRT may function more as a coordinator, with individual groups or departments maintaining their own repositories of event and incident data. In this case, this function may be Not Applicable or it may be applied to all groups retaining some portion of the event/incident information.

**Impact statement** – This consolidated data can be used as a source for any fusion or retrospective analysis that may be done (discussed further in Section 3.3). Performing these types of analysis enables incident management personnel to obtain a broader view of ongoing incident activity and compare it against other external observations or activity.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – For this priority II function, there should be the tools, techniques, and processes to collect, protect, and appropriately store the information/data, as well as the ability to easily access and extract content for a variety of needs (statistics, reports, types of reports, organizations/sites, status, etc.).

- The [Yes] answer for this question can be achieved if all of the required [R] indicators are met.
- The organization can obtain a [Partial] answer on this question if all of the required [R] indicators are met EXCEPT in regard to keeping all information as required. For example, if an organization only retains information on confirmed incidents or only keeps some of the event/incident reports for the required timeframe and some is purged too early, only a partial score could be achieved.

**Improvement** – For this function, one possible improvement that could be made even after the metric is met would involve gathering and analyzing quality statistics on record retention and using an off-site or alternate site for archival of records. Off-site archival is easier to achieve with a centralized database or knowledge base for events and incidents but may be more difficult if the data is distributed.

		In	cident Management Capability Metrics				
3.1.7	Is there a cen reporting?	Priority II					
Not observed	Not applicable	Yes	<ul> <li>ALL event/incident reports (electronic and/or paper) are retained for the required time period.</li> </ul>	Y	P	N	
		Partial	SOME event/incident reports (electronic and/or paper) are retained for the required time period but the approach is inconsistent.				
Poctorial   Poct	Prerequisites Policy or procedures dictate the centralized receipt of constituent event/incident reports [R] Constituents report events/incidents to the designated group [R]  Control Documented policy exists defining organization guidelines for record retention [R] Documented procedures for archiving, retiring, and destroying records exist [R] Personnel are appropriately trained on the procedures and relevant technology [R]  Activity All of the event/incident reports from constituents are retained according to requirements in either paper or electronic form [R] Archived reports are encrypted (if electronic) All reports are backed up [R]  Supporting Mechanisms Record repository with controlled access [R] Alternate site for archiving records Backup systems or mechanisms [R]  Artifacts Sample event/incident reports from constituents from repository [R] Schedule for backup or archival of reports  Quality Personnel are aware and knowledgeable of the procedures [R] Personnel consistently follow the procedures [R]						
☐ Ti ar	ne quality and ef e made [R]	fectivenes	sociated with this activity [R] is of this activity are periodically evaluated and appropr	iate im	prover	nents	
	ory References:	None					
<b>Guidan</b> NIST SE	ce References: 800-61 Compu	ter Securit	y Incident Handling Guide [Grance 2004]				
[p 3-13, it is imported informat The incide sensitive that may	ortant to immedident response teation. [] dent response teatinformation—finance have performed	as an incidiately start am should am should for example I inappropri	lent response team suspects that an incident is occurring recording all facts regarding the incident. [] maintain records about the status of incidents, along with take care to safeguard data related to incidents because e, data on exploited vulnerabilities, recent security break riate actions. To reduce the risk of sensitive information	ith other	er perting n containd user	nent nins	
			sure that access to incident data is restricted properly."	J			

**Internal Organization References:** 

SOFTWARE ENGINEERING INSTITUTE | 95

#### 3.2 Incident Response

#### 3.2.1 Is there an event/incident handling capability?

Having an effective event/incident handling capability means the appropriate people, processes, and techniques are in place and established to support the activity. The event/incident handling capability in this metric addresses the basic aspects for incident management: for example, handling events and incidents that incident management personnel find and that constituents report; 24x7 capability of some kind; communication and coordination of incident response; appropriate escalation of events and incidents; and optional on-site support to constituents.

**Not applicable** – To have an incident management capability of any depth, this function will always be applicable to someone or some group in the organization, even if it is not a CSIRT. Therefore, Not Applicable is not an option.

**Impact statement** – Any organization that has networked systems connected to the internet must be able to handle events and incidents—even if the service is outsourced to a third party. Such a capability will enable the organization to understand the types of probes, threats, events, and incidents that affect the organization's overall "wellness"; without such a capability, the risk to the business, products, services, financial situations, and trust can all be affected.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – The goal of this question is to assess whether the organization can provide adequate incident management services. This is a Priority I function and the question can only have a Yes or No answer.

- The [Yes] answer can be achieved only if all of the required [R] indicators are met. This is a complex question and there are many ways some of the activity indicators could be met. Additional guidance is as follows.
  - A 24x7 capability does not require a full-time physical presence. Incident management staff should be available and accessible—on call—if the need arises. Staff can be contacted via pager, mobile phone, email, etc. There could be assigned shifts. All personnel must understand the types and scope of support and how to contact people during various shifts. In addition, there should be criteria for triggering different levels of support (e.g., when people need to report to work off-shift). Roles and responsibilities, minimal response times, and management of shift changes should be defined.
  - Criteria or procedures for escalation should define how and when to escalate, to whom, and any required approvals.
  - On-site support can be provided in a variety of ways, including remote monitoring with telephone support, sending personnel to a different building, or traveling to a different geographic facility. Constituents must know the nature of the support, the circumstances for getting it, and the applicable timeframes (e.g., two days for traveling across the country).
  - The mechanism used to support event/incident handling can be simple or complex (e.g., email folders, separate files, spreadsheet, automated tool or database, or customized software) but it does need to meet the organization's needs, be appropriately managed

and controlled (like any other critical application or tool), and be able to scale up or adapt to changing conditions. The mechanism should

- o provide reports such as incident type/category/severity, incident activity summary, events/incidents, affected sites list, action lists, administrative statistics
- o retain event/incident data, at a minimum, as required by the organization for incident reporting
- o be documented in up-to-date user guides
- o have sufficient backup capability, including its data content
- o be easily used and adapted to changing requirements, threats, or increased events/incidents
- be consistent, reliable, interoperable (e.g., can import/export data internally and externally from organization), and available (backups for data and software, offsite data centers, swaps, etc.)
- be developed, documented, and maintained per the organization's software/system development life cycle requirements with full hardware/software support for maintenance available

**Improvement** – There are some non-required indicators for this function that can be considered indicators for improved or higher quality service. They have to do with either quality assurance of the incident handling products or gathering feedback from constituents and other parts of the organization on the quality of the incident handling activities. Gathering and acting upon such information is essential to maintaining high levels of constituent satisfaction and continuing to maintain and improve the security posture of the organization. This activity can be done without such information, but without feedback incident management personnel run the risk of eventually failing in their duty to their constituents and the organization.

			Incident Management Capability Metrics		
3.2 In	ciden	t Response			
3.2.1	l Is	there an ever	nt/incident handling capability?	Prio	rity I
No	ot	Not		Y	N
obse	rved	applicable	<ul> <li>There is an event/incident handling capability.</li> </ul>		11
			There is an event incident handling capability.		
Duomo	quisit				<u> </u>
	CSIR Clear informevent - I	T has current ly documented mation when, a s/incidents [R f constituents esponse activi	or other parts of the organization are responsible for some or all of ties, there are defined roles and responsibilities (e.g., SLAs, MOUS	the incides, email)	dent
		mented guidel	lines, thresholds, or criteria for when to escalate events/incidents ex	ist [R]	
Cont					
	- p	provided service			
			riteria and limitations		
			roles and responsibilities 24x7 support, special instructions for critical systems, and response	tima aa	volc
			st the category/severity of threat/incident	time go	ais
			opriately trained on the procedures, technology, and tools used in the	is activi	tv
_	[R]	inici are appre	oprimery trained on the procedures, teenhology, and tools used in the	is activi	ty
		tituents are pro	ovided with documentation that outlines incident handling services	(eg ir	1
_			web page announcement, etc.) [R]	(0.8.,	-
Activ		, ,	1 2 , , , , , ,		
	•	vent/incident r	reports are reviewed and a decision is made about how to respond [	R]	
	All e	vents/incidents	s reported by constituents are responded to or at least those that have	e been	
	ident	ified as possib	ly affecting constituent systems [R]		
	Even	t/incident resp	onses are escalated as required [R]		
			ctivities are coordinated with constituents or other parts of the orga	nization	as
	neede				
			incident response is provided		
		Mechanisms			
			ek incidents and support the response process appropriate to the		
			of organization events/incidents [R]		
u			port transition of current activities across shift changes, e.g., status	boards,	
		off reports, et		. 4: £ 4: .	
			information for all POCs and alternates (for CSIRT staff, SMEs, no ISOs etc.) for all shifts, critical information/systems, constituted		
			es, ISOs, etc.) for all shifts, critical information/systems, constituent handling activities [R]	ns, omei	IS
		cit for on-site			
			communication mechanisms such as phone or email) [R]		
Artifa		sites (or other	communication mechanisms such as phone of chair) [K]		
		le event and i	ncident reports [R]		
			or escalated events/incidents log showing timeframes were met		
			erated by tools		
		entry pages or			
			s from on-site support		

Incident Management Capability Metrics	
Quality:	
	Personnel are aware of, knowledgeable of, and consistently follow the procedures, technology, and
	processes [R]
	Constituency understands the nature of the services provided and their responsibilities
	Other parts of the organization understand their roles and responsibilities
	There is a process and criteria (such as timeliness, accuracy, completeness, and usefulness of the
	response) for evaluating the quality of performance and artifacts associated with this activity [R]
	The quality and effectiveness of this activity are periodically evaluated and appropriate
	improvements are made [R]

#### **Regulatory References:**

FISMA Sec 3544(b)(7) [OLRC 2003]

3544 "(b) AGENCY PROGRAM—Each agency shall develop, document, and implement an agency-wide information security program [...] to provide information security for the information and information systems that support the operations and assets of the agency [...] that includes—[...]

"(7) procedures for detecting, reporting, and responding to security incidents [...]"

OMB Cir A-130 App III Sec A.3.a.2)d) Incident Response Capability

"Ensure that there is a capability to provide help to users when a security incident occurs in the system and to share information concerning common vulnerabilities and threats. This capability shall share information with other organizations, consistent with NIST coordination, and should assist the agency in pursuing appropriate legal action, consistent with Department of Justice guidance."

#### **Guidance References:**

NIST SP 800-61 Computer Security Incident Handling Guide [Grance 2004]

Sec 2.2 Need for Incident Response

[p 2-2] "Incident response has become necessary [...] Federal departments and agencies must comply with law, regulations, and policy directing a coordinated, effective defense against information security threats."

Sec 2.4 Incident Response Team Structure

[p 2-8] "An incident response team should be available for contact by anyone who discovers or suspects that an incident involving the organization has occurred."

Sec 2.6 Recommendations

[p 2-15] "Establish a formal incident response capability. Organizations should be prepared to respond quickly and effectively when computer security defenses are breached. FISMA requires Federal agencies to establish incident response capabilities."

### 3.2.2 Is there an operations log or record of daily operational activity?

This function focuses on whether a CSIRT (or incident management personnel) tracks and records the current state of operations and activities on a daily basis. While an operations log is one commonly used method of recording such information, other mechanisms may include blogs, instant messaging, bulletin boards, or white boards. This is an essential part of managing activities across time shifts, passing down information to incoming personnel, or enabling people to coordinate and communicate, particularly for those incidents that involve weeks or even months of activity. Information in operations logs can include data or status on events/incidents that are open, closed, or unresolved, current advisories and alerts, current IDS data, and so on.

**Not applicable** – Depending upon the nature of the 24x7 incident management support and the complexity and capability of incident management personnel's knowledge bases, some type of information capture should exist. If this function is deemed not applicable, documentation on the rationale should be captured.

**Impact statement** – Without such a daily record, there is no way to adequately assess incident management activities that occur.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – The goal of satisfactorily answering this question is to show that incident management personnel have a well-maintained, complete operations log. Partial satisfaction would be an incomplete log. The scoring guidance is as follows:

- The [Yes] answer for this question can be achieved only if all of the required [R] indicators are met. Remember that the operations log can be as simple as a paper-based log book, but it should be available for viewing.
- The [Partial] grade for this question can be achieved if all of the required [R] indicators are met BUT a review of the operations log shows it is not complete or has incorrect entries—an indication that procedures are not being followed and that the log is probably not being reviewed for correctness.

**Improvement** – The other non-required indicators relate to the quality improvements that can be achieved if metrics or quantifiable criteria for quality exist and are used to measure the effectiveness and usefulness of the operations log. Another optional indicator that the evaluator can observe is the actual shift change to determine if procedures are being followed.

		Inc	ident Management Capability Metrics			
3.2.2	2.2 Is there an operations log or record of daily operational activity?				Priority II	
Not observ	Not applicab	Yes	There is an operations log. Entries are up to date and complete.	Y P		N
		Partial	<ul> <li>There is an operations log, but entries are missing or incomplete.</li> </ul>			
Portial • There is an operations log, but entries are		t that as, that as, the tand allow ation anner with				
	tory Reference					
	ce References		**			
interna	l Organizatio	n Keierences	) <b>:</b>			

# 3.2.3 Is information on all events/incidents collected and retained in support of future analytical efforts and situational awareness?

This function focuses on whether the right set of information on events and incidents is collected and retained to support analysis and situational awareness. Events are included here as some incidents are only declared after review of different events yields a pattern of activity or behavior that indicates an incident.

Not applicable – If a CSIRT is not the central repository of event/incident information and no other group is acting in this capacity, this function is Not Applicable. However, this does leave the organization vulnerable to future incidents that may have been prevented had someone been able to analyze all of the data, improve situational awareness, and conduct the "low and slow" types of analyses that identify the more subtle forms of attacks.

**Impact statement** – This type of analysis can be essential for identifying "low and slow" attacks and managing such incidents.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – The goal of satisfactorily answering this question is to show that the organization maintains information on all events and incidents (not just a select few and not just incidents). This is a priority II function.

- The [Yes] answer for this question can be achieved only if all of the required [R] indicators are met.
- The [Partial] grade for this question can be achieved if the required [R] indicators are largely met, but not all of the information for an event or incident, or not for all of the event/incidents, is collected and retained. For example, an organization that only retains incident data could get a partial score, as could a CSIRT that retains both event and incident data, but only for a portion of the organization.

**Improvement** – Encryption is an improvement for retaining information and would help meet other metrics associated with maintaining confidentiality of sensitive information. Tracking retention rates to ensure guidelines are met would be another improvement. Implementing automated tools that help in correlation of data and analysis would also be improvements.

		Inc	ident Management Capability Metrics			
3.2.3			ents/incidents collected and retained in support of and situational awareness?	Pı	riority	II
Not observed	Not applicable	Yes	<ul> <li>Information on all events/incidents is maintained for future analytical efforts and situational awareness.</li> </ul>	Y	P	N
		Partial	<ul> <li>Some information is maintained on some events/incidents.</li> </ul>			J
reduction reduct	one  plicy exists statin levant organizati ocedures for eve uidelines/proced ta exist [R] ersonnel are appr  ata is retained fo ing Mechanism epository – soft a acryption technic s ample records from ersonnel are awar eriodic review of eriodic review of the equality and ef- lequacy of securi- ade [R]	onal requirent/incident ures for secondarially to r a period of s und/or hard ques to stor om the report re of, know secure rep retained re and criteria fectiveness	ired period of retention for events and incidents, with rements or guidelines [R] t data collection and retention exist [R] cure handling, storage, transmission, and destruction or rained on the procedures and relevant technology [R] of at least one year or in accordance with organizational l copy – of event/incident data [R] re data in the repository ository [R]  vledgeable of, and consistently follow the procedures [ ository for adequacy of security occurs ecords occurs to verify timeframes are followed a for evaluating the quality of performance and artifact s of this activity (including verification of retention time epository ) are periodically evaluated and appropriate in	f event al guide R] ts associ	/incide	nt [R] with
General I			ormation Technology Operations and Management Re	cords [	NARA	
"Destroy [indirect] FISMA S 3544 "(b informati "(7) prod "(C) not	/delete three year 	rs after all C)(i) [OLRO OGRAM— gram [] the sting, report lting with,	lling, Reporting and Follow-up Records. necessary follow-up actions have been completed."  C 2003] -Each agency shall develop, document, and implement hat includes— [] -ting, and responding to security incidents [] including as appropriate— relevant Offices of Inspector General"	•	•	ide

# **Guidance References:**

NIST SP 800-61 Computer Security Incident Handling Guide [Grance 2004]

Sec 3.2.5 Incident Documentation

[p 3-13, 3-14] "As soon as an incident response team suspects that an incident is occurring or has occurred, it is important to immediately start recording all facts regarding the incident. [...]

The incident response team should maintain records about the status of incidents, along with other pertinent information. [...]"
Sec 3.4.2 Using Collected Incident Data

[p 3-23] "Over time, the collected incident data should be useful in several capacities. [...] A study of incident characteristics may indicate systemic security weaknesses and threats, as well as changed in incident trends."

# 3.2.4 Is relevant information on all events/incidents collected and retained in support of law enforcement investigations?

This function focuses on whether the right set of information on events and incidents is collected and retained to support law enforcement investigations. Retention of event/incident information can support law enforcement investigations that could lead to successful prosecution of criminal activities. The ability to reference data collection and analysis that can be accepted in a court of law is critical to success in such organizations. Without such information, the organization cannot prosecute because there is insufficient data or it is corrupted and inconclusive.

**Not applicable** – This function should never be considered "not applicable" to an organization or a CSIRT. However, if an organization regards this as Not Applicable, there must be supporting policy documentation stating that the organization chooses not to support law enforcement investigations relating to events and incidents.

**Impact statement** – Properly collected and retained information is an essential part of criminal prosecution.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – The goal of satisfactorily answering this question is to show that the organization maintains information on all events and incidents (not just a select few and not just incidents) in a forensically sound manner. This is a Priority I function and the question can only have a Yes or No answer.

• The [Yes] answer can be achieved if all of the required [R] indicators have been met. Note that in the absence of specific guidance from local law enforcement, the organization may have to make its best, educated guess or find guidance from its legal representatives on chain-of-evidence and other law enforcement requirements. The evaluator may need to use some judgment to determine if an organization has done all that it can to create a reasonable set of policies, procedures, and guidelines to meet this function.

**Improvement** – Documentation from law enforcement that describes its information requirements would serve as an excellent reference, but it may not always be available. Using encryption can be one means of maintaining confidentiality and integrity. As the time required to retain information in support of legal matters can be quite lengthy, actually verifying this is being done correctly may be critical to supporting the chain of evidence.

			Incident Management Capability Metrics		
3.2.4	4		formation on all events/incidents collected and retained in w enforcement investigations?	Prior	rity I
No obser		Not applicable	Information on all events/incidents is maintained for law enforcement/criminal investigation efforts.	Y	N
			emorcement/eminial investigation enorts.	J	J
Prere					
Cont	Non	e			
		cv exists statii	ng the required period of retention for events and incidents, with referen	nce to	the
_			rement guidelines [R]	nee to	tiic
			dures exist for		
			at data collection and retention [R]		
			ng, storage, transmission, and destruction of event/incident data [R]		
			propriately trained on the procedures and relevant technology [R]		
Activ		omer are app	reprimerly manifest on the procedures what rote that technicies, [11]		
		a is retained fo	or a period of at least one year or in accordance with organization and la	aw	
		rcement guid			
			of secure repository for adequacy of security are conducted		
			llected in a forensically sound manner to support law enforcement		
Supp		g Mechanism			
			packup) – soft and/or hard copy – of event/incident data is used that sup	ports	
			requirements [R]	1	
			ques used to store data in the repository		
Artifa	acts				
	Rec	ords from the	repository [R]		
		uments or inp irements	out from local law enforcement on what information is needed and other	r	
Quali					
		onnel are awa	are of, knowledgeable of, and consistently follow the procedures [R]		
	The	re is a process	s and criteria for evaluating the quality of performance and artifacts asso	ociate	d
	with	this activity	[R]		
	The	quality and et	ffectiveness (such as adherence to retention timeframes and appropriate	eness o	of
	prot	ection measur	res) of this activity are periodically evaluated (and appropriate improved	ments	are
	mad	e [R]			
Regu	lator	y References:	:		
		ecords Schedu	ile 24 — Information Technology Operations and Management Records	[NAI	RA
2003]					
			cident Handling, Reporting and Follow-up Records.		
		elete three year	ars after all necessary follow-up actions have been completed."		
[indir					
			C)(i) [OLRC 2003]		
			OGRAM—Each agency shall develop, document, and implement an ag	gency-	wide
			gram [] that includes— []		
			cting, reporting, and responding to security incidents [] including—	[]	
			ulting with, as appropriate—		
"(i) l	aw en	forcement ag	encies and relevant Offices of Inspector General"		

#### **Guidance References:**

NIST SP 800-61 Computer Security Incident Handling Guide [Grance 2004]

Sec 2.3.2.2 Law Enforcement

[p 2-5] "The incident response team should become acquainted with its various law enforcement representatives before an incident occurs to discuss [...] what evidence should be collected, an how it should be collected."

Sec 3.2.5 Incident Documentation

[p 3-13] "Information of this nature can also be used as evidence in a court of law if legal prosecution is pursued."

Sec 3.3.2 Evidence Gathering and Handling

[p 3-18] "[...] it is important to clearly document how all evidence, including compromised systems, has been preserved. Evidence should be collected according to procedures that meet all applicable laws and regulations, developed from previous discussions with legal staff and appropriate law enforcement agencies, so that it should be admissible in court. In addition, evidence should be accounted for at all times; whenever evidence is transferred from person to person, chain of custody forms should detail the transfer and include each party's signature. A detailed log should be kept for all evidence [...]" Sec 3.4.3 Evidence Retention

[p 3-25] "**Prosecution**. If it is possible that the attacker will be prosecuted, evidence may need to be retained until all legal actions have been completed. In some cases, this may take several years. Furthermore, evidence that seems insignificant now may become more important in the future. For example, if an attacker is able to use knowledge gathered in one attack to perform a more severe attack later, evidence from the first attack may be key to explaining how the second attack was accomplished. **Data Retention**. Most organizations have data retention policies that state how long certain types of data may be kept. For example, an organization may state that email messages should be retained for only 180 days. If a disk image contains thousands of emails, the organization may not want the image to be kept for more than 180 days unless it is absolutely necessary. As discussed in Section 3.4.2, General Records Schedule (GRS) 24 specifies that incident handling records should be kept for three years."

# 3.2.5 Are general incident response guidelines, checklists, and recommended procedures distributed to constituents to encourage consistency in response methods/standards?

This function focuses on how general guidelines, checklists, and other information are provided in order for to constituents to encourage consistent response to identified incidents. To do this well, incident management personnel should not simply acquire recommended response strategies from other sources and convey them to the constituents. General guidance from other sources should always be reviewed for relevance and applicability to the organization. Organization-unique guidance should also be developed and maintained. Constituents may not be as knowledgeable as incident management personnel on the best methods for testing and installing patches, changing configurations, or implementing workarounds and other mitigation strategies.

**Not applicable** – This particular activity may not be applicable if, for example, a formal CSRT performs all of the response activities. If this function is deemed not applicable, the rationale should be documented and the evaluator should judge if the rationale is sufficient.

**Impact statement** – By providing guidelines and recommendations for taking response actions, incident management personnel can help the constituency implement a complete response in a more effective and efficient manner.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – The goal of satisfactorily answering this question is to show that up-to-date guidance and checklists are built, acquired, and maintained, and routinely distributed to constituents. A partial answer for this question could be met if the guidance is distributed periodically. Specifically, the scoring guidance is as follows:

- The [Yes] answer for this question can be achieved only if all of the required [R] indicators have been met.
- The [Partial] grade for this question can be achieved if the required indicators have been met with the exception of any of the following:
  - Guidelines, checklists and other information are distributed on a random basis that does not provide up-to-date information to constituents.
  - Guidelines, checklists, and other information is acquired from other sources and passed to constituents without review or modification (or constituents are pointed to other sources and told to find information on their own).
- If there are neither informal nor formal documented procedures, then the answer is [No].

**Improvement** – As a means of improvement to this activity, feedback from the constituents on the usefulness of the information should be gathered and analyzed. In addition, using multiple means of delivering the information is preferable to relying on a single communication mechanism. Choose the mechanism most appropriate to the nature of the information being conveyed.

		In	cident Management Capability Metrics				
3.2.5	Are general incident response guidelines, checklists, and recommended procedures distributed to constituents to encourage consistency in response methods/standards?				Priority II		
Not observed	Not applicable	Yes	<ul> <li>Current incident response guidelines, checklists, and recommended procedures consistent with federal/organization requirements are maintained and provided to constituents.</li> </ul>	Y	P	N	
		Partial	There is limited distribution of incident response guidelines, checklists, and recommended procedures on a random basis.				
Activity  Roc Artifacts  Supporti  Supporti  Supporti  Supporti  Value State  Preserved State  The state  Regulator  Guidance  [indirect]  NIST SP	outine and as ne amediate distribing Mechanism vailability of introduced and transport of the constituency und sponsibilities for the constituent use of the con	eeded revieution of up is formation of ining classes, guideline erstands her using the figuideline and criter ffectivenes:  None  None	nes, and checklists, such as recovery procedures [R] ow to use the guidelines, checklists, and procedures and em s, checklists, and procedures is verified [R] ia for evaluating the quality of performance and artifacts of this activity are periodically evaluated and appropagate to the procedure of the procedure of the periodical services of the	wslette l are av	r, manuvare of	uals, their	
[p 3-22] (footnote computer	62] "http://csrc	e resources c.nist.gov/p T/CC also	are available on the Internet for recovering and securing publications/nistpubs/ provides links to the NIST Special provides useful documents on securing systems and recovering systems.	al Publ	ication		
	Organization 1						

# 3.2.6 Are trusted relationships maintained with internal organizational experts who can give technical and non-technical advice and information?

This function focuses on the trusted relationships between those performing incident management activities and other experts or contacts within the organization who can provide assistance not only with technical aspects of incident management but also with non-technical aspects, such as public relations, legal issues, and human resources issues. This is a subjective question, but an important one. Incident management personnel without trusted contacts are isolated and may be in trouble in times of need.

Not applicable – To have this function be Not Applicable, incident management personnel would have to be positive they have all of the expertise they will ever need. This can be achieved in some strongly organized, distributed teams that are activated only when needed, in the unlikely case that they have achieved excellent planning and done a spectacular job of identifying all the experts, making them ad hoc or distributed members, training them on how to work as an ad hoc team, and keeping their membership information up to date. Selecting Not Applicable for this function must be accompanied by documented rationale. Again, the evaluator should use careful judgment to determine if this function is truly not applicable.

**Impact statement** – An incident management staff will be better positioned to quickly respond to situations that arise if it can 1) securely and effectively coordinate, collaborate, and exchange information with internal experts on a regular basis without error or misunderstanding and 2) call upon knowledgeable and trusted "gurus" for added expertise.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – The goal of satisfactorily answering this question is to show that incident management personnel not only has contacts with internal experts, but also trusts them, and keeps their contact information current to ensure rapid connections when their assistance is required. Keep in mind the subjectivity of this question (and its companion question for external experts in Function Table 3.2.7). The evaluator will have to judge if the indicators are met. The scoring guidance is as follows:

- The [Yes] answer for this question can be achieved if all of the required [R] indicators have been met. This is, in particular, the place where the evaluator must judge whether there is sufficient evidence that this function is being performed. Depending upon the nature of "trust" within the organization, there may be none of these artifacts or different artifacts to assess.
  - Also note that "contacted or worked with all of the POCs" means specifically checking to see that there are no *untested* POCs (someone who may once have been trusted by a former incident management staff member but has never been contacted by the current incident management personnel) or that the POCs are not *referrals*, meaning another trusted expert passed the name along but that person has not yet been verified.
- The [Partial] grade for this question can be achieved if the organization has started building
  trusted relationships and has started on the required indicators (i.e., has some of the policies,
  procedures, training, mechanisms, and POCs) in place to create and sustain the relationships.

**Improvements** – Developing a matrix of skills, knowledge, and people with their contact information could be an improvement to the internal processes.

Incident Management Capability Metrics			
3.2.6 Are trusted relationships maintained with internal organizational experts who can give technical and non-technical advice and information?	Pri	iority 1	IV
observed applicable experts who can assist are maintained.	Y P		N
Partial • A list of internal experts is being compiled.			
Prerequisites  □ None  Control  □ Documented policy exists for working with organization experts, including representa human resources, public relations, legal department, etc. [R]  □ Documented process exists for contacting and working with organization experts [R]  □ Personnel are appropriately trained on the procedures and relevant technology [R]  Activity  □ Personnel are aware and knowledgeable of the POC list and have contacted and worke POCs [R]  Supporting Mechanisms  □ Mechanisms to continue to develop trusted relationships (meetings, working groups, to exchanges, MOU/SLAs, etc.) [R]  Artifacts  □ Up-to-date POC list for trusted organization experts with phone numbers, email address contact information [R]  Minutes, records, actions, etc. of joint meetings, attendance at conferences or meetings exchanges  □ MOU/MOA/SLAs with organization experts that define nature of the relationship and Quality  □ Personnel are aware of, knowledgeable of, and consistently follow the procedures [R]  □ There is a process and criteria for evaluating the quality of performance and artifacts a this activity [R]  □ The quality and effectiveness of this activity are periodically evaluated and appropriate are made [R]  Regulatory References: None  Guidance References:  NIST SP 800-61 Computer Security Incident Handling Guide [Grance 2004]  Sec 2.4.4 Dependencies Within Organizations  [p 2-13] "It is important to identify other groups within the organization that may be needed relies on the expertise, judgment, and abilities of others, including—[] Management [] Security [] Telecommunications [] IT Support [] Legal Department [] Public Affair Relations [] Human Resources [] Business Continuity Planning [] Physical Security a Management []"	techn esses, gs, inf d resp assoc tte imp	and of formationsibility interests and or sibility interests articipal ponse in mation different mation diff	ther tion lities with ments te in team n ia

# 3.2.7 Have trusted relationships been developed with other external experts (CERT/CC, FIRST, vendors, other entities, etc.)?

This function focuses on the trusted relationships between incident management personnel and external experts. Incident management personnel must establish and maintain trusted relationships with other experts who can provide assistance and information when needed. Trust takes time and effort to build and keep. It is not just a matter of having a name and phone number; personnel must be sure they can trust the information provided by the contact, and that contact must reciprocate that trust. This is a subjective question, but nonetheless, an important one. Incident management personnel with no one they can trust and turn to for assistance are isolated and may be in trouble in times of need.

Not applicable – It would not be advisable to not have contact points with other trusted organizations. Incident management personnel should have contacts with vendors and others external to the organization that it can call on when needed (for product support for vendor applications, anti-virus software, operating system vulnerabilities, etc.). There is no time during fast-moving incidents to try and work through approved channels to locate experts, have questions reviewed and approved, and wait for answers. If a CSIRT uses an intermediate person or group to gain access to external expertise, this metric will apply to that intermediary.

**Impact statement** – The incident management personnel can securely and effectively coordinate, collaborate, and exchange information with external experts on a regular basis without error or misunderstanding.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – The goal of satisfactorily answering this question is to show that incident management personnel not only have contacts with other external experts, but also trust them and maintain contact information to ensure rapid connections when assistance is required. Note this metric has a higher priority than the metric for trusted, internal experts because of the sensitivity of working with contacts outside the organization. Keep in mind the subjectivity of this metric (and its companion for internal experts in Function Table 3.2.6). The evaluator will have to use judgment to determine if the indicators are met. Specifically, the scoring guidance is as follows:

- The [Yes] answer for this question can be achieved if all of the required [R] indicators have been met. Note that there are no required artifacts. This is, in particular, the place where the evaluator must judge whether or not there is sufficient evidence that this function is being performed. Depending upon the nature of "trust" with external contacts, there may be none of these artifacts or different artifacts to assess.
  - Also note that "contacted all of the POCs" means specifically checking to see that there are no *untested* POCs (someone who may once have been trusted by a former incident management staff member but has never been contacted by the current staff) or that the POCs are not *referrals*, meaning another trusted expert passed the name along but that person has not yet been verified.
- The [Partial] grade for this question can be achieved if the organization has started building trusted relationships and has started putting the required indicators (i.e., has some of the policies, procedures, training, mechanisms, and POCs) into place to create and sustain the relationships.

**Improvements** – Establishing formal relationships with non-disclosure agreements is an improvement that can pave the way for very frank and open communications. Such relationships will expand the base of experts that can be called upon to assist with analysis, correlation, guidance, and other useful information that the IMC needs.

			In	cident Management Capability Metrics			
3.2.7				nips been developed with other external experts ndors, other entities, etc.)?	Pr	iority l	III
No obser		Not applicable	Yes	<ul> <li>The team has established trusted relationships with other experts (CERT/CC, FIRST, vendors, other entities, etc.).</li> </ul>	Y	P □	N
			Partial	<ul> <li>The team has identified experts and has begun establishing trusted relationships.</li> </ul>		]	
Prere					l		l
Contr	Non	e					
		umented polic	ev for wor	king with external groups and experts exists [R]			
				st for vetting new contacts, establishing trust, and work	ing wi	th exte	rnal
	expe						
				other documentation exists between both that define the	e natur	e of the	•
		ionships and		L 3			
Activi		onnei are app	горгіацету	trained in the procedures for vetting new relationships			
	•	onnel have co	ntacted al	l of the external experts and are familiar with those exp	erts [R	1	
		g Mechanism		of the external experts and are laminar with those exp	orts [re	J	
				ted technical experts with phone numbers, email address	ses, an	d other	r
		act information					
				develop trusted relationships (meetings, working group	s, techi	nical	
		anges, confer					
		of contacts w	ith whom	trusted relationships need to be established or re-establ	ished		
Artifa		utes records	actions et	tc. of joint meetings, attendance at conferences or meet	noc in	format	ion
"		anges	actions, ci	ic. of joint meetings, attendance at conferences of meetings	ings, in	Tormat	1011
			rsonnel es	tablishing or working with trusted contact (e.g., exchan	ging P	GP/Gn	uPG
				a new contact)			
Quali							
				wledgeable of, and consistently follow the procedures [		1	*.4
			and criter	ia for evaluating the quality of performance and artifac	ts asso	ciated v	with
		activity [R]	ffectivenes	ss of this activity are periodically evaluated and appropriate	riate in	nrover	nents
		nade [R]	i i coti vene.	ss of this detivity are periodically evaluated and appropri	iate iii	ipiovei	iiciits
Regul		y References:	: None				
[indire							
		e 3544(b)(7)(l					
				-Each agency shall develop, document, and implement	an age	ency-w	ide
				that includes—[]	na F	1	
				orting, and responding to security incidents [] including the Federal information security incident center referrors.			n
\ /	_	CERT]"	4111115 WILL	i die 1 ederal information security incident center referit	CG 10 II.	300110	11

# **Guidance References:**

NIST SP 800-61 Computer Security Incident Handling Guide [Grance 2004]

Sec 2.3.2.4 Other Outside Parties

[p 2-7, 2-8] "[...] an organization may want to discuss incidents with several other groups, including—The Organization's ISP [...]

Software Vendors [...]

Other Incident Response Teams [...]

It is highly recommended that the incident response team discuss with its public affairs office and legal department the circumstances under which each type of external organization can be contacted and the kind of information that can be provided. These procedures should be written, and all incident response team members should follow them."

#### 3.3 Incident Analysis

#### 3.3.1 Is incident analysis conducted?

This function focuses on whether the organization analyzes all available information and supporting evidence or artifacts related to computer security events and incidents to determine the extent of damage and the impact on business functions. The purpose of the analysis is to identify the scope of the incident, nature of the incident, involved parties, timeframe, relationship of the incident to other activity, and available response strategies or workarounds. Incident management personnel may use the results of vulnerability and artifact analysis to understand and provide the most complete and up-to-date analysis of what has happened on a specific system.

**Not applicable** – Since this is a core function of any incident management capability, this function will always be applicable to someone or some group in the organization, even if it is not a CSIRT. Without performing this function there would be no way to understand the scale, effect, and potential threat of malicious or suspicious activity or incidents within the constituent enterprise infrastructure. A CSIRT usually takes the lead in performing incident analysis, but it is possible that analysis is done by others in the organization with specific skills and expertise. This question should also be applied to other groups that might perform this function.

**Impact statement** – Incident analysis is the key to determining what potential threats and malicious activity are actually dangers to the organization infrastructure. Timely analysis and resulting report dissemination will alert organization stakeholders to the proper response to be taken to protect key assets and data.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – The goal of satisfactorily answering this question is to show that the organization not only understands the requirements and methodologies for performing incident analysis, but that the analysis is performed in a consistent, accurate, timely, and complete manner. This is a Priority I function and the question can only have a Yes or No answer.

- The [Yes] answer for this question can be achieved only if all of the required indicators [R] are met.
- All other combinations of indicators yield a [No] answer.

**Improvement** – There are multiple indicators in the supporting mechanisms and quality areas that identify areas for improvement. Most deal with using appropriate tools and automated analysis techniques to ensure the analysis occurs as quickly and accurately as possible. Being able to track information and analysis in a tracking system or database allows for easier correlation and searching of related events, intruder MOs, exploits, and countermeasures.

Feedback from constituents can be used to highlight areas where changes must be made to improve the process. The indictor "The percentage of recommended countermeasures or improvements that are implemented can be verified" although not required, is the ultimate evaluation of the success of this function. If countermeasures and improvements are not being made, then there is an underlying problem that must be addressed to ensure the enterprise infrastructure is adequately protected.

Incident Management Capability Metrics					
3.3 Incident Analysis					
3.3.1 Is incident analysis conducted?	Prio	rity I			
Not observed applicable Incident analysis is conducted on incidents.	Yes	No			
Prerequisites					
Defined criteria for when analyses should be conducted on incidents exists [R]					
Documented incident analysis policy and procedures exist [R]					
If performed, artifact analysis procedures stipulate the type and depth of analysis of arti	facts (I	DS			
logs, audit logs, system logs, malicious code, root kits, etc.) associated with incident(s)					
Personnel are appropriately trained on the procedures, relevant technology, and relevan					
methodologies [R]					
Activity					
Personnel conduct a level and type of analysis appropriate to the category and severity	of incid	lent			
Incident analysis reports are generated according to the procedures and archived [R]					
☐ Incident analysis reports are provided to affected constituents, and, as appropriate, sanit	ized				
information is provided to other constituents or external contacts as appropriate [R]					
Supporting Mechanisms  Tools supporting analysis of incidents [R]					
☐ Incident tracking systems [R]					
Artifact analysis tools and methodologies					
Vulnerability analysis tools and methodologies					
Artifacts					
☐ Sample incident reports from constituents [R]					
☐ Sample incident and other types of analysis reports [R]					
☐ Sample recommendations for improvements or countermeasures [R]					
Quality					
Personnel are aware of, knowledgeable of, and consistently follow the procedures, tech	nologie	es,			
and methodologies used to perform this task [R]					
Analysis reports provide recommendations/countermeasures that feed into security imp					
methods for incident management personnel and constituent system administrators/owr  There is a process and criteria (such as clarity, usefulness, applicability, and meaningfu					
evaluating the quality of performance and artifacts associated with this activity [R]					
The quality and effectiveness of this activity are periodically evaluated and appropriate					
improvements are made [R]					
The percentage of recommended countermeasures or improvements that are implement	ed can	be			
verified					
Regulatory References: None					

## **Guidance References:**

NIST SP 800-61 Computer Security Incident Handling Guide [Grance 2004]

Sec 3.2.4 Incident Analysis

[p 3-9] "[,,,] each indication should be evaluated to determine if it is legitimate."

[p 3-10] "Incident handlers are responsible for analyzing ambiguous, contradictory, and incomplete symptoms to determine what has happened. [...]

The incident response team should work quickly to analyze and validate each incident, documenting each step taken. When the team believes that an incident has occurred, the team should rapidly perform an initial analysis to determine the incident's scope, such as which networks, systems, or applications are affected; who or what originated the incident; and how the incident is occurring (e.g., what tools or attack methods are being used, what vulnerabilities are being exploited). The initial analysis should provide enough information for the team to prioritize subsequent activities, such as containment of the incident and deeper analysis of the effects of the incident. When in doubt, incident handlers should assume the worst until additional analysis indicates otherwise."

Sec 3.2.5 Incident Documentation

# 3.3.2 Is fusion analysis (analyzing data from disparate sources) to identify concerted attacks and shared vulnerabilities performed?

Attacks and other malicious activity do not often occur in isolation. To identify the true scope of an incident, impact of a vulnerability, or risk of a potential threat, many different variables must be reviewed and analyzed. This type of analysis is referred to as fusion analysis. The result of such analysis is a big-picture view of security threats within, across, and external to a site. To perform fusion analysis, an organization must look at many different, disparate data sources. These sources can include research on well-known attacks, incident reports, vulnerability exposures, network traffic, system and network configurations and environments, media reports, and other situational awareness data. Through examination of such variables from multiple sites and sources, a concerted attack signature can be recognized, common widespread vulnerabilities can be identified, and potential victims of targeted attacks may be predicted. Based on this information, a better understanding of the full scope and impact of malicious activity and existing vulnerabilities can be determined.

Not applicable – This is a higher level form of research, requiring access to multiple data sources and requiring specific expertise for performing the analysis. Not all organizations may have the expertise or tools to perform it. Not performing such analysis can limit the full understanding of ongoing risks and threats and could result in ineffective countermeasures and recommendations. If this type of analysis is not done by the organization then this function can be marked as "Not Applicable."

Impact statement – Fusion analysis allows a better understanding of the relationship between ongoing incidents or potential threats that can result in the identification of more effective countermeasures and remediation strategies, providing a more widespread solution to computer security problems. With this understanding, more targeted and comprehensive recommendations and countermeasures for security improvements and countermeasures can be made.

Scoring and interpretation guidance – The goal of this question is to show that the organization understands the requirements and methods for fusion analysis and that the analysis is performed in a consistent, accurate, timely, and complete manner. The function is satisfactorily performed when data from multiple disparate sources are analyzed to provide a comprehensive view of threats and risks. The scoring guidance is as follows:

- The [Yes] answer for this question can be achieved if all required [R] indicators are met.
- The [Partial] grade for this question can be achieved if
  - the organization is in the process of developing such a capability or service OR
  - fusion analysis results are occasionally used to improve the security posture of constituent infrastructure network and systems OR
  - only a small set of data from a few sources are analyzed OR
  - the organization has informal procedures for completing this task AND
    - personnel understand and follow the informal procedures consistently AND
    - recommendations for security improvements are given

**Improvement** – There are multiple indicators in the quality areas that identify areas for improvement. Most of these indicators deal with gathering feedback to determine how well the organization is performing this function and how effectively recommended solutions are applied. Gathering such data can help identify areas for improvement and better constituent satisfaction.

		In	cident Management Capability Metrics			
3.3.2			yzing data from disparate sources) to identify shared vulnerabilities performed?	Pr	iority	III
Not observe	Not applicable	Yes	<ul> <li>Fusion analysis of data from disparate sources is performed to determine connections between attacks, vulnerabilities, threats, and weaknesses, and to provide constituents with recommendations for increased or improved security.</li> </ul>			N
		Partial	<ul> <li>Data from only a few sources are analyzed.         The analysis is not comprehensive but recommendations for improved security are given.     </li> </ul>			
Prerequ		0.1				
Contro		of data, inc	idents, and vulnerabilities are available and accessible [	K]		
		on analysis	s policy and procedures exist [R]			
□ P	ersonnel are app		trained on the procedures, relevant technology, and me	thodolo	ogies []	R]
Activity						
			is routinely synthesized to determine connections between s, providing an enterprise view of threats and attacks (fi			) [D]
			generated according to the procedures and archived [R]	usion a	manysis	) [K]
			provided to appropriate technical and management personal and management perso	onnel;	sanitiz	ed
			ther external contacts as appropriate [R]			
			commendations/countermeasures that feed into security			
			ement personnel and constituent system administrators	owner	s [R]	
	ting Mechanism		lucia [D]			
	ools supporting		acking system [R]			
Artifac		illiation tr	deking system [iv]			
		wed data (i	ncident reports, vulnerability reports, system and netwo	rk con	figurat	ions,
	etwork traffic lo					
			orts identifying common problems, related attacks and s	hared		
	ulnerabilities [R]		or improvements or countermeasures [R]			
Quality		1144110115 10	or improvements of countermeasures [K]			
		are of, kno	wledgeable of, and consistently follow the procedures,	techno	logies,	and
n	nethodologies us	ed to perfo	orm this task [R]			
			ria (such as timeliness, completeness, clarity, usefulness			
			quality of performance and artifacts associated with the			
	ne quality and e	necuvenes	ss of this activity are periodically evaluated and appropr	iate im	iprover	nents
		f recomme	nded countermeasures or improvements that are impler	nented	can be	
v	erified		and the map of			
Regula	tory References	: None				

# **Guidance References: None**

[indirect]

NIST SP 800-61 Computer Security Incident Handling Guide [Grance 2004]

Sec 3.2.3 Sources of Precursors and Indications

[p 3-7] "Precursors and indications are identified using many different sources, with the most common being computer security software alerts, logs, publicly available information, and people."

Sec 3.2.4 Incident Analysis

[p 3-11] "Perform Event Correlation. Evidence of an incident may be captured in several logs. [...] Correlating events among multiple indication sources can be invaluable in validating whether a particular incident occurred, as well as rapidly consolidating the pieces of data."

#### 3.3.3 Is retrospective analysis conducted?

This function focuses on whether information and reports are analyzed from a historical perspective to provide both a comprehensive view of emerging threats and risks and an evaluation of the success of resolution strategies. Retrospective analysis can look at the actions that have been taken to manage incidents, attacks, and vulnerabilities over time and compare them to the current state to determine if those actions had positive long-term effects or successful outcomes (i.e., those problems are not recurring and were successfully mitigated). Such analysis requires looking at response times, response strategies, changes in reports over time, and changes in the security posture of the organization. The types of incidents, vulnerabilities, and attacks that have been seen overtime are also reviewed. In this case, the analysis is used to help identify high-risk areas, continuing and high-volume incidents, and emerging problem areas.

**Not applicable** – This is a higher level analysis, requiring access to historical data about incidents, attacks, vulnerabilities, actions taken, and changes in the infrastructure or environment. Performing this task can require specific skills and expertise. Not all organizations may have the expertise, historical data, or time to perform such analysis. If doing this type of analysis is not in the organization's mission then this function can be marked as "Not Applicable."

**Impact statement** – Retrospective analysis identifies ineffective resolutions that require new solutions or identifies emerging problem areas that require attention. This will provide for a better overall computer security strategy plan and implementation. It also can confirm positive actions that have strengthened the organization's ability to correct security problems.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – The goal of satisfactorily answering this question is to show that the organization not only understands the requirements and methodologies for performing retrospective analysis, but that the analysis is performed in a consistent, accurate, timely, and complete manner. The question is satisfied when the organization analyzes historical data to determine how effective resolution strategies have been and to identify areas for further improvement. The scoring guidance is as follows:

- The [Yes] answer for this question can be achieved if all required [R] indicators are met.
- The [Partial] grade for this question can be achieved if
  - the organization is in the process of developing such a capability or service OR
  - retrospective analysis is only occasionally performed OR
  - retrospective analysis results are occasionally used to improve the security posture of constituent infrastructure network and systems OR
  - the organization has informal procedures for completing this task AND
  - personnel understand and follow the informal procedures consistently

**Improvement** – There are multiple indicators in the quality areas which identify areas for improvement. Most deal with using gathered feedback to determine how well the organization is performing this function and how effectively recommended solutions are applied. Gathering such data can help identify areas for improvement to better meet constituent expectations and identify needs such as for new tools or additional training.

			In	cident Management Capability Metrics			
3.3.3	I	s retrospecti	ve analysi	s conducted?	Pr	iority	IV
No obser		Not applicable	Yes	<ul> <li>Retrospective analysis is routinely conducted.</li> </ul>	Y	P	N
	veu		Partial	<ul> <li>Retrospective analysis is occasionally conducted.</li> </ul>			
Contr	Historial Historia Hist	orical data on umented retro	spective a	vulnerabilities, and applied countermeasures is availab			
		onnel are app	ropriately	trained on the procedures, relevant technology, and me	tnodolo	ogies [1	K]
Activi	Histo cour prob	ntermeasures a lems, and trea	are routine nds [R]	ion related to incidents, attacks, vulnerabilities, and apply reviewed to determine long-term effects, outcomes,	emergi	ng	
	Retr	ospective ana	lysis repor	ts are generated according to the procedures and archive ts are provided to appropriate technical and management wided to other external contacts as appropriate [R]		onnel,	
	Anal meth	lysis reports p nods for incid	orovide recent manag	commendations/countermeasures that feed into security ement personnel and constituent system administrators/			
		g Mechanism					
		ls supporting i dent managen		ve analysis [R] ogs			
		dent tracking s nerability data		databases or access to reports/data [R]			
Artifa		ioracinity aata	.00000[11]				
	Sam			e.g., incident reports, vulnerability reports, worklogs, recures taken, etc.) [R]	comme	endatio	ns,
		ple retrospect					
				or improvements or countermeasures			
Quali	ty	-		•			
	Pers		re of, kno	uding what is timely, complete, and accurate exist [R] wledgeable of, and consistently follow the procedures, a task [R]	techno	logies,	and
	Ther	re is a process		ia for evaluating the quality of performance and artifact	ts assoc	ciated v	vith
	The			ss (including the of percentage of recommended counter			
		rovements that rovements are		emented) of this activity are periodically evaluated and	approp	riate	
Regul		y References:					
		References: 1					
[indire	-						
				y Incident Handling Guide [Grance 2004]			
		Jsing Collecte		s should produce a set of objective and subjective data i	-eaardi	na eacl	1
				ncident data should be useful in several capacities. []			1
				te systemic security weaknesses and threats, as well as			
				at back into the risk assessment process, ultimately lead			
	election and implementation of additional controls. Another good use of the data is measuring the success						

of the incident response team. If incident data is collected and stored properly, it should provide several

measures of the success (or at least the activities) of the incident response team. [...]"

#### 3.3.4 Is incident correlation performed?

This function focuses on whether activity across incidents is correlated to determine any interrelations, patterns, common intruder signatures, common targets, or common vulnerabilities being exploited. Types of information that may be correlated include: IP addresses, hostnames, ports, protocols, services, applications and operating systems, organizational sectors, site names, and business functions. Such analysis will broaden the picture of the scope and nature of the activity, identifying where activity is more widespread than originally thought and identifying relationships between malicious attacks and compromises and exploited vulnerabilities. Based on the output of the correlation, additional analyses can be done to determine what patterns of attacks are emerging and what security problems must be addressed. With this information, organizations can determine effective resolution and mitigation strategies and have an idea of all points where they must be applied.

Not applicable – Correlation of incident data is a core task of any incident handling function. It would be unlikely that this function would not be performed. If this type of analysis is not done by the organization and the organization does not use the correlation and trend analysis done by others then this function can be marked as Not Applicable.

**Impact statement** – Incident correlation broadens the view of the nature and scope of malicious activity, identifying relationships and interdependencies that can be useful in developing and implementing comprehensive solutions, ensuring more effective and efficient security strategies.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – The goal of satisfactorily answering this question is to show that the organization not only understands the requirements and methodologies for performing incident correlation and trend analysis, but that the analysis is performed in a consistent, accurate, timely, and complete manner. The question is satisfied when the organization analyzes incidents to determine interrelationships between them and emerging trends. The scoring guidance is as follows:

- The [Yes] answer for this question can be achieved if all required [R] indicators are met.
- The [Partial] grade for this question can be achieved if
  - the organization is in the process of developing such a capability or service OR
  - incident correlation is performed in a limited fashion OR
  - the organization depends upon the incident correlation conducted by other organizations or vendors OR
  - the organization has informal procedures for completing this task AND
  - personnel understand and follow the informal procedures consistently

Improvement – There are multiple indicators in the quality areas that identify areas for improvement. Most deal with using gathered feedback to determine how well the organization is performing this function and how effectively recommended solutions are applied. Gathering such data can help identify areas for improvement to better meet constituent expectations and needs. Instituting automated correlation tools in any incident tracking or logging systems may be one improvement that organizations should strive to make. Such tools can decrease the time it takes to determine interrelationships between incidents. Incidents viewed in isolation may not seem to be connected. The faster these connections are identified, the better comprehensive understanding of ongoing activity and needed response strategies will be. This will result in the implementation of better mitigation and resolution strategies.

			cident Management Capability Metrics			
3.3.4	Is incident co	rrelation ]	performed?	Priority II		
		Yes	<ul> <li>Incident correlation is performed.</li> </ul>			
Not observed	Not applicable		There is limited ability to perform incident correlation. OR	Y	P	N
		Partial	<ul> <li>Intermittent use of generic incident correlation is conducted by other organizations or vendors.</li> </ul>	]		
Activity Activity Activity Activity Arifacts Supporti Sa Supporti Sa Quality Pe Pe Pe Arifacts Arifacts Arifacts Arifacts Arifacts The	chive of event/iccess to other or occumented corrections are applethodologies for cident correlation crownel know he halysis reports a cident correlation in the commendation of the commendation of the correlation and tredent tracking is samples of incide temples of correlation and the cident tracking is samples of incide temples of correlation and the crownel are awarform this task for sonnel consister of the commendation of the commendation and the crownel are awarform this task for sonnel consister of the commendation	elation pol ropriately reperforming on is condu- s are devel ow to obtain regeneration reports a cition is prove send analysts end analysts ation and the indations for the and known and the pently follows of analysists	formation to support correlation exists [R] as for incident correlation information, if required or posicy and procedures exist [R] trained on the procedures, relevant technology, and relend this type of analysis [R] acted, or information is obtained and analysis reports are loped, as appropriate, based on correlation analysis and use analysis reports provided by other organizated according to the procedures and archived are provided to appropriate technical and management yided to other constituents if applicable [R]	evant  e devel  ions or  person  odologi  ngful r  improv  owner  ts assoc	loped [ vendo nel,  es used esults a vement s ciated v	d to are with
ard Th	e made [R] ne % of recomm	ended cou	intermeasures or improvements that are implemented ca		•	
	ory References:		are built into any incident tracking or logging system			

# **Guidance References: None**

[indirect]

NIST SP 800-61 Computer Security Incident Handling Guide [Grance 2004]

Sec 3.2.3 Sources of Precursors and Indications

[p 3-7] "Precursors and indications are identified using many different sources, with the most common being computer security software alerts, logs, publicly available information, and people."

Sec 3.2.4 Incident Analysis

[p 3-11] "Perform Event Correlation. Evidence of an incident may be captured in several logs. [...] Correlating events among multiple indication sources can be invaluable in validating whether a particular incident occurred, as well as rapidly consolidating the pieces of data."

## 3.3.5 Is forensics analysis performed on constituent systems and networks?

This function focuses on whether the organization performs the collection, preservation, documentation, and analysis of evidence from a compromised computer system to identify changes to the system and to assist in the reconstruction of events leading to the compromise. This gathering of information and evidence must be done in a way that documents a provable chain of custody that is admissible in a court of law under the rules of evidence. Tasks involved in forensic evidence collection include (but are not limited to) making a bit-image copy of the affected system's hard drive; checking for changes to the system such as new programs, files, services, and users; looking at running processes and open ports; looking for the remains of files in dynamic memory or swap and cache areas; and checking for Trojan horse programs and toolkits.

Policies and procedures in place must assure that incident management personnel are knowledgeable and trained on using analysis tools and capturing forensics evidence so as not to damage or invalidate the data. These policies and procedures should also outline how and when law enforcement is involved in the analysis. Personnel performing this function may also have to be prepared to act as expert witnesses in court proceedings if the evidence analyzed is used in a court of law to prosecute the intruder.

**Not applicable** – This is a very specialized form of analysis, requiring special tools, training, skills, and processes. An organization may not have the expertise or resources to perform such analysis. Where this is the case, and the organization does not engage an outside party to perform this function, the function can be marked as Not Applicable.

Impact statement – Forensic analysis can be used to determine the nature and extent to which a system or network has been compromised or otherwise affected. This results in a better understanding of what malicious activity occurred and what other systems or services may have been affected. Such analysis can also facilitate development and implementing of comprehensive solutions, ensuring that more effective protective strategies are put in place. This information can also be used to prosecute malicious intruders.

Scoring and interpretation guidance – The goal of satisfactorily answering this question is to show that the organization not only understands the requirements and methodologies for performing forensic analysis, but that the analysis is performed in a consistent, accurate, timely, secure, and complete manner that follows the chain of custody rules. The question is satisfied when systems and networks are analyzed to determine the exact changes that have been made and when the analysis is documented according to the rules of evidence. The scoring guidance is as follows:

- The [Yes] answer for this question can be achieved if all required [R] indicators are met.
- The [Partial] grade for this question can be achieved if
  - the organization is in the process of developing such a capability or service OR
  - forensic analysis is performed in a limited or ad hoc fashion OR
  - the organization depends upon the forensic analysis conducted by other organizations such as third-party experts, vendors, or law enforcement

**Improvement** – There are multiple indicators that identify areas for improvement. Following processes and procedures for collecting data in a forensically sound manner and conducting

analyses using similar approaches can improve how effective the incident management personnel will be in conducting response actions. (See Impact statement section above.)	

		In	cident Management Capability Metrics			
3.3.5	Is forensics an		rformed on constituent systems and networks?	Priority IV		
		Yes	<ul> <li>Forensics analysis is conducted on constituent systems or networks as required.</li> </ul>			
Not observed	Not applicable		<ul> <li>Forensics analysis is conducted in an ad hoc or inconsistent manner. OR</li> </ul>	Y	P	N
		Partial	The organization depends upon the forensics analysis conducted by other organizations such as third-party experts, vendors, or law enforcement.	_	_	
		al nd				

## **Regulatory References: None**

[indirect] (retain incident handling records for at least three years)

General Records Schedule 24 - Information Technology Operations and Management Records [NARA 2003]

7. Computer Security Incident Handling, Reporting and Follow-up Records.

"Destroy/delete 3 years after all necessary follow-up actions have been completed."

#### **Guidance References: None**

NIST SP 800-61 Computer Security Incident Handling Guide [Grance 2004]

Sec. 3.3.2 Evidence Gathering and Handling

[p 3-18] "Although the primary reason for gathering evidence during an incident is to resolve the incident, it may also be needed for legal proceedings. In such cases, it is important to clearly document how all evidence, including compromised systems, has been preserved. Evidence should be collected according to procedures that meet all applicable laws and regulations, developed from previous discussions with legal staff and appropriate law enforcement agencies, so that it should be admissible in court. In addition, evidence should be accounted for at all times; whenever evidence is transferred from person to person, chain of custody forms should detail the transfer and include each party's signature. A detailed log should be kept for all evidence [...]"

Sec 3.4.3 Evidence Retention

[p 3-25] "**Prosecution**. If it is possible that the attacker will be prosecuted, evidence may need to be retained until all legal actions have been completed. In some cases, this may take several years. Furthermore, evidence that seems insignificant now may become more important in the future. For example, if an attacker is able to use knowledge gathered in one attack to perform a more severe attack later, evidence from the first attack may be key to explaining how the second attack was accomplished.

**Data Retention**. Most organizations have data retention policies that state how long certain types of data may be kept. [...] General Records Schedule (GRS) 24 specifies that incident handling records should be kept for three years."

# 3.3.6 Do the analytical processes incorporate methods to determine the risk or threat level of a confirmed incident?

This function focuses on whether incident management personnel are able to determine, with a reasonable degree of accuracy and consistency, the level of threat or risk to the constituent systems posed by an incident. Without the ability to do this, the organization will not know if the incident is significant or be able to judge the required speed and extent of the necessary response. Being able to assess the threat or risk requires some knowledge of what systems and information are important and the defined levels of threat and risk used by the organization.

The prerequisite states that incident management personnel must have current documentation on constituent systems criticality and the assets on those systems. Without this information, risk or threat can only be evaluated abstractly.

**Not applicable** – It would be imprudent to not have this capability built into any CSIRT or incident management capability. Without a risk or threat assessment, potential damage and impact to business systems, data, and operations cannot be determined and the appropriate response at the right level of urgency will not occur. There should not be a situation where an organization does not perform this function.

**Impact statement** – Performing risk or threat assessment and analysis provides insight into the overall impact that malicious activity can cause to business systems, data, and operations. This will provide direction in responding to the most critical incidents in the most effective and efficient way possible.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – The goal of satisfactorily answering this question is to show that the organization incorporates a consistent methodology for assessing the threat and risk of a confirmed incident into any analysis performed. This is a Priority I function and the question can only have a Yes or No answer.

- The [Yes] answer can be achieved only if all of the required [R] indicators are met.
- All other combinations of indicators yield a [No] answer.

**Improvement** – There are multiple indicators in the control and quality areas that identify areas for improvement. Using gathered feedback to determine how well the organization is performing this function can help identify areas for improvement to better meet constituent expectations and needs.

Incident Management Capability Metrics					
3.3.6	Do the analytical processes incorporate methods to determine the risk or		Priority I		
Not Not applicable		<ul> <li>The analytical processes incorporate methods to determine the threat, risk, or damage an incident may impose on constituent networks.</li> </ul>	Y	N	
Proroquicitos					
	Prerequisites  ☐ Inventory of constituent critical systems, services, and data is available [R] ☐ Defined levels of risk or threat and associated levels of impact (damage) for the organization (including or accounting for business/mission risk) exist and are available [R]				
Control					
Criteria for evaluating incident severity relative to constituent assets, data, and services and					
	business operations exist [R]				
☐ P					
Current documentation of constituent system and network components is available					
Activity					
	Incident management personnel receive incident or vulnerability reports [R]				
	7 F F O				
	propagation occurring) through constituent networks [R]				
	(damage) for confirmed incidents and vulnerabilities and use this to help determine priority and				
	type of response [R]				
	Transfer of the second of the				
management, personnel and to constituents whose systems are at risk [R]					
Supporting Mechanisms					
Artifacts					
	The state of the s				
☐ Sample Incident risk or threat assessments or reports [R]					
Quality  Personnel conducting this analysis have a thorough knowledge of constituent networks to					
			w		
		risk posed by incident/threat	horra 4	ha	
n	Personnel are aware of, knowledgeable of, and consistently follow these procedures and have the needed skills and analysis abilities [R]  There is a process and criteria for evaluating the quality of performance and artifacts associated				
			sociale	u	
	vith this activity [F	ectiveness (e.g., completeness, accuracy, clarity, usefulness, and adh	aranaa	to	
		sk/threat/impact) of this activity are periodically evaluated and appro		Ю	
	mprovements are i		priate		
Regulatory References:					
FISMA Sec 3544(b)(7)(A) [OLRC 2003]					
3544 "(b) AGENCY PROGRAM—Each agency shall develop, document, and implement an agency-wide					
information security program [] to provide information security for the information and information					
systems that support the operations and assets of the agency [] that includes— []					
"(7) procedures for detecting, reporting, and responding to security incidents [] including					
"(A) mitigating risks associated with such incidents before substantial damage is done"					
· / · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					

## **Guidance References:**

NIST SP 800-61 Computer Security Incident Handling Guide [Grance 2004]

Sec 3.2.4 Incident Analysis

[p 3-10] "The incident response team should work quickly to analyze and validate each incident, documenting each step taken. When the team believes that an incident has occurred, the team should rapidly perform an initial analysis to determine the incident's scope, such as which networks, systems, or applications are affected; who or what originated the incident; and how the incident is occurring (e.g., what tools or attack methods are being used, what vulnerabilities are being exploited). The initial analysis should provide enough information for the team to prioritize subsequent activities, such as containment of the incident and deeper analysis of the effects of the incident. When in doubt, incident handlers should assume the worst until additional analysis indicates otherwise."

Sec 3.2.6 Incident Prioritization

[p 3-14, 3-15] "Prioritizing the handling of the incident is perhaps the most critical decision point in the incident handling process. Incidents should not be handled on a first-come, first-served basis as a result of resource limitations. Instead, handling should be prioritized based on two factors:

Current and Potential Technical Effect of the Incident. [...]

Criticality of the Affected Resources. [...]

Organizations should document prioritization guidelines in a format such as the sample matrix shown in Table 3-4. [...] Organizations should customize the matrix based on their own needs and their approach to identifying resource criticality"

#### SUSTAIN: SECTION 4 OF INCIDENT MANAGEMENT CAPABILITY METRICS

This process focuses on the ability of the organization to identify and implement what needs to be in place for incident management to occur in a timely and effective manner. For this to occur, there must be a defined incident management mission with supporting goals and objectives, well-defined policies and procedures, skilled staff, service definitions, technological resources, and other processes and equipment to promote the function. Also required are the supporting infrastructure, controls, supporting mechanisms, artifacts, and quality measures that enable incident management to perform its functions. In this regard, it has appropriate contracts, MOUs, and SLAs established that define roles and responsibilities, financial planning and budgeting processes to sustain operations over time, training and educational opportunities for staff, program management plans, and more.

Part of any sustainment function includes improving the overall effectiveness of the operations. This is also true in the case of a CSIRT or incident management capability. As events and incidents are handled and response is provided, any lessons learned should be captured and fed into process improvements. Additionally, any results from risk assessments or vulnerability scanning activities can also be reviewed to determine any changes needed in processes, technology, personnel skills, or other areas.

The Sustain metrics include subcategories in the following areas:

- MOU (Memorandum of Understanding), MOA (Memorandum of Agreement), LOA (Letter
  of Agreement), SLA (Service Level Agreement), and Contracts to formalize activities and
  define services provided by the CSIRT and to establish correct expectations for operations
- **Project/Program Management** to provide guidance and oversight for continued incident management operations, financial planning, business resumption, and other relevant activities
- CND Technology Development, Evaluation and Implementation looks at the ability of
  the organization to test software and analyze impacts prior to implementing in production
  networks; examines new technologies that are incorporated into the infrastructure
- Personnel focuses on ensuring there is a cadre of personnel with the required knowledge, skills, and abilities to perform the work and to continue to develop professionally in order to meet the changing needs of the constituency that it serves
- Security Administration covering physical security measures and operations security
- CND Information Systems ensures the organization utilizes a defense-in-depth approach for hardening systems and networks (data protection, monitoring, risk assessments, vulnerability scanning, patch management strategies, communications methods, etc.) used for incident management functions
- Threat Level Implementation focuses on the organization's ability to maintain and adhere to threat levels and to assist consistently with threat level issues

#### 4. Sustain

#### 4.1 MOUs and Contracts

4.1.1 Is there an incident management function or CSIRT designated by the organization head or CIO through an official appointment order?

This function assesses whether a group(s) or a CSIRT has been established as the officially designated authority for incident management functions within the organization. This helps ensure senior executive support of the incident management mission, thereby helping the organization members to understand the CSIRT's (or groups') role and authority. Such a designation can be made through an official policy statement, an executive memo, or a simple announcement. Having only a procedure that lists the CSIRT is insufficient.

**Not applicable** – Clearly designating the roles and responsibilities for incident handling will improve the overall reaction time and effort for the organization. If a CSIRT is not formally or informally appointed or recognized by its constituency it will be difficult for it to operate in a consistent and effective fashion. Because of this, it is unlikely that this metric would not be applicable. Also, if the CSIRT is not designated, another area of the organization may be given this responsibility in which case it would be evaluated against this metric.

**Impact statement** – If this function is effectively performed, accountability and responsibility for incident management is clearly designated. This will reduce confusion over who is the appropriate person to act, reduce duplicate effort by assigning roles and answerability, and streamline the processes, ensuring the right people are involved in the right way.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – The goal of satisfactorily answering this question is for all personnel within the organization to be fully cognizant of the roles and levels of authority associated with incident management, as established by the organization's senior executive management.

- The [Yes] answer for this question can be achieved only if all of the required indicators [R] are met
- The [Partial] score for this question can be achieved if
  - senior organization management considers the CSIRT or designated group to be the incident handling focal point AND
  - the designation of CSIRT/designated groups has not been formally established OR
  - the CSIRT/designated group generally acts as the organization's incident handling focal point OR
  - organization personnel generally consider the CSIRT or designated group to be the primary incident handling focal point
- The failing grade on this function results if the CSIRT or some other designated group is not in some way recognized as the focal point for organization IT security incidents.

**Improvement** – Improvements can be achieved by documenting this designation in an official written publication, memo, or policy and also by making this written designation easily accessible to the constituency. Other improvements could be achieved by building mechanisms for educating the constituency on the roles and responsibilities of incident management personnel. This might include adding such information and the corresponding appointment order or announcement to

orientation materials, incident reporting guidelines, employee handbooks, and other similar materials.										

		In	cident Management Capability Metrics			
4. Sustai	n					
4.1 MOU	s and Contrac	ets				
4.1.1			nagement function or CSIRT designated by the IO through an official appointment order?	Pı	riority	II
Not observed	Not applicable	Yes	The CSIRT has been officially designated by the organization as such in a formal order.	Υ	P	N
		Partial	<ul> <li>The CSIRT is informally recognized by the organization.</li> </ul>	]	]	_
Activity  Artifacts  Port  Support  Port  Artifacts  Word  Out	ecutive support n entity or speci- licy or other of ganization ng Mechanism licy disseminat ganizational po- sponse provider ritten artifacts f ner group/person	fic person ficial designs signification, archivalicy or oth [R] from organ n as the pr	has been designated as the incident management "lead" gnation is documented and distributed or available throuse, and retrieval mechanism her formal document designating the CSIRT or other group ization executive management that informally designation incident handling point of contact the total or of organization policy or formal declaration	ighout	the inci	
Regulate [indirect] FISMA S 3544 "(a) "(4) ensire requirem Guidance [indirect] NIST SP Sec 2.3.1 [p 2-3] "and level	sec 3544(a)(4) [ IN GENERAL Ire that the ager ents of this subce <b>References:</b> I 800-61 <i>Compu</i> Policy and Pro ] most polici s of authority; set equipment an	OLRC 200 —The header has transchapter and None  ter Securit cedure Elees include hould incl	oad of each agency shall: ined personnel sufficient to assist the agency in comply d related policies, procedures, standards, and guidelines by Incident Handling Guide [Grance 2004]	espons scate o	ibilities	

# 4.1.2 Is there a documented agreement(s) that identifies the incident management services provided to the constituency?

This function focuses on ensuring that the organization clearly sets the expectations regarding what incident management services will be provided, to whom, by whom, the associated costs, and so on. Setting these expectations early helps avoid confusion and misunderstandings later.

**Not applicable** – This function should always be applicable since having a formal or informal agreement covers all cases. The agreement, either written or informal, should exist to ensure that the CSIRT or incident management personnel and the constituency know how to interact with one another.

**Impact statement** – If this function is effectively performed, the constituency understands clearly what assistance they can obtain from incident management personnel and what timeframes and operational procedures must be met. Such agreements manage expectations of both parties, reduce confusion, and delineate how interfaces should be maintained. All of this works to improve the general incident management capability of the organization.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – The goal of satisfactorily answering this question is to delineate resource availability for handling emergencies, as well as to set expectations of the service levels.

- The [Yes] answer to this question can be achieved only if all of the required indicators [R] are met
- The [Partial] score for this question can be achieved if
  - there are implied or informal agreements between the constituency and incident management personnel detailing services provided OR
  - there is a general consensus among the constituency of the incident management services provided AND
  - these services are consistently provided by incident management personnel
- The [No] answer on this question results when there are no written or even informal agreements with the constituency detailing the incident management services.

**Improvement** – Improvements can be achieved by documenting the range and level of incident management services provided to the constituency, along with operational timeframes and deliverables, in some type of service level agreement (SLA) or other written document. This agreement should also be easily accessible by the constituency and frequently updated if changes in service levels occur. Other improvements could be achieved by building mechanisms for educating the constituency on the incident management services. This might include building such information into orientation materials, incident reporting guidelines, employee handbooks, and other similar materials.

		In	cident Management Capability Metrics				
4.1.2			agreement(s) that identifies the incident provided to the constituency?	Priority 1		II	
Not observed	Not applicable	Yes	<ul> <li>There is a documented agreement with the constituency that details the services provided.</li> </ul>	Y	P	N	
		Partial	<ul> <li>There are undocumented, informal agreements with the constituency.</li> </ul>				
A  A  The Controls  See type  [R  Activity  Pee  de  Ope  Activity  Activity	Prerequisites						
arı	rangements are	documente	contractor or organization provides incident manageme ed in the agreement with constituency	nt serv	ices, th	iese	
	ory References e References:						
[indirect] NIST SP Sec 2.5 II [p 2-14] (Ifootnote http://ww Sec 2.6 II	800-61 <i>Compu</i> ncident Respon "[] it is fairly 26] "CERT/CO w.cert.org/csirt decommendatio	ter Securit se Team Securit rare for a provides ts/services.	team to perform incident response only." a more detailed list of potential team services at				
	Organization 1						

## 4.1.3 Does the agreement with the constituent specify that the constituency will provide notification in advance of changes or planned outages to its network?

This function focuses on ensuring that incident management personnel are kept up to date about all constituent infrastructure changes. Without this information they may not be able to adequately assess the validity of a given event or incident report. Such notifications help them determine when reported behavior may have been caused by normal maintenance or configuration updates, rather than malicious intruder activity that disables part of the constituency network. This also facilitates an accurate inventory of system and network components.

Not applicable – This metric should always be applicable since having a formal or informal agreement covers all cases. The agreement, either written or informal, should exist to ensure that incident management personnel and the constituency know how to keep each other informed.

Impact statement – Through this notification incident management personnel are able to better assess the cause of any reported event or incident, decreasing the research and analysis time needed to determine the appropriate response. They are working with a full understanding of the infrastructure and can make better decisions regarding risk assessments, threat levels, and recovery strategies.

Scoring and interpretation guidance – The goal of satisfying this metric is tight configuration management of network assets and a full understanding of the status of critical systems and data.

- The [Yes] answer to this question can be achieved only if all of the required indicators [R] are met.
- The [Partial] answer to this question can be achieved if
  - verbal agreements exist between the constituency and incident management personnel to provide this notification OR
  - there is an implied understanding that the constituency will provide this notification **AND**
  - notification is consistently provided by the constituency
- The [No] answer to this question is achieved if the majority or all of the required indicators [R] are not met.

**Improvement** – Improvements can be achieved by documenting, in writing, the policies, procedures, and processes for notifying incident management personnel of any constituent infrastructure changes or outages. These documents should also be easily accessible by authorized personnel in both the constituency and the incident management capability. Other improvements could be achieved by incorporating incident management personnel into any change management system and announcements. This incorporation would be best served if incident management personnel were also able to provide input and recommendation for desired configuration changes. An automated change management system or inventory would provide an efficient tool for archiving such infrastructure changes and allow them to be easily searched and reviewed.

		In	cident Management Capability Metrics			
4.1.3			th the constituent specify that the constituency will advance of changes or planned outages to its	Priority III		III
Not observed	Not d applicable	Yes	The agreement specifies that the constituency will provide notification of changes such as configuration changes, scheduled power outages, and maintenance on critical network assets.	k Y		N
		Partial	<ul> <li>There is a verbal agreement or "understanding" with the constituents to provide this notification, but it is done correctly.</li> </ul>			]
	onstituency mai		edules and plans of network outages and changes [R] for making changes to the network [R]			
W   -   -     -	ith notification to Notification to Constituent proconstituent proconstituent proconstituent proconstituent proconstituent proceeding of advance cident management devance warning ing Mechanism derting channel of the management document and processistoric copies of cident management document is a processis activity [R]	cimelines, so CSIRT of clans for molans for molans for costem(s)) warning in ment person is given constant ment experience warning. Sprior warning in ment person	or incident management personnel inimum outage time inimum impact to operations ontinued operations in the event of maintenance failures as agreed to for normal situations ninel support during maintenance or extended outage is oncerning network changes or outages [R] issues for sending outage and change management reported systems	e agree nt imefra ts associ	redund d ment [	ant R] with
	ce References: I		s:			

### 4.2 Project/Program Management

#### 4.2.1 Is there a financial plan for incident management functions?

This function focuses on the program management efforts in planning and budgeting for future incident management requirements. The incident management arena is highly dynamic, and to be as prepared as possible, the appropriate staff, equipment, and infrastructure must exist. This includes training for staff on new attack types, incident handling and security tools, and new methods and technologies for responding to events and incidents. Without a financial plan, an organization cannot ensure continued growth or even continued daily operations for incident management. Note that where some services or functions are provided by contractors or managed service providers, there may be additional financial plans addressing each contractor. These may have specific standards and guidelines. Also note that the incident management financial plan may be part of a larger financial plan; in that case, it is important that incident management personnel have some control over what is proposed and incorporated into that larger plan.

**Not applicable** – This function should always be applicable since some part of the organization performs budget planning. If the CSIRT or designated incident management personnel do not maintain this capability, the part of the organization that does should be evaluated as it applies to planning for incident management functions.

**Impact statement** – A comprehensive financial plan will ensure that incident management personnel can meet their current obligations while planning for expansion and growth, as appropriate.

Note that ad-hoc incident management teams may not have any financial plans. This can make it extremely difficult to get approval for increased budgets, allocation of equipment and needed resources, and the like.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – The goal of satisfactorily answering this question is ensuring the continuing operational, incident management capability.

- The [Yes] answer to this question can be achieved only if all of the required indicators [R] are met.
- The [Partial] answer to this question can be achieved if
  - the organization is in the process of developing a financial plan for incident management OR
  - incident management personnel have effective input into the financial planning for its operation, but that planning is managed by another part of the organization (can they really get what they need, when they need it)
- The [No] answer to this question is achieved if the majority or all of the required indicators [R] are not met.

**Improvement** – Improvements can be achieved by providing training for those incident management personnel responsible for financial planning of various techniques for developing and meeting long-term budgeting requirements. Other improvements can be made by ensuring that all plans are in compliance with organization and other regulatory requirements. Financial plans and budgets should include funds for sustaining the overall quality of the incident management capability. To enable staff to keep pace with the changes in technology and usage,

there should be an ongoing budgeting plan for continuing education or refresher courses so that incident management personnel can continue to be effective incident handlers. In addition, where appropriate, budget plans should also include funds to provide opportunities for professional development to further enhance the team members' knowledge and abilities, keep them engaged and energized about incident management work, expand the overall capabilities of the team, and possibly to meet any requirements for certifications that may be required for certain incident management personnel.

	cident Management Capability Metrics					
anagemen	ıt					
ncial plan	for incident management functions?	Pr	iority	IV		
Yes	There is a financial plan in compliance with regulatory requirements.	Y P				
Partial	A financial plan is currently being developed.					
nent person	anel or managers determine, recommend, and control (t	o the e	xtent			
and infrastration is periodically and criterial infrastration in the image of the i	ucture plan is built [R] cally reviewed and updated (due to newly discovered n, etc.) ncial planning and budgeting techniques and methodolo ncial plan compliance regulations applicable to their or ress, spreadsheets, and/or other supporting tools In [R], including  ed labor financial plans, when applicable rganization regulatory requirements [R] juirements for minimum of 1 year (3-5 ideal) (at least annually) In a for evaluating the quality of the financial plan [R]	ogies ganiza	tion [R	]		
change (a) (a) (b) (a) (a) (b) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c	1)(B) [OLRC 2003] —Each agency shall— ctiveness of information security policies, procedures, and the plan required under section 1115 of title 31 a description et, staffing, and training, that are necessary to implement	and pra Direct on of— nt the p	or, sha [] program	in II m		
	Partial  ducts annuate the budgetar restimates and infrastration is periodic procedure and in final procedure and criteristic fectivenes.  A) and (d)(PORTING by and effectivenes and criteristic fectivenes and criteristic fectivenes and criteristic fectivenes and criteristic formance procedure and in the procedure and criteristic formance procedure and criteristic formance procedure and criteristic formance procedure and criteristic formance procedure.  C) L—The head-	There is a financial plan in compliance with regulatory requirements.  Partial  A financial plan is currently being developed.  B to budgetary requirements [R]  A is periodically reviewed and updated (due to newly discovered in procedure, etc.)  B to it is periodically reviewed and updated (due to newly discovered in procedure, etc.)  B to it is periodically planning and budgeting techniques and methodoloned in financial plan compliance regulations applicable to their or the setting process, spreadsheets, and/or other supporting tools currentation [R], including fing lests  B to cutsourced labor financial plans, when applicable ince with organization regulatory requirements [R] degetary requirements for minimum of 1 year (3-5 ideal) priodically (at least annually)  B and criteria for evaluating the quality of the financial plan [R] and criteria for evaluating the quality of the financial plan [R] ffectiveness of this activity are periodically evaluated and appropriate and criteria for evaluating the quality of the financial plan [R]  B C C C D C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	regulatory requirements.  Partial • A financial plan is currently being developed.  A financial plan is producted [R]  In estimates are periodically conducted [R]  In is periodically reviewed and updated (due to newly discovered needs in procedure, etc.)  In ead in financial plan compliance regulations applicable to their organizates are periodically reviewed and updated (due to newly discovered needs in procedure, etc.)  In ead in financial plan compliance regulations applicable to their organizates are periodically reviewed and/or other supporting tools cumentation [R], including fing sets are outsourced labor financial plans, when applicable more with organization regulatory requirements [R] degetary requirements for minimum of 1 year (3-5 ideal) riodically (at least annually)  and criteria for evaluating the quality of the financial plan [R] ffectiveness of this activity are periodically evaluated and appropriate implements of subsection (c), each agency shall—by and effectiveness of information security policies, procedures, and progets and effectiveness of information security policies, procedures, and progets and effectiveness of information security policies, procedures, and progets and effectiveness of information security policies, procedures, and progets and effectiveness of information security policies, procedures, and progets and effectiveness of information security policies, procedures, and progets and effectiveness of information security policies, procedures, and progets and effectiveness of information security policies, procedures, and progets and effectiveness of information security policies, procedures, and progets and training, that are necessary to implement the procedure processes are integrated with agency strategeness.	anagement  Inicial plan for incident management functions?  Priority  Yes  There is a financial plan in compliance with regulatory requirements.  Partial  A financial plan is currently being developed.  Incuts annual budget planning cycle  Interpretation of managers determine, recommend, and control (to the extent rebudgetary requirements [R])  estimates are periodically conducted [R] and infrastructure plan is built [R] is periodically reviewed and updated (due to newly discovered needs in equip procedure, etc.)  need in financial planning and budgeting techniques and methodologies need in financial plan compliance regulations applicable to their organization [R]  setting process, spreadsheets, and/or other supporting tools  cumentation [R], including fing  sets  er outsourced labor financial plans, when applicable  nee with organization regulatory requirements [R]  degetary requirements for minimum of 1 year (3-5 ideal)  eriodically (at least annually)  and criteria for evaluating the quality of the financial plan [R]  ffectiveness of this activity are periodically evaluated and appropriate improver (3-4)  A) and (d)(1)(B) [OLRC 2003]  PORTING—Each agency shall—  Eyy and effectiveness of information security policies, procedures, and practices gets''  NCE PLAN—  uitrements of subsection (c), each agency, in consultation with the Director, sha formance plan required under section 1115 of title 31 a description of— []  diding budget, staffing, and training, that are necessary to implement the program (b)."  C)  L—The head of each agency shall— []  mation security management processes are integrated with agency strategic and		

### **Guidance References:**

[indirect]

NIST SP 800-65 Integrating IT Security into the Capital Planning and Investment Control Process [Hash 2004]

Sec 1.1 Background

[p 1] "FISMA, the Clinger-Cohen Act, and other associated guidance and regulations, including Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Circulars A-11 and A-130, charge agencies with integrating IT security and the capital planning and investment control (CPIC) process."

# 4.2.2 Are there documented roles and responsibilities for key incident management activities throughout the organization?

This function focuses on internal organizational incident handling coordination and reporting. Incident management is the end-to-end management of any events or incidents throughout an enterprise. Participants in the protection, detection, analysis, and response processes can come from many different components of the organization. Understanding who has what roles and responsibilities for various tasks in incident management facilitates timely coordination, communication, decision-making, and problem resolution. Roles and responsibilities can be documented via an organization chart, a point-of-contact list, or some other written document. Note that this metric has a strong tie to the Interface question (0.1.1). If the interfaces are poorly defined, this function will also be difficult to meet since the actual roles and responsibilities across the organization may not be adequately defined or clarified.

**Not applicable** – This function may not be applicable if the organization is so small that it has only a few staff members and they interchangeably share the roles and responsibilities for incident management.

**Impact statement** – Knowing who is responsible for key tasks in incident management reduces confusion, streamlines communication and coordination, and ensures a comprehensive response. All of this reduces the response time, potentially limiting the damage to key assets and data from any attacks or potential threats.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – The goal of satisfactorily answering this question is to ensure that the appropriate staff members are included in incident analysis and response planning, coordination, and implementation.

- The [Yes] answer to this question can be achieved only if all of the required indicators [R] are met.
- The [Partial] answer to this question can be achieved if
  - there is an outdated organization chart OR
  - the organization chart is in the process of being built or obtained OR
  - there is a list of POCs for key elements throughout the organization OR
  - there is a general understanding of roles and responsibilities of key incident management elements throughout the organization AND
  - these elements are consistently and appropriately contacted
- The [No] answer to this question is achieved if the majority or all of the required indicators [R] are not met.

**Improvement** – Improvements can be achieved by developing an up-to-date organization chart, written charter, or workflow that identifies all parties involved in incident management and their assigned roles and responsibilities. This information should be periodically reviewed and updated to include any changes in personnel and responsibilities. Improvements can also be made by making this document easily accessible in hardcopy and electronic form and including it in training materials, orientation packets, or handbooks for those involved in incident management activities, including applicable constituent members.

4.2.2   Are there documented roles and responsibilities for key incident management activities throughout the organization?   Priority II			Inc	cident Management Capability Metrics			
Not observed applicable   Partial   * There is an organization chart, but it is outdated and inaccurate or lacks any detailed designation of roles and responsibilities.   P P N   P   P N   P   P   P N   P   P	4.2.2		cumented	roles and responsibilities for key incident	Priority II		
Prerequisites Parent organization has an organization chart [R] Controls Incident management personnel collect organizational and reporting structure for organization Activity The organization chart is adapted, as needed, to meet incident management activity needs, indicating internal reporting structures and other pertinent attributes The work and information flow for incident management activities are documented (e.g., work process flows, flowcharts, procedures, etc.) including roles and responsibilities, nature of information exchanged, and any requirements associated with the interfaces between different groups [R] Supporting Mechanisms Organization chart is up to date [R] Organization chart is up to date [R] Organization chart or another document includes descriptions of roles and responsibilities for each key position [R] Personnel are familiar with their own roles and responsibilities as well as with the internal reporting structure for other personnel they work with [R] The allocated roles and responsibilities are periodically reviewed (at least annually) for effectiveness and efficiency and improvements are made as needed [R]  Regulatory References: None Guidance References: NIST SP 800-61 Computer Security Incident Handling Guide [Grance 2004] Sec 2.4.4 and 3.2.7 Sec 2.4.4 and 3.2.7 Sec 2.4.4 and 3.2.7 Sec 2.4.4 pependencies Within Organizations [p2-13] "It is important to identify other groups within the organization that may be needed to participate in incident handling so that their cooperation can be solicited before it is needed. Every incident response team relies on the expertise, judgment, and abilities of others, including—[] Management [] Information Security [] Telecommunications [] IT Support [] Legal Department [] Public Affairs and Media Relations [] Human Resources [] Business Continuity Planning [] Physical Security and Facilities Management []				Y	P	N	
□ Parent organization has an organization chart [R]  Controls □ Incident management personnel collect organizational and reporting structure for organization Activity □ The organization chart is adapted, as needed, to meet incident management activity needs, indicating internal reporting structures and other pertinent attributes □ The work and information flow for incident management activities are documented (e.g., work process flows, flowcharts, procedures, etc.) including roles and responsibilities, nature of information exchanged, and any requirements associated with the interfaces between different groups [R]  Supporting Mechanisms □ Mechanisms to document and disseminate roles and responsibilities Artifacts □ Organization organizational chart documentation [R]  Quality □ Organization chart is up to date [R] □ Organization chart or another document includes descriptions of roles and responsibilities for each key position [R] □ Personnel are familiar with their own roles and responsibilities as well as with the internal reporting structure for other personnel they work with [R] □ The allocated roles and responsibilities are periodically reviewed (at least annually) for effectiveness and efficiency and improvements are made as needed [R]  Regulatory References: None  Guidance References: None  Guidance References: Within Organizations  [p2-13] "It is important to identify other groups within the organization that may be needed to participate in incident handling so that their cooperation can be solicited before it is needed. Every incident response team relies on the expertise, judgment, and abilities of others, including— [] Management [] Information Security [] Telecommunications [] IT Support [] Legal Department [] Public Affairs and Media Relations [] Human Resources [] Business Continuity Planning [] Physical Security and Facilities Management []"  Sec 3.2.7 Incident Notification			Partial	outdated and inaccurate or lacks any detailed			
<ul> <li>□ Organization chart or another document includes descriptions of roles and responsibilities for each key position [R]</li> <li>□ Personnel are familiar with their own roles and responsibilities as well as with the internal reporting structure for other personnel they work with [R]</li> <li>□ The allocated roles and responsibilities are periodically reviewed (at least annually) for effectiveness and efficiency and improvements are made as needed [R]</li> <li>Regulatory References: None</li> <li>Guidance References:</li> <li>NIST SP 800-61 Computer Security Incident Handling Guide [Grance 2004]</li> <li>Sec 2.4.4 and 3.2.7</li> <li>Sec 2.4.4 Dependencies Within Organizations [p2-13] "It is important to identify other groups within the organization that may be needed to participate in incident handling so that their cooperation can be solicited before it is needed. Every incident response team relies on the expertise, judgment, and abilities of others, including—[] Management [] Information Security [] Telecommunications [] IT Support [] Legal Department [] Public Affairs and Media Relations [] Human Resources [] Business Continuity Planning [] Physical Security and Facilities Management []"</li> <li>Sec 3.2.7 Incident Notification</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>□ Parent organization has an organization chart [R]</li> <li>Controls</li> <li>□ Incident management personnel collect organizational and reporting structure for organization</li> <li>Activity</li> <li>□ The organization chart is adapted, as needed, to meet incident management activity needs, indicating internal reporting structures and other pertinent attributes</li> <li>□ The work and information flow for incident management activities are documented (e.g., work process flows, flowcharts, procedures, etc.) including roles and responsibilities, nature of information exchanged, and any requirements associated with the interfaces between different groups [R]</li> <li>Supporting Mechanisms</li> <li>□ Mechanisms to document and disseminate roles and responsibilities</li> <li>Artifacts</li> <li>□ Organization organizational chart documentation [R]</li> </ul>						
Regulatory References: None  Guidance References:  NIST SP 800-61 Computer Security Incident Handling Guide [Grance 2004]  Sec 2.4.4 and 3.2.7  Sec 2.4.4 Dependencies Within Organizations  [p2-13] "It is important to identify other groups within the organization that may be needed to participate in incident handling so that their cooperation can be solicited before it is needed. Every incident response team relies on the expertise, judgment, and abilities of others, including— [] Management [] Information Security [] Telecommunications [] IT Support [] Legal Department [] Public Affairs and Media Relations [] Human Resources [] Business Continuity Planning [] Physical Security and Facilities Management []"  Sec 3.2.7 Incident Notification	□ Or ke □ Pe str □ Th	ganization char y position [R] rsonnel are fam ucture for other the allocated role	t or another tiliar with the personnel as and response	their own roles and responsibilities as well as with the inthey work with [R] onsibilities are periodically reviewed (at least annually)	nternal	report	ing
appropriate individuals within the organization and, occasionally, other organizations. Timely reporting and notification enable all those who need to be involved to play their roles. [] Incident response policies should include provisions concerning incident reporting—at a minimum, what must be reported to whom and at what times (e.g., initial notification, regular status updates)."	Regulatory References: None  Guidance References:  NIST SP 800-61 Computer Security Incident Handling Guide [Grance 2004]  Sec 2.4.4 and 3.2.7  Sec 2.4.4 Dependencies Within Organizations  [p2-13] "It is important to identify other groups within the organization that may be needed to participate in incident handling so that their cooperation can be solicited before it is needed. Every incident response team relies on the expertise, judgment, and abilities of others, including—[] Management [] Information Security [] Telecommunications [] IT Support [] Legal Department [] Public Affairs and Media Relations [] Human Resources [] Business Continuity Planning [] Physical Security and Facilities Management []"  Sec 3.2.7 Incident Notification  [p 3-16] "When an incident is analyzed and prioritized, the incident response team needs to notify the appropriate individuals within the organization and, occasionally, other organizations. Timely reporting and notification enable all those who need to be involved to play their roles. [] Incident response policies should include provisions concerning incident reporting—at a minimum, what must be reported to whom						

# 4.2.3 Is there a program management plan (workforce plan) for incident management personnel?

This function focuses principally on planning staffing needs. Many incident management teams possess a core group of individuals who provide the basic level of incident handling services. Each staff member is expected to have some minimum set of basic skills to do the work and be effective in his or her work responsibilities. For example, while it is expected that any team member is able to recognize an intruder tool found in an incident, only a subset of that staff may have the skills to analyze intruder-developed exploit tools, identify and document the impact of resulting attacks, and provide insight to the rest of the team members. Thus, it is also important for the team to include or have access to experts with in-depth understanding of the technologies that the team and the constituency use. These experts, who might be in another part of the organization, can provide technical guidance or advice; they might also provide training and mentoring to other team members. This additional level of expertise is a resource that can help to broaden and deepen the technical knowledge and capabilities of the team.

If an organization is unable to find internal experts or to hire or train staff to provide the necessary specialist skills, its members may be able to develop relationships with experts in the field to provide the necessary skills. These types of creative relationships, of course, require advance negotiation and/or trusted relationships between the incident management staff and the expert(s). These relationships can be defined in formal or informal agreements (with clearly defined requirements or expectations) that outline how the request for assistance is made, and what restrictions are placed on information that is shared. When a situation arises where in-house knowledge is not sufficient, these technical specialists can be called upon to fill the gap in expertise.

When more complex incidents are reported, teams will need to supplement or expand their basic skills to include more in-depth knowledge so that staff members can understand, analyze, and identify effective responses to reported incidents.

**Not applicable** – This function may not be applicable if the organization is so small that it has only a few staff members and no future growth is expected, or if sufficiently well-established relations with other parts of the organization exist.

**Impact statement** – An organization must have the capability to meet its provided incident management service level. If that expertise is not within the organization, some mechanism must be in place to supplement or augment that capability, such as a third-party provider. If this function is successfully performed, the organization will have the right people in place to react quickly and expertly to any event or incident that threatens the organization infrastructure.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – The goal of satisfactorily performing this function is to ensure that there are staffing resources to execute the incident management mission.

- The [Yes] answer to this question can be achieved only if all of the required indicators [R] are met.
- The [Partial] answer to this question can be achieved if
  - there is an outdated program management plan OR
  - there is program management plan currently being developed

• The [No] answer to this question is achieved if the majority or all of the required indicators [R] are not met.

**Improvement** – Improvements can be achieved by developing a written program plan that identifies current and future staffing requirements. This chart should be periodically reviewed and updated. An accurate plan can best be achieved by measuring current workloads, response times, and skill levels of personnel. Based on this information operational statistics can provide concrete support of staffing needs. Improvements can also be made by including as much detail as possible in the plan including number and type of personnel required, contractor support criteria, staffing skills and certifications required, and any security clearances needed.

		In	cident Management Capability Metrics				
4.2.3	Is there a promanagement		nagement plan (workforce plan) for incident	Pı	riority	II	
Not observed	Not applicable	Yes	<ul> <li>There is an up-to-date program management plan documenting types and number of personnel required.</li> </ul>	Y	P	N	
		Partial	<ul> <li>There is an out-of-date program management plan documenting the types and number of personnel required.</li> </ul>		ן ם   נ		
Prerequi		tandard fo	r personnel planning exists [R]				
Controls		iunaura ro	r personner planning emisso [10]				
	nere are defined	knowledg	e and skill sets for employees [R]				
Activity	4.4	. 1		, cc	,	ı	
□ Co	onstituency is po orkforce plan is Plan details the	olled for it document he number	tistics are analyzed and extrapolated to anticipate future s projected needs pertaining to incident management setted for next 1 (minimum) through 5 (ideal) years [R] and types of personnel required [R] red security clearances [R]		ig need	IS	
-	Plan includes	contracto	r support criteria, required skills, certifications, etc.				
	ing Mechanisn						
			formance data collection and analysis tools or procedure	es			
Artifacts	orkforce planni	ng and ma	nagement tools				
	orkforce plan d	ocumentat	ion [R]				
	ollected perform						
	learance docume						
			phies, certifications, and other supporting documentation	n			
			assessing performance data				
	istoric record of	past decis	sions made from performance data				
Quality	arleforas plan is	undotod o	at locat annually [D]				
			It least annually [R] extrapolated operational statistics and projected constit	uenev i	needs [	D1	
			and approved by organization management	uchcy	iccus [	IX]	
			ria for evaluating the quality of the workplan [R]				
			ss of this activity are periodically evaluated and appropriate	riate im	prover	nents	
	e made [R]						
	ory References						
	Sec 3544(d)(1)(1)						
\	) PERFORMAN		N— of subsection (c), each agency, in consultation with the	Direct	or cho	11	
			plan required under section 1115 of title 31 a description			.11	
			get, staffing, and training, that are necessary to impleme			n	
required under subsection (b)."							
[indirect]	[indirect]						
	3544(a)(1)(C)	_					
			ead of each agency shall—[]				
	esponsible for -		writer management muse agges are intermed with	. atmata	-ia 1		
	uring that informal planning pro		eurity management processes are integrated with agency	suate	gic alia		

## **Guidance References:**

[indirect]

NIST SP 800-61 Computer Security Incident Handling Guide [Grance 2004]

Sec 2.4.3 Incident Response Personnel

# 4.2.4 Is there a Quality Assurance (QA) Program to ensure quality of work and delivery for provided products and services?

This function focuses on process improvement and optimization. Having a quality assurance program in place allows the organization to gauge the success of its overall incident management capability. Ensuring that all tasks are completed effectively, that resulting products and outputs are clear, timely, and accurate, and that staff have the right skill sets and training to perform their job functions will result in an efficient organizational response capability. There may be some performance metrics and SLAs associated with key or critical services and products. These should be part of an overall quality program. Reviews of products and services can be continual (an inherent part of the work process), periodic, random, or a combination of these. A key aspect is the identification of necessary corrections and implementation of those corrections.

Note that every function in this document contains a set of quality indicators that should be incorporated into any quality assurance program as part of evaluating the quality of incident management in the organization.

**Not applicable** – Quality improvement is a key to the success of any function. If incident management personnel do not perform quality assurance testing, it should be done by another part of the organization or by an independent third party. This function will always be applicable.

**Impact statement** – Using quality reviews and incorporating feedback will improve the overall operational capability resulting in better management, faster and more effective response to threats and attacks, and ultimately, customer satisfaction.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – The goal of satisfactorily performing this function is that the organization constantly strives to improve its incident management service quality via feedback mechanisms. This is a Priority I function and the question can only have a Yes or No answer.

- The [Yes] answer to this question can be achieved only if all of the required indicators [R] are met.
- All other combinations of indicators yields a [No] answer.

**Improvement** – Improvements can be achieved by building in a process to perform quality assurance reviews or tests on a periodic and consistent basis and by using the results to improve the operation of the incident management functions. Implementing a quality assurance program successfully means that personnel know and understand management's commitment to quality and understand their role in ensuring quality. Training and mentoring in a quality culture, sharing of lessons learned from quality reviews, and rewarding high-quality behavior are all actions that can improve the overall organization incident management culture and, in turn, the overall organization incident management services.

A.2.4   Is there a Quality Assurance (QA) Program to ensure quality of work and delivery for provided products and services?   Not observed applicable   There is a Quality Assurance Program to ensure quality of work and delivery for provided products and services.   No work and delivery for provided products and services.   Prerequisites   Organization culture of measured, managed, and constant improvement and optimization exists [R]   Acceptable service levels and quality targets are established [R]   There are defined policies and procedures for reviewing products and services for quality, reporting the results, and implementing improvements [R]   Responsibility for quality assurance is assigned [R]   Defined measures for performance, timeliness, accuracy, relevance/priority, and other quality criteria are defined and documented for each activity, product, and service and for each outsourced activity [R]   Personnel are appropriately trained about the policies, procedures, and tools used to achieve and review quality in incident management products and services [R]   Quality statistics are gathered, analyzed, and reported on a periodically reviewed for adherence to applicable quality measures [R]   Quality statistics are gathered, analyzed, and reported on a periodic basis for incident management products and services [R]   QA results are used as input into improving the quality and delivery of services [R]   Quality criteria are periodically reviewed and adjusted [R]   Supporting Mechanisms   QA statistics, reports, and improvement tracking tools and mechanisms [R]   Artifacts   QA program reports or other results [R]   QA history shows steady improvement that is in line with management expectations   Personnel are periodically briefed on the importance of QA   Quality is pervasive throughout the incident management groups			Incident Management Capability Metrics						
observed applicable	4.2.4			Priority					
Prerequisites	observed	rved applicable There is a Quality Assurance Program to ensure quality of							
<ul> <li>□ There are defined policies and procedures for reviewing products and services for quality, reporting the results, and implementing improvements [R]</li> <li>□ Responsibility for quality assurance is assigned [R]</li> <li>□ Defined measures for performance, timeliness, accuracy, relevance/priority, and other quality criteria are defined and documented for each activity, product, and service and for each outsourced activity [R]</li> <li>□ Personnel are appropriately trained about the policies, procedures, and tools used to achieve and review quality in incident management products and services [R]</li> <li>Activity</li> <li>□ Incident management activities, products and services are periodically reviewed for adherence to applicable quality measures [R]</li> <li>□ Quality statistics are gathered, analyzed, and reported on a periodic basis for incident management products and services [R]</li> <li>□ QA results are used as input into improving the quality and delivery of services [R]</li> <li>□ Quality criteria are periodically reviewed and adjusted [R]</li> <li>Supporting Mechanisms</li> <li>□ QA statistics, reports, and improvement tracking tools and mechanisms [R]</li> <li>Artifacts</li> <li>□ QA program reports or other results [R]</li> <li>Quality</li> <li>□ QA reports are generated and reviewed periodically [R]</li> <li>□ QA history shows steady improvement that is in line with management expectations</li> <li>□ Personnel are periodically briefed on the importance of QA</li> </ul>	Prerequi Or Controls	sites ganization cult		n exist	s [R]				
<ul> <li>□ Personnel are appropriately trained about the policies, procedures, and tools used to achieve and review quality in incident management products and services [R]</li> <li>Activity</li> <li>□ Incident management activities, products and services are periodically reviewed for adherence to applicable quality measures [R]</li> <li>□ Quality statistics are gathered, analyzed, and reported on a periodic basis for incident management products and services [R]</li> <li>□ QA results are used as input into improving the quality and delivery of services [R]</li> <li>□ Quality criteria are periodically reviewed and adjusted [R]</li> <li>Supporting Mechanisms</li> <li>□ QA statistics, reports, and improvement tracking tools and mechanisms [R]</li> <li>Artifacts</li> <li>□ QA program reports or other results [R]</li> <li>Quality</li> <li>□ QA reports are generated and reviewed periodically [R]</li> <li>□ QA history shows steady improvement that is in line with management expectations</li> <li>□ Personnel are periodically briefed on the importance of QA</li> </ul>	☐ Ac☐ Th the ☐ Re ☐ De cri	ceptable service are defined results, and imsponsibility for fined measures are defined	policies and quality targets are established [R] policies and procedures for reviewing products and services for quality plementing improvements [R] quality assurance is assigned [R] for performance, timeliness, accuracy, relevance/priority, and other q	uality					
Activity  ☐ Incident management activities, products and services are periodically reviewed for adherence to applicable quality measures [R]  ☐ Quality statistics are gathered, analyzed, and reported on a periodic basis for incident management products and services [R]  ☐ QA results are used as input into improving the quality and delivery of services [R]  ☐ Quality criteria are periodically reviewed and adjusted [R]  Supporting Mechanisms  ☐ QA statistics, reports, and improvement tracking tools and mechanisms [R]  Artifacts  ☐ QA program reports or other results [R]  Quality  ☐ QA reports are generated and reviewed periodically [R]  ☐ QA history shows steady improvement that is in line with management expectations  ☐ Personnel are periodically briefed on the importance of QA	☐ Per	sonnel are app		ieve an	ıd				
<ul> <li>Quality statistics are gathered, analyzed, and reported on a periodic basis for incident management products and services [R]</li> <li>QA results are used as input into improving the quality and delivery of services [R]</li> <li>Quality criteria are periodically reviewed and adjusted [R]</li> <li>Supporting Mechanisms</li> <li>QA statistics, reports, and improvement tracking tools and mechanisms [R]</li> <li>Artifacts</li> <li>QA program reports or other results [R]</li> <li>Quality</li> <li>QA reports are generated and reviewed periodically [R]</li> <li>QA history shows steady improvement that is in line with management expectations</li> <li>Personnel are periodically briefed on the importance of QA</li> </ul>	Activity  Inc	ident managen	nent activities, products and services are periodically reviewed for adh	erence	to				
<ul> <li>□ QA results are used as input into improving the quality and delivery of services [R]</li> <li>□ Quality criteria are periodically reviewed and adjusted [R]</li> <li>Supporting Mechanisms</li> <li>□ QA statistics, reports, and improvement tracking tools and mechanisms [R]</li> <li>Artifacts</li> <li>□ QA program reports or other results [R]</li> <li>Quality</li> <li>□ QA reports are generated and reviewed periodically [R]</li> <li>□ QA history shows steady improvement that is in line with management expectations</li> <li>□ Personnel are periodically briefed on the importance of QA</li> </ul>	☐ Qu	ality statistics a	are gathered, analyzed, and reported on a periodic basis for incident ma	anagen	nent				
□ QA statistics, reports, and improvement tracking tools and mechanisms [R]  Artifacts □ QA program reports or other results [R]  Quality □ QA reports are generated and reviewed periodically [R] □ QA history shows steady improvement that is in line with management expectations □ Personnel are periodically briefed on the importance of QA	QA	results are use ality criteria ar	ed as input into improving the quality and delivery of services [R] e periodically reviewed and adjusted [R]						
□ QA program reports or other results [R]  Quality □ QA reports are generated and reviewed periodically [R] □ QA history shows steady improvement that is in line with management expectations □ Personnel are periodically briefed on the importance of QA		0							
Quality  ☐ QA reports are generated and reviewed periodically [R] ☐ QA history shows steady improvement that is in line with management expectations ☐ Personnel are periodically briefed on the importance of QA			4 (1)						
<ul> <li>□ QA reports are generated and reviewed periodically [R]</li> <li>□ QA history shows steady improvement that is in line with management expectations</li> <li>□ Personnel are periodically briefed on the importance of QA</li> </ul>		program repo	rts or other results [R]						
Regulatory References: None	□ QA □ QA □ Per	QA reports are generated and reviewed periodically [R] QA history shows steady improvement that is in line with management expectations Personnel are periodically briefed on the importance of QA Quality is pervasive throughout the incident management groups							

### **Guidance References:**

NIST SP 800-61 Computer Security Incident Handling Guide [Grance 2004]

Sec 3.4.2 Using Collected Incident Data

[p 3-24, 3-25] "**Objective Assessment of Each Incident**. The response to an incident that has been resolved can be analyzed to determine how effective it was."

"Subject Assessment of Each Incident. Incident response team members may be asked to assess their own performance, as well as that of other team members and of the entire team. Another valuable source of input is the owner of a resource that was attacked—to determine if the owner thinks the incident was handled efficiently and if the outcome was satisfactory.

"Besides using these metrics to measure the team's success, organizations may also find it useful to periodically audit their incident response programs. Audits will identify problems and deficiencies that can then be corrected. At a minimum, an incident response audit should evaluate the following items against applicable regulations, policies, and best practices:

- Incident response policies and procedures
- Tools and resources
- Team model and structure
- Incident handler training and education
- Incident documentation and reports
- The measures of success discussed earlier in this section."

# 4.2.5 Is there an established business resumption plan to support disaster recovery, reconstitution, and restoration efforts for incident management functions?

This function focuses on the continuity of service for incident management activities. Just like other organizational units, the incident management capability must be able to continue operations during any type of outage or disruption, even when under attack. Security and IT best practices recommend a written business resumption plan. Such a plan for incident management should include a backup site where operations can move if the primary physical location is unusable. It should also include backup and mirrored services such as DNS, mail, web services, and other communications support that are needed for daily or crisis operations. Note that the terms business resumption, continuity of operation (COOP), disaster recovery, and emergency response plans are often used interchangeably. One of these plans may exist and cover all aspects or several plans may exist to address multiple types of situations. The evaluation team needs to ask these questions carefully to determine the scope of the plans that exist and how the plans are used in supporting incident management functions.

**Not applicable** – Incidents can still occur under extreme and crisis situations, so incident management functions will necessarily also need to continue to operate. Even when there is not a specific plan for these functions, they should be part of overall organization disaster recovery and business resumption plans. This function will always be applicable.

**Impact statement** – Key service and operations must keep going in the face of a disaster. Implementing a quality business resumption plan for incident management will provide the means to be resilient during outages, attacks, or natural disasters. This ensures the security posture of the organization is consistent and not compromised during such a crisis.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – The goal of satisfactorily performing this function is that the organization has continuous incident management support during significant crises. This is a Priority I function and the question can only have a Yes or No answer.

- The [Yes] answer to this question can be achieved only if all of the required indicators [R] are met.
- All other combinations of indicators yields a [No] answer.

**Improvement** – Improvements can be achieved by having a documented process that is regularly reviewed, updated, and tested. The plans should be easily accessible and incident management personnel should be trained in how to initiate and follow the plans. The plans should provide for personnel safety first in the event of a disaster. The resumption plans should also be integrated with any organization disaster recovery and business resumption plans. The plan(s) should also be evaluated when organizational changes occur, such as reorganizations, mergers, and acquisitions.

Incid	ent Management Capability Metrics		
	ssiness resumption plan to support disaster recovery, ration efforts for incident management functions?	Prior	rity I
observed applicable recover mana	e is a documented business resumption and disaster ery plan for systems and resources supporting incident gement. This plan includes the designation of a nuity of operations (COOP) site.	Y	N
<ul><li>Mission critical incident mana identified and documented</li><li>Controls</li></ul>	management operational continuity of services [R] gement services, systems, personnel, and equipment have		
Acceptable service levels for ridentified and agreed to by org	ecovery, reconstitution, and restoration activities have bee ganization management	n	
Activity  ☐ A disaster recovery plan and C ☐ Established disaster recovery a [R] ☐ Scenario-based exercises are presumption, disaster recovery, Supporting Mechanisms	COOP site have been established [R] and business resumption plans are followed during a crisis deriodically conducted to test plans (contingency, business		aster
infrastructure, email, phone, et <b>Artifacts</b>			
A plan that addresses continui - business resumption plan	ty of operations such as [R]		
- contingency plan			
<ul><li>disaster recovery plan</li><li>emergency response plan</li></ul>			
Quality			
Plans contain provisions to co Plans are tested, improvement Plans are updated periodically Employees are familiar with the Plans provide for safety of per There is a process and criteria The quality and effectiveness improvements are made [R]			
Regulatory References: FISMA Sec 3544(b)(8) [OLRC 2003	1		
	I Each agency shall develop, document, and implement an ag	gency-	wide
	provide information security for the information and infor	mation	n
	nd assets of the agency [] that includes— continuity of operations for information systems that support	ort the	
operations and assets of the agency."			
Guidance References: None [indirect] NIST SP 800-34 Contingency Planna Internal Organization References:	ing Guide for Information Technology Systems [Swanson 2	2002]	

### 4.2.6 Is there a personnel security plan for incident management personnel?

This function indicates whether there is an overarching personnel security plan that covers such topics as background checks, qualification verification, and security clearances for those involved in incident management activities.

**Not applicable** – Constituencies require trust in the incident management personnel. They need to ensure that staff have integrity and will not put the team or organization at risk. If the incident management group or team does not perform this function, this metric should be applied to the part of the organization that does. This function should always be applicable.

**Impact statement** – Implementing a program plan that sets a level of personnel qualifications, security, and organization-required personnel clearances ensures that there are qualified, trusted personnel to do the work. This provides an environment in which staff members can successfully perform their operations, increasing the security posture of the organization.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – The goal of satisfactorily performing this function is to provide appropriately cleared/checked staffing.

- The [Yes] answer to this question can be achieved only if all of the required indicators [R] are met
- The [Partial] answer to this question can be achieved if
  - there is a program management personnel security plan that may be outdated OR
  - the organization is in the process of building such a program management or planning is underway
- The [No] answer to this question is achieved if the majority or all of the required indicators [R] are not met.

**Improvement** – Improvements can be achieved by developing a written program plan that identifies required personnel security qualifications and clearances. This plan should be periodically reviewed and updated. This plan could be integrated into the hiring policies and practices and could also be applied to contractors.

		Inc	cident Management Capability Metrics				
4.2.6	Is there a personnel security plan for incident management personnel? Priority III						
Not observed	Not	Yes	<ul> <li>There are documented personnel security policies and procedures for personnel performing incident management functions.</li> </ul>	Y	P	N	
	applicable	Partial	<ul> <li>There are practiced, but informal and undocumented personnel security policies and procedures for personnel performing incident management functions.</li> </ul>				
Prerequisites							
organization standards [R]  Artifacts  □ Documented policies and procedures on file, including [R]  - employee screening policies and procedures  - clearance requirement documentation  □ Personnel clearance records for employees as well as contractors (if appropriate)  Quality  □ Policy is reviewed at least annually and updated as needed  □ Policy is accessible to all employees  □ All or most personnel and contractors requiring clearances have been completed and are up to date (e.g., background investigations finished, no interim clearances)  □ There is a process and criteria for evaluating the quality of performance and artifacts associated with this activity [R]  □ The quality and effectiveness of this activity are periodically evaluated and appropriate improvements are made [R]  Regulatory References: None  [indirect]  FISMA Sec 3544(a)(4) [OLRC 2003]  3544 "(a) IN GENERAL—The head of each agency shall— []  "(4) ensure that the agency has trained personnel sufficient to assist the agency in complying with the							

**Guidance References: None** 

[indirect]

NIST SP 800-18 *Guide for Developing Security Plans for Information Technology Systems* [Swanson 1998] Sec 5.MA.1 Personnel Security [p 27]

## 4.2.7 Is the incident management IT infrastructure adequate to support incident management functions?

This function focuses on the IT infrastructure used to support incident management activities. This is usually a separate infrastructure where there is a specifically designated CSIRT; however, some ad hoc or smaller teams may use the organization's general infrastructure for their work and may only have a small collection of special tools or equipment. The incident management infrastructure includes

- physical location and security of incident management staff and data
- staff office and home equipment
- incident management networks, systems, and internal/external defenses such as routers, firewalls, and IDS
- incident management tools and applications to support incident handling and other provided services
  - databases, data repositories, and data analysis tools for storing incident management information
  - mechanisms or applications for secure email and voice communications

Incident management facilities and network and telecommunications infrastructure must be designed with great care to protect the sensitive data that is collected. Staff will need equipment for the various functions they perform. This might include the following:

- access to secure telephones, faxes, and any intranet, extranet, or virtual private network (VPN)
- work equipment such as telephones, office computing systems, laptops, projectors, notification systems, cellular telephones, pagers, shredding machines, and electronic whiteboards
- tools for the activities being performed including incident, artifact, vulnerability analysis and handling, and other analysis tasks (such as fusion, retrospective, or correlation)
- incident tracking systems and vulnerability databases

**Not applicable** – All organizations require the right infrastructure to perform incident management functions. This function will always be applicable; however, it is possible that the infrastructure used for incident management activities is largely or completely the same as the general constituent infrastructure.

**Impact statement** – Without appropriate tools, technologies, and security defenses, incident management personnel cannot meet the expectations of the organization or constituency they serve.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – The goal of satisfactorily performing this function is to ensure that incident management personnel have the IT infrastructure necessary to support the tasks that they are chartered to perform.

• The [Yes] answer to this question can be achieved only if all of the required indicators [R] are met.

- The [Partial] answer to this question can be achieved if
  - the organization is in the process of upgrading its incident management infrastructure AND
  - funding has been allocated

**Improvement** – Improvements can be achieved by developing an infrastructure and corresponding funding plan to ensure that incident management personnel have the tools they need, that people and data are adequately protected, and that the ability to plan for future growth and updates is realized. Other improvements can be achieved by

- implementing a certification and accreditation program for all systems and networks used by incident management personnel
- following all best security practices regarding patch management and configuration management
- putting in place the appropriate internal and external defenses such as firewalls, IDS, routers, network monitoring for the incident management infrastructure
- looking for economies of scale in purchasing
- keeping any licenses for software and hardware up to date

		Inci	ident Management Capability Metrics								
4.2.7	Is the incident incident mana	Priority II									
Not observed			<ul> <li>The incident management IT infrastructure effectively supports incident management operations.</li> </ul>	Y	P	N					
		Partial	<ul> <li>The incident management IT infrastructure is in the process of being upgraded. Funding has been allocated and upgrades ordered.</li> </ul>								
Prerequisites  ☐ None  Controls  ☐ There is a process for determining, documenting, submitting, and authorizing improvements to											
pr- Activity ☐ In- [R ☐ Im ☐ Fu ☐ Fu	<ul> <li>Incident management personnel or management determine their own IT infrastructure requirements [R]</li> <li>Improvements and upgrades are identified, planned, requested, acquired, and implemented [R]</li> <li>Funding is allocated for incident management IT infrastructure elements [R]</li> </ul>										
☐ Eq ☐ Ce ☐ Te ☐ Ha	ardware/softwar	ition proce accreditation of library v		[R]							
Lcc In In Ha	Artifacts  □ Long-term strategic development plan or upgrade plan for infrastructure [R] □ Inventory of IT infrastructure components [R] □ Hardware/software license documentation [R] □ Hardware/software lifecycle and configuration management plan [R] □ Recent operations testing results documentation □ Certification and accreditation plan documentation with historic records [R] □ Up-to-date technical reference library □ Training CDs and documentation										
Quality     Ha     Al     Co	ardware and soft Il licensing is up onfiguration man .]	tware inve to date an	ntory is up to date and accurate [R] and accurate [R] is independently reviewed and assessed periodically			ally)					
□ Al □ Th im	ll equipment cer	tifications he inciden requested	and adhere to the lifecycle and configuration manage and accreditations are up-to-date [R] t management IT infrastructure is periodically review [R]								

### **Guidance References: None**

[indirect]

NIST SP 800-37 Guide for the Security Certification and Accreditation of Federal Information Systems [Ross 2004]

NIST SP 800-61 Computer Security Incident Handling Guide [Grance 2004]

Sec 3.1.1 Preparing to Handle Incidents [p 3-2] Table 3-1 Tools and Resources for Incident Handlers

### 4.3 CND Technology Development, Evaluation, and Implementation

## 4.3.1 Is there a capability to safely test software tools for use within the incident management environment?

This function focuses on validating and verifying the safety of the tools, technology, software, and hardware used to support incident management activities (including sensors, data analysis tools, event/incident handling/tracking tools, malicious code detection tools, IDS, IPS, firewalls, routers, system upgrades, etc.) and making sure they do not introduce vulnerabilities into the environment. Any tools that are going to be deployed for use must be tested to ensure that they perform as expected and do not interact in unexpected ways with existing software, hardware, and applications.

### Not applicable – TBD

**Impact statement** – The most serious impact for not safely testing tools is that the organization's systems can be compromised. If a tool is implemented without checking its behavior, this can lead to loss of revenue, loss of customer trust, and loss of protected or proprietary information. Vulnerable systems could be attacked and used as launch platforms for other abuses, which could lead to legal liabilities for the organization.

Scoring and interpretation guidance – The goal of satisfactorily performing this function is to ensure that any tools (software or hardware, new operating system versions, etc.) are tested prior to being installed and/or implemented in production network(s).

- The [Yes] answer for this question can be achieved if all required indicators [R] are met.
- The [Partial] grade for this question can be achieved if
  - there are procedures that mandate how new tools are introduced into the incident management environment AND
  - there are informal procedures for completing this task AND
  - personnel follow the informal procedures in a consistent manner AND
  - there are mechanisms in place (configuration management, change management, etc.) to enable poorly implemented changes to be "backed out" OR
  - the organization is developing a test-bed/laboratory for such testing
- Any other combination of indicators is a [No].

**Improvement** – Other indicators not listed above are additional measures of high-quality operations and do not affect the grade for this metric. They are ideas for improving the effectiveness and quality of the activities described in this metric. Improvements for this function can also be achieved by implementing

- plans for the development of a capability for testing new software/hardware, tools, equipment, etc.
- a formalized process for evaluating new software, technologies, etc.
- a plan for developing formal procedures, guidelines, and best practices for testing software for use in the incident management environment

			Inc	ident Management Capability Metrics			
4.3 CN	D Techi	nology D	evelopme	nt, Evaluation, and Implementation			
4.3.1	Is there a conclidity to sofely test tools for use within the incident						III
Not observ		Not plicable	Yes	<ul> <li>There is a test-bed capability to safely evaluate tools.</li> <li>Performance and usefulness of tools to support incident management activities is reviewed</li> </ul>	Υ	P	N
			Partial	<ul> <li>A test-bed capability for safe evaluation of incident management tools is being planned or designed.</li> <li>Other trusted sources are depended on to provide evaluation of new tools.</li> </ul>	J	J	J
Prerec	uisites						
Contro	<ul> <li>□ Isolated (non-production) network exists to test tools, new software/hardware and other technology prior to deploying for production use [R]</li> <li>□ Tools are obtained from trusted partners/sources and limited additional testing is performed</li> <li>Controls</li> <li>□ Guidelines exist that explain how the tools should be evaluated and tested to support incident management activities [R]</li> <li>□ Documented policies and procedures exist for obtaining, testing, and deploying tools within the incident management environment [R]</li> <li>□ Procedures mandate that new software, technologies, etc., must be evaluated and tested prior to deployment within the incident management infrastructure [R]</li> <li>□ Process exists to review the performance and usefulness of software tools (e.g., sensor data analysis, incident/event handling, malicious code detection)</li> <li>Activity</li> <li>□ Trusted or tested suite of tools are used to perform incident management activities [R]</li> <li>□ Documented test results of products assessed in the test-bed environment exist</li> <li>Supporting Mechanisms</li> <li>□ Configuration management system for software and tools [R]</li> </ul>						
				for software and tools [R]			
Artifa	cts	Ü	,				
		ols that l	have been	tested and are allowed to be used in production netwo	orks [R	.]	
	supporting incident management activities [R]						
	5 L						
				ria (including those defining adequate testing is for in-			
				uating the quality of this activity [R]			
				ss of this activity are periodically evaluated and appro	priate		
	improvei	ments are	e made [R]				
Regula	atory Re	ferences	: None				

## 4.3 CND Technology Development, Evaluation, and Implementation

#### **Guidance References: None**

[indirect]

NIST SP 800-61 Computer Security Incident Handling Guide [Grance 2004]

Sec 3.1.1 Preparing to Handle Incidents

[p 3-2] Table 3-1 Tools and Resources for Incident Handlers

Incident Analysis Hardware and Software: "**Spare workstations, servers, and networking equipment**, which may be used for many purposes, such as restoring backups and trying out malicious code; if the team cannot justify the expense of additional equipment, perhaps equipment in an existing test lab could be used, or a virtual lab could be established using operating system (OS) emulation software."

# 4.3.2 Is there a process to monitor and review various forms of media to ensure that incident management personnel stay abreast of emerging technologies?

This function focuses on the need for incident management personnel to stay current with the environment in which they and their constituency work. It is important to be aware of new types of technology that may be embraced by the team or members of its constituency. They should seek such information from a variety of sources, including reading security mailing lists, security web sites, and current news and journal articles in the fields of science, technology, politics, and government to extract information relevant to the security of the constituent systems and networks. This can also include communicating with other parties that are authorities in these fields to ensure that the most accurate information or interpretation is obtained. As such emerging technologies are incorporated into the organization's infrastructure, incident management personnel will need to become knowledgeable about how the technology works. They need to know about any special considerations for their implementation or integration with other systems or networks and any information that may indicate potential threats and problems.

**Not applicable** – It is possible that this function might be outsourced or handled by another part of the organization. If so, then this metric should be applied to that group and its activities. If this function is not performed anywhere within the organization, then this function can be marked as Not Applicable.

**Impact statement** – The danger in not keeping abreast of new or emerging technologies that may be incorporated into the organization's systems is that when (not if) incidents, attacks, or threats occur, the incident management activities may fail to appropriately handle the situations; this can result in a risk to the organization's assets and its ability to continue to do business.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – The goal of satisfactorily performing this function is to ensure that incident management personnel regularly monitor a variety of security, news, and other trusted sites for information relating to new and emerging computing technologies.

- The [Yes] answer to this question is achieved when all of the required indicators [R] are met.
- The [Partial] grade for this question can be achieved if
  - the organization is in the process of developing such a capability or service OR
  - incident management personnel infrequently monitors such news sources for emerging technology OR
  - there are informal procedures for completing this task AND
  - personnel understand and follow the informal procedures consistently

**Improvement** – Improvements can be achieved by building a strategy for learning about new technologies. This can include having staff members participate in

- vendor presentations, conferences, or demonstrations
- organizational discussions on new equipment purchasing plans (to understand what skills and knowledge will be needed to support changes in the operating environment)
- professional development activities for staff to learn new skills (e.g., classes, conferences)

		Inc	ident Management Capability Metrics							
4.3.2	Is there a pro- ensure that in technologies?	Priority IV								
Not observed	Not applicable	Yes	<ul> <li>There is a documented process to monitor and review various forms of media to stay abreast of emerging technologies.</li> </ul>	Y	P 🗖	N				
	···	Partial	There is an undocumented, ad hoc process to monitor and review various forms of media.							
Prerequisites										
Artifact P R R R P P Quality P SC	roduct evaluation accords of informatchives of email acsearch and analy eriodic vendor pure performing the ersonnel are award our ces for emergiant the eriodic vendor performing the eriodic vendor performing the eriodic vendor emergiant the eriodic vendor emergiant the eriodic vendor emergiant vendor experience is a procession of the eriodic vendor emergiant vendor experience vendor emergiant vendor experience vendor emergiant	n reports of nation gath is from ma lysis report roduct der are of, knows task [R] are and knows and criter and criter and criter and criter	on file hered [R] illing list subscriptions ts based on the information gathered hos or technologies on site wledgeable of, and consistently follow the procedure by wledgeable about methods for identifying appropria	te info	rmatior	ı				
☐ T	the quality and entry and entry are market the market are market a	ffectivenes made [R]	ss of this activity are periodically evaluated and appro-			1				
	cory References ce References: 1									
[indirect	t]									
			ty Incident Handling Guide [Grance 2004]							
	Incident Respon									
Interna	l Organization	keterence	S:							

#### 4.4 Personnel

4.4.1 Are there established ETA requirements and minimum competency levels incorporated into the training program for all personnel performing incident management activities?

This question focuses on the need to have established criteria to provide training for incident management personnel (for new staff as well as continued training for existing staff). To be successful, it is critical that personnel have the requisite knowledge, skills, and abilities to perform their tasks in support of their mission and goals, as well as the constituency being served. This includes training for specific tasks, tools, and procedures relative to incident management functions.

**Not applicable** – It is unlikely that an organization would indicate a "not applicable" response to this question, unless the training program was handled by another part of the organization. Even so, the organization must identify its needs for the technical knowledge, skills, and abilities that are required to perform incident management tasks.

**Impact statement** – With proper requirements for ETA and minimum competency levels incorporated into the training program, an organization can be assured it will have the right staff with the appropriate skills, abilities, and knowledge to effectively handle the depth and breadth of incident management tasks. Without these ETA requirements, the security posture of the entire organization could be at risk for failure.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – The goal of satisfactorily performing this function is to ensure that incident management personnel have received the training they need, that they have the education and awareness needed, and that they have the range of skills required. It is also necessary that the staff members understand their working environment and are able to use the tools that support their assigned roles and responsibilities in the performance of incident management activities.

This is a Priority I function and the question can only have a Yes or No answer.

- The satisfactory grading of this metric [Yes] can be achieved if all the required indicators [R] are met.
- Any other combination of indicators is insufficient and results in a [No].

Improvement – Improvements can be made by developing matrices for all roles and responsibilities involved in incident management and determining the range of technical and/or management knowledge, skills, and abilities needed to effectively perform these activities, and by developing training plans that will expose the staff to the requisite ETA requirements. Other improvements can involve determining requirements for appropriate levels for certifications or other professional degrees including proficiency in a specific technology or capability. "Incentivizing" staff to continue to develop professional knowledge, skills, and abilities through bonuses or promotions can be another driver for improvements.

Incident Management Capability Metrics 4.4 Personnel												
4.4 Pc					_							
4.4.1 incorporated		ablished ETA requirements and minimum competency levels into the training program for all personnel performing agement activities?			Priority I							
Not observed		Not applicable	There are established ETA requirements, standards, and minimum competence levels incorporated in the training					Yes	No			
			program, in compliance with regulations and requirements.									
Activ	A tr pers rols Trai Guid Doc ity Pers Pers Secu cove ortin Med	aining prograr onnel, both go ning procedur delines exist the umented policition onnel coordination of managerity policies a cred in new eng Mechanism to valuing requirements.	res state hat exp cies and nate trai cally (a agemer and oth mployee ns lidate th ents, an	that identifies techent and contractor a that training is mandain the ETA required procedures describening schedules with t least annually) ident identify when adder IT-related issues to introduction/training at training is completed that qualifications	s appropriate  adatory [R] ements (type, be the training a their manage ntify new trai itional trainin (e.g., physical ng [R]  eted, tracked, and deficience	frequency, etc.)   requirements, sc ement [R] ning or skills that g is needed l, personnel, oper and recorded for cies are noted (e.;	[R] hedules, et are neede rations second cach emp	c. d [R] urity) are				
	certificates, records of CBT access, database, spreadsheet, etc.) [R]  Online training products available through CDs and/or Intranet, distance learning opportunities, local/classroom environments, etc.											
Artifa				•								
	List(s) of recommendations and information resources on training topics, courses, conferences, etc., that personnel can select from Training records on file [R]  Goals for technical training are spelled out in the training program for incident management											
	personnel Personnel can demonstrate their knowledge, skills, and abilities to perform the technical work (show how they use the tools, how logs are analyzed, access databases, explain what training they have received, etc.)											
Quali			,									
	All train	All incident management employees have received initial IT security and awareness training, training on roles/responsibilities for incident management functions, etc. [R]  Annual refreshers for security awareness and other relevant training requirements are provided										
	[R] Personnel are knowledgeable and aware of their training needs and work with management to											
	obta Fun pers	obtain any needed training/education/awareness Funding is allocated for external technical training and professional development for all of its personnel (this might include contracted employees, when such training is not covered in the contract)										
	The	There is a process and criteria for evaluating the quality of performance and artifacts associated with this activity [R]							ed			
	The quality and effectiveness of this activity are periodically evaluated and appropriate improvements are made [R]											

#### 4.4 Personnel

### Regulatory References: None

[indirect]

FISMA Sec 3544(a)(3)(D) and (a)(4) [OLRC 2003]

3544 "(a) IN GENERAL—The head of each agency shall—[...]

- "(3) delegate to the agency Chief Information Officer established under section 3506 (or comparable official in an agency not covered by such section) the authority to ensure compliance with the requirements imposed on the agency under this subchapter, including—[...]
- "(D) training and overseeing personnel with significant responsibilities for information security with respect to such responsibilities; [...]
- "(4) ensure that the agency has trained personnel sufficient to assist the agency in complying with the requirements of this subchapter and related policies, procedures, standards, and guidelines"

## **Guidance References: None**

[indirect]

NIST SP 800-61 Computer Security Incident Handling Guide [Grance 2004]

Sec 2.4.3 Incident Response Personnel

[p 2-12 and 2-13] "Members of the incident response team should have excellent technical skills [...] Every team member should have good problem solving skills [...] It is important to counteract staff burnout by providing opportunities for learning and growth. [...] Incident response team members should have other skills in addition to technical expertise. Teamwork skills [...] good communication skills. Speaking skills [...] Writing skills [...]"

### 4.4.2 Is there a professional development program for incident management personnel?

This function focuses on the continued, professional development of incident management staff. Note that there may be different programs in place for organization personnel and contractor personnel. In order for this function to be effectively performed, all personnel performing incident management functions should have professional development options.

#### Not applicable – TBD

**Impact statement** – A sense of lacking a career path can increase the amount of personnel turnover.

Scoring and interpretation guidance – The goal of satisfactorily performing this function is to support further professional development of staff. Establishing an approach for developing a career or growth path will help to ensure that personnel remain committed to the work and have a way to increase their knowledge and skills. In addition, exposing personnel to other information assurance or computer network defense training will increase their awareness of security-related issues. Personnel should be able to participate in professional development activities as part of the overall protection, detection, response, and sustainment of activities.

- The [Yes] answer to this question can be achieved if all the required indicators [R] are met.
- A [Partial] answer to this question can be achieved if the organization
  - provides limited opportunities for personnel to participate in internal or external professional development programs AND
    - has guidance (preferably documented policies and procedures) that define how personnel participate in professional development activities AND
    - o participates in information assurance or other CND-related forums (technical exchanges, FIRST, conferences, etc.) OR
  - shares information/resources with colleagues and incident management staff to raise awareness within the team AND
    - o has a reference collection of training and documentation for use by incident management personnel AND
    - o participates in government/industry information assurance or other CND-related forums (technical exchanges, FIRST, conferences, etc.) AND
    - o has a mechanism for scheduling participation in such events AND
    - o reviews professional development activities with personnel on an annual (or other periodic timeframe) basis
- Any other combination of indicators is insufficient and results in a [No].

**Improvement** – The overall effectiveness of incident management activities can be improved if there is a defined plan or program that includes professional development of staff skills and knowledge that enables individuals to progress along their career paths.

		Inci	dent Management Capability Metrics				
4.4.2	Is there a propersonnel?	fessional (	development program for incident management	Pr	riority	iority IV	
Not observed	Not	Yes	<ul> <li>There is both an internal and external professional development program for incident management personnel.</li> </ul>	Y	P	N	
	d applicable	Partial	There are only limited opportunities for incident management personnel to participate in internal OR external professional development programs.				
as	articipation in properticipation in properticipation in properticipation in properticipation in properticipation in the proper	tractor per caplain professes and provities [R] ek-out, usage formation the team [I] each for purchase in IA caped for purchase equesting acting professed and certain for professes to request to req	essional development program exist occdures exist that delineate how personnel participage, and return procedures for training materials /resources with colleagues and incident management	staff t s for st s [R] a reference edia)	o raise aff ence lib	onal	

## **Regulatory References: None**

[indirect]

FISMA Sec 3544(a)(3)(D) and (a)(4) [OLRC 2003]

3544 "(a) IN GENERAL—The head of each agency shall—[...]

- "(3) delegate to the agency Chief Information Officer established under Section 3506 (or comparable official in an agency not covered by such section) the authority to ensure compliance with the requirements imposed on the agency under this subchapter, including—[...]
- "(D) training and overseeing personnel with significant responsibilities for information security with respect to such responsibilities; [...]"
- "(4) ensure that the agency has trained personnel sufficient to assist the agency in complying with the requirements of this subchapter and related policies, procedures, standards, and guidelines"

## **Guidance References:**

NIST SP 800-61 Computer Security Incident Handling Guide [Grance 2004]

Sec 2.4.3 Incident Response Personnel

[p 2-12] "It is important to counteract staff burnout by providing opportunities for learning and growth."

## 4.5 Security Administration

# 4.5.1 Are there physical protective measures in place to protect incident management IT systems, facilities, and personnel?

This function focuses on the measures implemented to protect incident management IT systems, facilities (e.g., rooms or buildings), and personnel who perform incident management functions. Since incident management personnel will be collecting, accessing, and storing sensitive information that relates to its constituency, it is important that there are appropriate physical controls over the environment to protect these systems. In many cases, this becomes the "example of best practice behaviors" for the rest of the constituency, and as a result is held to a higher standard. These practices usually address protection not only of the IT systems, but also the physical space and the personnel working in that space. Access cards, for example, protect an entire area, including people and equipment.

**Not applicable** – It is unlikely that there would be a "not applicable" statement for this function, since the organization must show evidence that it is protecting its incident management systems and facilities and the critical information contained therein, as well as its personnel.

Impact statement – A compromise or unauthorized access to any incident management information will have a profound, negative effect on the reputation of the incident management capability. Such loss of credibility can result in the total failure of the group or team to continue, or to be perceived by the constituency as not providing a valued service. Protecting the IT systems, infrastructure, and personnel is essential to the success of the incident management capability.

Scoring and interpretation guidance – The goal of satisfactorily performing this function is to protect the incident management systems and information held therein. The measure of success will be realized by understanding the level and extent to which strategies are implemented to protect incident management information assets (IT systems, incident management systems, operating environment, incident management personnel, etc.). This is a Priority I function and the question can only have a Yes or No answer.

- A passing score [Yes] can be achieved if all the required indicators [R] are met.
- Any other combination of indicators is insufficient and results in a [No] score.

**Improvement** – Improvements can be achieved by defining controls for restricting access to critical resources with need-to-know requirements. Some of the non-required supporting mechanisms can be implemented to make the protective measures more robust (e.g., camera/monitoring service for visual access, swipe cards with anti-pass back features, etc.).

			Incident Management Capability Metrics		
4.5 S	ecurit	y Administra	ation		
4.5.			rsical protective measures in place to protect incident IT systems, facilities, and personnel?	Prio	rity I
obsei	rved	Not applicable	There are physical protective measures in place, including lockable rooms or building, access controls, and alarms.	Y	N
Prere	Physiden An u	sical protectiv tified [R]	e measures for incident management IT systems and physical space		
Cont	Therefore protection p	re are docume ess and metho ected [R] onnel are appronnel are train onnel understare are docume	nted, up-to-date policies and procedures for physical security that dod by which the incident management IT systems and physical environment on the procedures for physical security [R] and on how to identify insecurities [R] and the procedures for reporting insecurities [R] nted policies and procedures for admitting visitors to facilities		
	Proc Pers Pers	edures for pro	tagging or labeling is used to support inventory management of tection strategies exist [R] and their day-to-day security responsibilities [R] physical protection strategies [R]		
	According Alar Rest TV (	ess controls for metric devices ms (e.g., fire, ricted hours [] Cameras pe cards, 24 x	or visitors (escort requirements, badges, etc.) [R] flood, entry, or other alarmed devices) [R] R] 7 guard		
Artif	acts Curr Up-t	rent lists of au to-date list of	thorized individuals who have access to area(s) [R] management POCs to notify under specific conditions [R] forms for changes in protection measures		
Qual	ity Pers Pers Ther [R] The	onnel are awa onnel receive re is a process quality and ef	re of and understand protection measures and the need for them [R] annual "refresher" training on protection measures [R] and criteria for evaluating the quality and effectiveness of protection fectiveness of this activity are periodically (monthly, semi-annually swarrant) evaluated and appropriate improvements are made [R]	on mea	
FISM 3544 wide inform "(3)	latory IA Sec "(b) A information	y References: c 3544(b)(3) [ AGENCY PRO nation security n systems that dinate plans for		and -	-

# **Guidance References: None**

[indirect]

NIST SP 800-61 Computer Security Incident Handling Guide [Grance 2004]

Sec 6.2.2 Incident Prevention

[p 6-2] Table 6-1 Actions to Prevent Unauthorized Access Incidents

"Physical Security: Implement physical security measures that restrict access to critical resources."

### 4.5.2 Is there an operations security (OPSEC) program?

This function focuses on identifying and protecting information that might provide attackers with information about the incident management plans or capabilities.

**Not applicable** – This function may be marked as Not Applicable if this operations security activity is handled by some other part of the organization and if the evaluator is able to confirm that OPSEC training has occurred for staff and the staff can demonstrate knowledge and awareness of OPSEC.

**Impact statement** – Personnel are sufficiently aware of operations security to protect their information assets.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – The goal of satisfactorily performing this function is to ensure that incident management personnel are sensitive to how information and data are created, handled, stored, retained, archived, and destroyed, and that they recognize the importance of operations security in protecting that data and information. This is a Priority I function and the question can only have a Yes or No answer.

- The satisfactory score [Yes] can be achieved if all the required indicators [R] are met.
- Any other combination of indicators is insufficient and results in a [No] score.

**Improvement** – Some improvements that can be made include

- scheduling speakers to present case studies or other scenarios
- using other methods (e.g., contests) to educate personnel about OPSEC
- conducting periodic walkthroughs of the physical workspaces to review and identify potential insecurities

		Incident Management Capability Metrics		
4.5.2	Is there an op	perations security (OPSEC) program?	Prio	rity I
Not observed	Not applicable	<ul> <li>There is a documented operations security (OPSEC) program.</li> </ul>	Yes	No
Id   Controls	perations Securi- entified critical cocumented policitable inform formation about ists and is avail ethods exist for termining counter fined processes cur ersonnel receive ersonnel receive ersonnel receive ersonnel integrate perations securi- ing Mechanisms echanisms for re echanisms for re echanisms for pesentations, etc. Indeed, flyers, po PSEC informations ersonnel have ar here is a process th this activity   he quality and ef-	the operations security program including roles, responsibilities, and able to all personnel [R] identifying critical information, analyzing potential threats, identifying termeasures [R] is exist for visitor access to areas where critical incident management access to reas where critical incident management access to refersher training (monthly, quarterly, semi-annually, etc.) [R] is eOPSEC as part of their day-to-day culture [R] it flyers or other awareness aids are posted or distributed in the personnel (web, email, posters, meetings, providing information to the personnel (web, email, posters, meetings, providing information to the personnel (web, email, posters, meetings, procedures [R] is a wareness materials, guidance, templates for reporting failures/othe reporting to date, accurate, and relevant [R] is understanding and knowledge of OPSEC [R] is and criteria for evaluating the quality of performance and artifacts ass [R] is ffectiveness of this activity are periodically evaluated and appropriate	POCs g risks ctivitie	S
Regulate [indirect] FISMA S 3544 "(b informati systems t "(3) sub-	Sec 3544(b)(3) [ ) AGENCY PRoposition security proposition in the support the product of the pro	: None	rmatio	n

# **Guidance References: None**

[indirect]

NIST SP 800-61 Computer Security Incident Handling Guide [Grance 2004]

Sec 2.6 Recommendations

[p 2-16] "Establish policies and procedures regarding incident-related information sharing."

### 4.6 CND Information Systems

4.6.1 Are there Defense-in-Depth strategies and methodologies to harden the incident management computer networks and systems?

This function focuses on the ability of the incident management capability to identify multiple layers of security protection strategies in the hardening of its own systems, network, and information assets.

**Not applicable** – It is unlikely that an organization would not have some type of plan in place to protect the incident management assets. This function should never be "Not Applicable."

**Impact statement** – There should be a strategy that ensures that there are no single points of failure in the protection of the systems and networks that support incident management activities. The resulting in-depth defenses limit the opportunities for attacks, threats, and vulnerabilities to be successful in breaching security.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – The question is fully satisfied when the organization has a defined Defense-in-Depth strategy that has been implemented to protect its incident management assets. This is a Priority I function and the question can only have a Yes or No answer.

- A [Yes] answer for this metric is achieved if all the required indicators [R] have been met.
- Any combination of other indicators is a [No].

**Improvement** – Improvements can be achieved by

- conducting quality assurance tests or checks of security products and tools to ensure they are current and up to date
- conducting mock exercises to test defense-in-depth methods and determine if they are working
- implementing products from different vendors to provide more robust coverage to avoid single points of failure, for example, from the anti-virus products; using products from competing vendors on PCs and servers or multiple anti-virus products on the same devices.
- if any in-house tool development is done, implementing code reviews and testing for insecurities (security "walkthroughs")

A.6.t CND Information Systems				Incident Management Capability Metrics		
A.6.1   Are there Defense-in-Depth strategies and methodologies to harden the incident management computer networks and systems?   Not observed   applicable   Defense-in-Depth methodologies and strategies are utilized in hardening of its own computer systems and networks.   Prerequisites   Defense-in-Depth strategies and methodologies for incident management systems and networks have been defined [R]   Defense-in-Depth strategies and methodologies for incident management systems and networks have been defined [R]   Documented, known strategy for implementing and maintaining appropriate defense-in-depth [R]   Documented, up-to-date, policy for Defense-in-Depth strategy exists [R]   Documented, up-to-date procedures for implementing Defense in Depth exist [R]   Documented policies and procedures defining method and mechanisms for installing, replacing, updating/upgrading systems and networks to improve Defense in Depth exist [R]   There are identified POCs and assigned roles and responsibilities for defensive actions [R]   Personnel are appropriately trained on the procedures and relevant Defense-in-Depth methods and technologies [R]   Personnel understand how to report insecurities or failures in any defense mechanisms [R]   Activity   Designated personnel review, maintain, and update components, documents, and procedures for Defense in Depth [R]   Defense-in-depth strategy is periodically tested for effectiveness and completeness and improvements are made as needed [R]   Physical security is in place [R]   Physical security is in stalled [R]   Physical security is only the procedures are installed [R]   Physical security in monitoring tools are installed [R]   Physical security in monitoring tools are installed [R]   Physical security in monitoring tools are installed [R]   Physical security in mo	46 C	ND I	nformation S			
Defense-in-Depth strategies and methodologies and strategies are utilized in hardening of its own computer systems and networks.   Defense-in-Depth strategies and methodologies for incident management systems and networks have been defined [R]   Defense-in-Depth strategies and methodologies for incident management systems and networks have been defined [R]   Documented, known strategy for implementing and maintaining appropriate defense-in-depth [R]   Documented, up-to-date, policy for Defense-in-Depth strategy exists [R]   Documented, up-to-date procedures for implementing Defense in Depth exist [R]   Documented, up-to-date procedures defining method and mechanisms for installing, replacing, updating/upgrading systems and networks to improve Defense in Depth exist [R]   There are identified POCs and assigned roles and responsibilities for defensive actions [R]   Personnel are appropriately trained on the procedures and relevant Defense-in-Depth methods and technologies [R]   Personnel are appropriately trained on the procedures and relevant Defense-in-Depth methods and technologies [R]   Personnel defense-in-Depth methods and technologies [R]   Personnel review, maintain, and update components, documents, and procedures for Defense in Depth [R]   Defense-in-depth strategy is periodically tested for effectiveness and completeness and improvements are made as needed [R]   Supporting Mechanisms   Multiple tiers of security exist for incident management networks and working environments, for example [R]   Physical security is in place [R]   Physical security is in place [R]   Physical security is in place [R]   Artifacts   Defense-in-Depth methods and reintical servers [R]   Artifacts   Artifacts   Rule sets for IDS/IPS [R]   Schedules for or automatic updates enabled for monitoring tools [R]   Schedules for or sutomatic updates enabled for monitoring tools [R]   Personnel are aware of, knowledgeable of, and consistently follow the procedures   Defense-in-Depth ETA is implemented for all incident management pers		A	Are there Def	fense-in-Depth strategies and methodologies to harden the	Prior	rity I
Defense-in-Depth strategies and methodologies for incident management systems and networks have been defined [R]  Controls   There is a documented, known strategy for implementing and maintaining appropriate defense-in-depth [R]   Documented, up-to-date, policy for Defense-in-Depth strategy exists [R]   Documented, up-to-date procedures for implementing Defense in Depth exist [R]   Documented policies and procedures defining method and mechanisms for installing, replacing, updating/upgrading systems and networks to improve Defense in Depth exist [R]   There are identified POCs and assigned roles and responsibilities for defensive actions [R]   Personnel are appropriately trained on the procedures and relevant Defense-in-Depth methods and technologies [R]   Personnel understand how to report insecurities or failures in any defense mechanisms [R]   Activity   Designated personnel review, maintain, and update components, documents, and procedures for Defense in Depth [R]   Defense-in-depth strategy is periodically tested for effectiveness and completeness and improvements are made as needed [R]   Supporting Mechanisms   Multiple tiers of security exist for incident management networks and working environments, for example [R]   Physical security is in place [R]   Host and network based IDS and/or IPS are in place on incident management mission critical systems are installed [R]   Firewalls are in place for perimeter security [R]   DMZ is set up for public web, DNS, and email servers [R]   Anti-virus software is installed on all workstations and critical servers [R]   Access control lists are used [R]  Artifacts   Rule sets for IDS/IPS [R]   Schedules for or automatic updates enabled for monitoring tools [R]   Schedule for AV signature updates [R]   Defense-in-Depth ETA is implemented for all incident management personnel, with annual	obser		applicable			
<ul> <li>□ Documented, up-to-date, policy for Defense-in-Depth strategy exists [R]</li> <li>□ Documented, up-to-date procedures for implementing Defense in Depth exist [R]</li> <li>□ Documented policies and procedures defining method and mechanisms for installing, replacing, updating/upgrading systems and networks to improve Defense in Depth exist [R]</li> <li>□ There are identified POCs and assigned roles and responsibilities for defensive actions [R]</li> <li>□ Personnel are appropriately trained on the procedures and relevant Defense-in-Depth methods and technologies [R]</li> <li>□ Personnel understand how to report insecurities or failures in any defense mechanisms [R]</li> <li>Activity</li> <li>□ Designated personnel review, maintain, and update components, documents, and procedures for Defense in Depth [R]</li> <li>□ Defense-in-depth strategy is periodically tested for effectiveness and completeness and improvements are made as needed [R]</li> <li>Supporting Mechanisms</li> <li>□ Multiple tiers of security exist for incident management networks and working environments, for example [R]</li> <li>- Physical security is in place [R]</li> <li>- Host and network based IDS and/or IPS are in place on incident management mission critical systems are installed [R]</li> <li>- Firewalls are in place for perimeter security [R]</li> <li>- DMZ is set up for public web, DNS, and email servers [R]</li> <li>- Content security monitoring tools are installed [R]</li> <li>- Content security monitoring tools are installed [R]</li> <li>- Access control lists are used [R]</li> <li>□ Schedules for or automatic updates enabled for monitoring tools [R]</li> <li>Schedule for AV signature updates [R]</li> <li>Quality</li> <li>□ Personnel are aware of, knowledgeable of, and consistently follow the procedures</li> <li>□ Defense-in-Depth ETA is implemented for all incident management personnel, with annual</li> </ul>	Contr	Defe have ols The	ense-in-Depth been defined re is a docume	i [R]		
<ul> <li>□ Personnel understand how to report insecurities or failures in any defense mechanisms [R]</li> <li>Activity</li> <li>□ Designated personnel review, maintain, and update components, documents, and procedures for Defense in Depth [R]</li> <li>□ Defense-in-depth strategy is periodically tested for effectiveness and completeness and improvements are made as needed [R]</li> <li>Supporting Mechanisms</li> <li>□ Multiple tiers of security exist for incident management networks and working environments, for example [R]</li> <li>- Physical security is in place [R]</li> <li>- Host and network based IDS and/or IPS are in place on incident management mission critical systems are installed [R]</li> <li>- Firewalls are in place for perimeter security [R]</li> <li>- DMZ is set up for public web, DNS, and email servers [R]</li> <li>- Content security monitoring tools are installed [R]</li> <li>- Access control lists are used [R]</li> <li>Artifacts</li> <li>□ Rule sets for IDS/IPS [R]</li> <li>□ Schedules for or automatic updates enabled for monitoring tools [R]</li> <li>Quality</li> <li>□ Personnel are aware of, knowledgeable of, and consistently follow the procedures</li> <li>□ Defense-in-Depth ETA is implemented for all incident management personnel, with annual</li> </ul>		Doc Doc Upda Ther Pers	umented, up-t umented, up-t umented polic ating/upgrading e are identified onnel are appropriate	to-date procedures for implementing Defense in Depth exist [R] cies and procedures defining method and mechanisms for installing, reng systems and networks to improve Defense in Depth exist [R] ed POCs and assigned roles and responsibilities for defensive actions [	R]	
Defense in Depth [R]  □ Defense-in-depth strategy is periodically tested for effectiveness and completeness and improvements are made as needed [R]  Supporting Mechanisms  □ Multiple tiers of security exist for incident management networks and working environments, for example [R]  - Physical security is in place [R]  - Host and network based IDS and/or IPS are in place on incident management mission critical systems are installed [R]  - Firewalls are in place for perimeter security [R]  - DMZ is set up for public web, DNS, and email servers [R]  - Anti-virus software is installed on all workstations and critical servers [R]  - Content security monitoring tools are installed [R]  - Access control lists are used [R]  Artifacts  □ Rule sets for IDS/IPS [R]  □ Schedules for or automatic updates enabled for monitoring tools [R]  □ Schedule for AV signature updates [R]  Quality  □ Personnel are aware of, knowledgeable of, and consistently follow the procedures  □ Defense-in-Depth ETA is implemented for all incident management personnel, with annual	Activ	Pers i <b>ty</b>	onnel underst		-	
Supporting Mechanisms  ☐ Multiple tiers of security exist for incident management networks and working environments, for example [R]  ☐ Physical security is in place [R]  ☐ Host and network based IDS and/or IPS are in place on incident management mission critical systems are installed [R]  ☐ Firewalls are in place for perimeter security [R]  ☐ DMZ is set up for public web, DNS, and email servers [R]  ☐ Anti-virus software is installed on all workstations and critical servers [R]  ☐ Content security monitoring tools are installed [R]  ☐ Access control lists are used [R]  Artifacts  ☐ Rule sets for IDS/IPS [R]  ☐ Schedules for or automatic updates enabled for monitoring tools [R]  ☐ Schedule for AV signature updates [R]  Quality  ☐ Personnel are aware of, knowledgeable of, and consistently follow the procedures  ☐ Defense-in-Depth ETA is implemented for all incident management personnel, with annual		Defe Defe	ense in Depth ense-in-depth	[R] strategy is periodically tested for effectiveness and completeness and	ures fo	or
<ul> <li>□ Rule sets for IDS/IPS [R]</li> <li>□ Schedules for or automatic updates enabled for monitoring tools [R]</li> <li>□ Schedule for AV signature updates [R]</li> <li>Quality</li> <li>□ Personnel are aware of, knowledgeable of, and consistently follow the procedures</li> <li>□ Defense-in-Depth ETA is implemented for all incident management personnel, with annual</li> </ul>		ortin Mul exar - - - - -	g Mechanism tiple tiers of some [R] Physical secu Host and netw systems are in Firewalls are DMZ is set up Anti-virus son Content secur	rity is in place [R] work based IDS and/or IPS are in place on incident management missionstalled [R] in place for perimeter security [R] p for public web, DNS, and email servers [R] ftware is installed on all workstations and critical servers [R] rity monitoring tools are installed [R]		
refreshers  There is a process and criteria (including the effectiveness, completeness, and scope of the defense-in-depth strategy, methods, and technologies) for evaluating the quality of performance and artifacts associated with this activity [R]  The quality and effectiveness of this activity are periodically evaluated and appropriate	Quali	Rule Sche Sche ty Pers Defe refre Ther in-de	edules for or a edule for AV s connel are awa ense-in-Depth eshers re is a process epth strategy, acts associated	automatic updates enabled for monitoring tools [R] signature updates [R] are of, knowledgeable of, and consistently follow the procedures a ETA is implemented for all incident management personnel, with annual stands and criteria (including the effectiveness, completeness, and scope of the methods, and technologies) for evaluating the quality of performance and with this activity [R]	he defe	ense-

## **4.6 CND Information Systems**

#### **Regulatory References: None**

[indirect]

FISMA Sec 3544(b)(3) [OLRC 2003]

3544 "(b) AGENCY PROGRAM—Each agency shall develop, document, and implement an agency-wide information security program [...] to provide information security for the information and information systems that support the operations and assets of the agency [...] that includes—

"(3) subordinate plans for providing adequate information security for networks, facilities, and systems or groups of information systems, as appropriate"

## **Guidance References: None**

[indirect]

NIST SP 800-14 Generally Accepted Principles and Practices for Securing Information Technology Systems [Swanson 1996]

NIST SP 800-18 Guide to Developing Security Plans for Information Technology Systems [Swanson 1998]

# 4.6.2 Are there processes and technologies to support the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of incident management data and information?

This function focuses on the ability of the organization to protect the confidentiality, integrity, and availability (C/I/A) of its data and information, not only for incident management but also for any constituent information that incident management personnel receive, handle, transmit, store, or archive.

Not applicable – It is unlikely that this function would be Not Applicable, since an organization should have a plan in place to protect its assets.

Impact statement – Without effective measures to protect information and ensure it hasn't been modified, deleted, or inappropriately accessed, there is potential risk to the organization. Sensitive information collected as part of incident management activities (e.g., vulnerable systems or personal information) needs to be protected to ensure it has not been "tainted," viewed, copied, modified, or deleted. Having robust protection strategies in place to protect these assets will maintain confidential information, ensure it is available to those who are authorized to see and use it, and ensure it has not been inappropriately modified.

Scoring and interpretation guidance – Satisfactory performance of this function is evident when the organization has well-defined policies and procedures in place for protective and defensive strategies, and when the personnel are knowledgeable about, consistently use, and support the repeatable processes for handling information commensurate with the various security levels. This is a Priority I function and the question can only have a Yes or No answer.

- A [Yes] answer for this metric is achieved if all the required indicators [R] have been met.
- Any combination of other indicators is a failure [No].

**Improvement** – Improvements can be achieved by

- incorporating encryption solutions for off-site storage of backup and archive data
- arranging risk assessments, conducting self-assessments, or using independent evaluations to validate processes and procedures for how data and information are handled, processed, transmitted, accessed, stored, and destroyed
- reviewing all of the non-required indicators to identify those that can be part of an improvement strategy for "raising the bar" for processes and technologies to provide a more robust support for confidentiality, integrity, and availability for data and information

			Incident Management Capability Metrics					
4.6.			ocesses and technologies to support the confidentiality, availability of incident management data and information?	Prio	rity I			
No obse		Not applicable	<ul> <li>There are processes and technologies to support confidentiality, integrity, and availability of data and</li> </ul>	Y	N			
	)		information.	_				
Prer	The		requirements for the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of da	nta and				
	<ul> <li>Controls</li> <li>□ Documented, up-to-date policy, procedures, and processes exist for protecting the confidentiality, integrity and availability of data and information [R]</li> <li>□ Personnel are appropriately trained on the procedures and relevant technology [R]</li> <li>□ All personnel are trained on how to respond to any events or anomalous activities</li> </ul>							
Activ	•	aranriata taahn	vology [a.g., public key infractructure (DVI) DGD GnuDG or secure	a wirtu	<b>.</b> 1			
	priv sen exte	Appropriate technology [e.g., public key infrastructure (PKI), PGP, GnuPG, or secure virtual private networking (VPN), secure mail/voice/FAX] is used to secure the transmission of sensitive information between the constituent and incident management functions, and any external entities (sites, regulatory bodies, law enforcement, etc.) [R]						
"		a are appropria	ately protected at all times during collection, transmission, storage,	review	, and			
Supr	- nortii	backups label <b>ng Mechanism</b>	led appropriately					
	Ap <sub>j</sub> sof	propriate techn ware on works	tology to support CIA during transmission, processing, storage (e.g. stations and servers) [R] uipment, application software)	, AV				
Artif		kups (mes, eq	urphient, application software)					
	Res	sults from mon ected)	itoring audit files (to ensure protective/detection tools are functioning	ng as				
	Phy		rronic protection measures (safes, ACLs, shredders, evidence of use R]	of				
Qual								
	acti	vity [R]	are of, knowledgeable of, and consistently follow the procedures for					
			and criteria (including timeliness and accuracy) for evaluating the artifacts associated with this activity [R]	quality	of			
		e quality and ef provements are	ffectiveness of this activity are periodically evaluated and appropria made [R]	te				
		y References:						
		ec 3544(b)(3) [						
			OGRAM—Each agency shall develop, document, and implement any program [] to provide information security for the information		cy-			
			support the operations and assets of the agency [] that includes—					
			or providing adequate information security for networks, facilities, a		stems			
			systems, as appropriate"	) -				

# **Guidance References: None**

[indirect]

NIST SP 800-14 Generally Accepted Principles and Practices for Securing Information Technology Systems [Swanson 1998]

NIST SP 800-18 Guide to Developing Security Plans for Information Technology Systems [Swanson 1998]

## 4.6.3 Do incident management personnel monitor their own systems and networks?

This function focuses on the ability of incident management personnel to ensure they are watching their own networks.

**Not applicable** – It is possible that the monitoring of these systems and networks is done by another part of the organization. The evaluator should confirm that the required [R] indicators outlined in this question are performed by that other group.

**Impact statement** – Monitoring can provide early warnings about malicious threats or activity in their infrastructure, allowing a timely response and containing the potential damage. This improves the network defense posture of the team's internal systems and ultimately the organization it serves and allows it to provide an agile response.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – The goal of satisfactorily performing this function is an effective plan implemented for monitoring incident management systems to protect information assets. This includes methods for detecting events/incidents, anomalous activity, intrusion attempts, and other potential threats. This is a Priority I function and the question can only have a Yes or No answer.

- A [Yes] answer for this metric is achieved if all the required indicators [R] have been met.
- Any combination of other indicators is a failure [No].

**Improvement** – The optional or non-required indicators relative to network security monitoring identify areas where improvement in quality, timeliness, and accuracy can occur. This might include

- using automated tools
- ensuring automated alerts are enabled
- implementing multiple types of network monitoring systems
- ensuring results are analyzed in near real time
- ensuring network diagrams of monitoring system placement are available and up to date

		Incident Management Capability Metrics		
4.6.3	Do incident inetworks?	management personnel monitor their own systems and	Priori	ity I
No	t Not		Y	N
obser	ved applicable	<ul> <li>Monitoring is conducted on incident management systems</li> </ul>	Y	IN
		and networks.		
Prore	quisites			
	There is an up-to data, and informa	-date, accurate, and complete list of all critical incident management syntion [R]	stems,	
Contr	Documented poli  detailed insti protocols, an  roles/respons analysis [R]	icies and procedures for monitoring networks exist and include [R] ructions for characterizing anomalous events, including suspicious port ad services (both network based and host based) [R] sibilities and timeframes for reviewing IDS logs after an event for prelimit to review audit logs upon receipt		
		ined in the procedures and technical tools used for monitoring the syste	ems and	
	Network diagram Only authorized	ses are available and disseminated to appropriate individuals [R] as showing IDS placement on incident management network(s) exist users have access to systems and networks [R]		
		ring tools are installed and used [R]		
		t-based IDS are installed and used [R]		
1		d after detection of an event or potential incident [R]		
		ewed as required for other analyses		
		erating picture is periodically reviewed and updated		
		notifications are forwarded to other organizations as appropriate [R]		
	networks [R]	igned to perform batch and/or real-time analysis on data collected fron	n its	
	24 x 7 analysis/su			
		igned to perform maintenance, software upgrades, configuration updat	es [R]	
	orting Mechanism			
		DS performs heuristic scanning for unauthorized activity [R]		
		are performs heuristic scanning for malicious code detection [R] have automated alert capability [R]		
		an ADS plug-in to an IDS system [R]		
		on system signature databases are up to date [R]		
		ontrolling access (e.g., foreign nationals, visitors) to systems [R]		
Artifa		[14]		
		reports generated by the network monitoring tools [R]		
		as showing placement of monitoring tools on constituent networks		
	Recent monitorin	ng audit logs [R]		
		nitoring activities [R]		
		g of monitoring on critical network segments		
	IDS configuration	n file specifying what anomalous events trigger an alarm		

# **Incident Management Capability Metrics Quality Indicators:** ☐ Backup and recovery capabilities in the form of spare equipment for IDS sensors/console exist [R] Monitoring data is analyzed on a regular basis (real-time, hourly, etc.) [R] Alert capabilities include appropriate communication mechanisms, including page-out and email alerts [R] There is a process and criteria for evaluating the quality of performance and artifacts associated with this activity [R] The quality and effectiveness of this activity are periodically evaluated and appropriate improvements are made [R] **Regulatory References: None** [indirect] FISMA Sec 3544(b)(3) [OLRC 2003] 3544 "(b) AGENCY PROGRAM—Each agency shall develop, document, and implement an agency-wide information security program [...] to provide information security for the information and information systems that support the operations and assets of the agency [...] that includes— "(3) subordinate plans for providing adequate information security for networks, facilities, and systems or groups of information systems, as appropriate" **Guidance References: None**

# 4.6.4 Are Risk Assessments (RAs) performed on incident management systems and networks?

This function focuses on the ability of the organization to perform risk assessments on incident management systems, networks, and practices. This includes having a capability for

- public and private monitoring of information sources and organizations (such as CERT/CC, vendor sites, and other similar organizations) for information about risk assessments
- keeping up to date on current vulnerability threats, attacks, and remediation strategies (through research, training, mentoring, and attending courses and other forms of professional development)
- coordinating with other internal and external parties to schedule, conduct, and review results
  of such assessments
- properly reporting to approved individuals and/or upper management
- implementing fixes and mitigation for risks identified during analysis (this includes categorizing, prioritizing, and assessing the impact to incident management systems)

Organizational collaboration and coordination will require internally defined processes, roles, and responsibilities.

**Not applicable** – This function should never be Not Applicable. The incident management capability should stand as an exemplar for the rest of the organization on proactive detection and correction of weaknesses.

**Impact statement** – A thorough risk assessment provides a valuable means of proactively identifying and mitigating risks in technology, process, and people, before such weaknesses can be exploited.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – The goal of satisfactorily performing this function is that the organization is able to consistently, accurately, and reliably conduct risk assessments on its incident management internal systems and networks, and to implement strategies to remove or mitigate any risks. This is a Priority I function and the question can only have a Yes or No answer

- The satisfactory grading of this metric [Yes] can be achieved if all required indicators [R] are met.
- Any other combination of indicators is insufficient and results in a [No].

Note that the prerequisite states that incident management personnel have approval (from management or other authorized individuals) to conduct such assessments; however, if they do not perform this activity, it is possible that some other part of the organization does it on behalf of them. Regardless of whoever performs the assessments, current documentation and information on the systems criticality and the assets on those systems must be identified. Without this information, risk or threat can only be evaluated in an abstract, theoretical sense.

**Improvement** – One possible improvement is to perform certification and accreditation of incident management systems and networks as a means of reducing risk.

			I	Incident Management Capability Metrics		
4.6.4		Are Risk Asso		ents (RAs) performed on incident management systems	Prio	rity I
No	ot	Not			Y	N
obser	ved	applicable	•	Risk assessments are periodically performed on incident		_
				management systems and networks.		
Prere	Mai on t List <b>rols</b>	nagement (or on the CSIRT systof of critical inc	tems a	authorized body) has given approval for risk assessments to be and networks [R] management systems, data, and information [R] and procedures exist that describe the process and method by what is the process and method by the process and method by what is the process and method by the process		
	asse Pers to c	essments are co	onduct ropria	ted and the results are analyzed [R] tely trained on the procedures, process and supporting technol ents and corresponding analysis [R]		
	Risl A li mai RA RA RA	st of risk asses ntained, and u results are pro- results are door s are used to d	ssment pdated ovided cumen etermi	onducted on incident management systems/networks [R] t methodologies (e.g., NIST guidance, COBIT, OCTAVE®) is d to the appropriate individuals [R] nted, analyzed, tracked, and recorded [R] ine potential impacts and to make improvements to CND infraity incidents [R]		
	ortin Ava requ	g Mechanism ilable, approv iirements [R]	<b>is</b> red risl	k assessment tools/methods used in accordance with organizat	ion	
	<b>acts</b> Cop	oies of records	, analy	g and reporting risks and corrective actions [R]  ysis or results of risk assessments [R]  types and providers with POC lists		
Quali	Pers met Des	hodologies, ar ignated sched	nd tech ule is	knowledgeable of, and consistently follow the procedures, probables for performing this task [R] followed for performing risk assessments (on a periodic/sched	uled b	asis,
	Mar RA Any The deta acti	results are arc results are arc results are arc results are arc re is a process full for RAs) for vity [R]	vities/s chived ions of and c r evalu	acquired, when there is an organizational change that impacts is systems, etc.) in a secure and protected manner [R] f the RA results are done in a secure and protected manner [R] criteria (including completeness, frequency, adequacy, scope, a uating the quality of performance and artifacts associated with reness of this activity are periodically evaluated and appropriate	and lev this	
Regu	imp lator	rovements are y References	made	e[R]	-	
wide inform	"(b) information periods, use	mation securit n systems that dic assessmen e, disclosure, d	OGRA  y prog  suppo  ts of th  lisrupt	C 2003] AM—Each agency shall develop, document, and implement are gram [] to provide information security for the information a cort the operations and assets of the agency [] that includes—the risk and magnitude of the harm that could result from the unition, modification, or destruction of information and information assets of the agency"	ind - nautho	orized

**Guidance References: None** 

[indirect]

NIST SP 800-26 Security Self-Assessment Guide for Information Technology Systems [Swanson 2001]

## 4.6.5 Are vulnerability scanning tools run on incident management systems and networks?

This function focuses on whether the organization performs vulnerability scanning on incident management systems and networks to identify potential threats and problems. This scanning may be done by a CSIRT or by another group of individuals within the organization that is responsible for performing such activities. In either case, management authorization must be obtained (preferably in written form), describing the conditions and schedule under which such activities are performed.

Policies and procedures should identify the guidelines and rules for scheduling, conducting, analyzing, and taking action on any information identified as a result of such scanning activity.

**Not applicable** – It is possible that this function might be outsourced or handled by another part of the organization (see above). If this is the case, then this question should then be applied to that group and its activities.

**Impact statement** – Such scanning can provide warnings about weaknesses that may have an impact on the incident management infrastructure. Results from this vulnerability scanning can be used as rationale for updates or changes in system/network configurations, or as justification for new components, system upgrades, or additional software/hardware.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – This function is fully satisfied when the organization conducts vulnerability scanning of incident management systems on a routine schedule (a periodic schedule, such as daily, weekly, monthly, and whenever a potential threat warrants). This is a Priority I function and the question can only have a Yes or No answer.

- A [Yes] answer for this metric can be achieved if all required indicators [R] are met.
- Any other combination of indicators is insufficient and results in a [No].

**Improvement** – Improvement can be achieved by implementing

- formalized procedures, guidelines, and training covering how to provide notification and how
  to determine if the scanning will interfere with other incident management operations
  (situational awareness)
- quality assurance checks on the information provided by the scans to ensure that it is complete, timely, accurate, clear and understandable, up to date, useful, and meets any organization, institutional, or legal compliance guidelines
- automated tools for performing vulnerability scanning and tracking, including a vulnerability
  database that allows tracking of vulnerabilities by organizational or constituent unit, along
  with the ability to track vulnerability remediation

		Incident Management Capability Metrics						
4.6.5	Are vulnerab	ility scanning tools run on the incident management systems s?	Prior	rity I				
Not	Not		v	NI				
observed	l applicable	<ul> <li>Vulnerability scanning tools are routinely run on incident</li> </ul>	Y	N				
		management systems networks, and when warranted.						
ro	roles and responsibilities, MOUs, email, policy, etc.) [R]  List of systems containing critical assets and data exists [R]							
□ De vu □ De □ Pe	vulnerability scanning is conducted [R]  Documented policies and procedures exist that define reporting requirements  Personnel are appropriately trained on the procedures, processes, and supporting technologies used							
[R Activity	.]	ability scanning (or others who perform such activities have those qual	ificatio	ons)				
So Ro	ources for robust emediation, resp e implemented [ ocumentation or	r notification and alert is maintained [R] It tools and information used in vulnerability scanning are reviewed bonse, and recovery solutions to address findings in results of vulnerability [R] In changes/update is provided Interability scanning is tracked and recorded [R]	ility sc	ans				
Support A	ing Mechanism	ns  ved vulnerability scanning tools (NMap, ILook, etc.) used in accordance	e with					
Artifacts	echanisms for to s ulnerability scar	racking and monitoring vulnerability scanning activities and archiving n reports [R]	results	[R]				
Quality	OC list of author	rized individuals who perform the vulnerability scanning [R]						
Pe m A	ethodologies, an designated sche	are of, knowledgeable of, and consistently follow the procedures, proceed technologies for performing this task [R] edule for performing vulnerability scanning (or more often as warranteed).						
☐ Tl		s and criteria (including timeliness, completeness, adequacy, and frequency) for evaluating the quality of performance and artifacts associated with						
□ TI	ne quality and et	ffectiveness of this activity are periodically evaluated and appropriate						
Regulate FISMA S 3544 "(b informat systems " (5) peri practices	on security prog hat support the odic testing and , to be performe	:	rmation	n and				
identifie	ll include testing in the inventor	ng of management, operational, and technical controls of every informatry required under Section 3505(c); and g relied on in a evaluation under Section 3545"	tion sy	rstem				

## **Guidance References:**

NIST SP 800-61 *Computer Security Incident Handling Guide* [Grance 2004] Sec 2.5 Incident Response Team Services

[p 2-14, 2-15] "Vulnerability Assessment. An incident response team can examine networks, systems, and applications for security-related vulnerabilities, determine how they can be exploited and what the risks are, and recommend how the risks can be mitigated. These responsibilities can be extended so that the team performs auditing or penetration testing, perhaps visiting sites unannounced to perform on-the-spot assessments. Incident handlers are well suited to performing vulnerability assessments because they routinely see all kinds of incidents and have first-hand knowledge of vulnerabilities and how they are exploited. However, because the availability of incident handlers is unpredictable, organizations should typically give primary responsibility for vulnerability assessments to another team and use incident handlers as a supplemental resource."

### 4.6.6 Is there a patch management program in place for the incident management systems?

This function focuses on whether there is a defined process for receiving alerts about patches, installing patches, monitoring installation to ensure patches were correctly installed on incident management systems and networks, and determining how to handle any exceptions or extensions when patching cannot be implemented immediately.

Incident management personnel can actually install the patches on their own systems or another group within the organization can have that authority.

Incident management personnel should seek information about patch notifications from as many sources as needed, including CERT/CC, software and hardware vendors, other vulnerability analysis and reporting organizations, and other security experts. Tracking all such notices, the impacts on the incident management systems, and the actions taken in a database or tracking system can help to keep a history of vulnerability actions for the team and can provide a source mechanism for trend analysis.

It may not always be possible to patch a system, or to conduct sufficient testing to ensure a patch will work as expected on that system. Incident management personnel need to know which systems fall into these categories and ensure that appropriate actions are taken to prevent patches from affecting operational production systems, or ensure that appropriate mitigation actions are taken to monitor and defend unpatched systems.

**Not applicable** – This function should never be Not Applicable.

**Impact statement** – Timely patch alerts and installation provide a method to protect systems from threats. Patch management can help increase the security posture of the organization by protecting critical incident management systems, networks, and data.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – This function is fully satisfied when notice of new patches is received, the appropriate incident management personnel are notified, patches are downloaded, tested, and installed, and there are appropriate documented policies and procedures and training on conducting these activities.

This is a Priority I function and the question can only have a Yes or No answer. Specifically, the scoring guidance is as follows:

- A [Yes] answer for this metric can be achieved if all required indicators [R] are met.
- Any other combination of indicators is insufficient and results in a [No].

**Improvement** – Improvement can be achieved by implementing

- formalized procedures and guidelines
- quality assurance checks on the information provided to ensure that it is complete, timely, accurate, clear, understandable, up to date, useful, and meets any organization, institutional or legal compliance guidelines
- training for personnel on the patch mitigation and installation techniques and methodologies
- a process to keep all POC lists and security mailing list subscriptions up to date
- automated tools for patch dissemination and installation

				ncident Managen	nent Capal	bility Metrics			
4.6.0		Is there a pate		nagement progra	ım in place	for the incide	nt	Prio	rity I
No		Not						Y	N
obser	ved	applicable	•	There is a patch n	-		ace for the		
				incident managen	nent system	IS.			ם
	Inve Inve	entory of critic		ident management at cannot be patche					}
Cont						_			
u		cumented, up-t s and responsi		e policy and proced	dures for pa	tch manageme	nt exist (including	g assig	ned
				s) [K] s for testing patche	es exist [R]				
				responsible person		h management	are designated []	R]	
				the procedures an				,	
Activ	•								
				oad patches from a					
				use a test server or			n be loaded and t	ested,	
				e patch doesn't cau he CERT/CC, ven			un lists for notch		
				the technical advis					1
		ts [R]	uumg	the teemheur davis	orres, and	actively receive	os pacen mirormae	ion unc	•
			or, ex	ernal contacts, and	d constituen	cy are notified	about any corrup	t softw	are
_		kages							
				s are documented,		describing rat	ionale and identif	fying	
				and mitigation strand monitor, analyze		at ramadiation	on unnotabled ave	stama [	D1
				n patch implement		ct remediation	on unpatened sys	icins [	ΚJ
		ig Mechanism		ii pateii iiiipieiiieiit	ation				
				tributing and instal	lling patche	s on incident m	nanagement syste	ms and	1
		works		_					
				g/recording patch	compliance	/notification [R	<b>k</b> ]		
		dance for patc			.:	.7			
				nisms for patch not meeting patch cor			s automated tool	C	
_				a collection mecha	-	quirements (e.g	g., automateu toor	5,	
Artifa		piates, forms,	or da	a concention meena	11131113)				
		oies of reports	sent t	intermediate orga	anization gr	oup as appropr	iate [R]		
				for patches) from o			ble		
		ification lists f	or an	management or p	ersonnel to	be contacted			
Quali		,	c	1 1 1 11 0		1 .6.11	1		
	for	performing thi	s task			-	-	•	esses
				l knowledgeable al		nstallation, pat	ch monitoring, a	nd	
				or unpatched system riteria for evaluation		ity of performs	nce and artifacts	accosia	ated
		re is a process in this activity [		inciia ioi evaiuali	ng me quan	ity of periorina	nce and artifacts	associa	แซน
			-	eness of this activi	ity are perio	dically evaluat	ed and appropria	te	
_		rovements are			J F	<i>j</i>	·· ·· ·· ·· ·· ·· ·· ·· ·· ·· ·· ·· ··	-	

## **Regulatory References: None**

[indirect]

FISMA 3544(b)(3) [OLRC 2003]

3544 "(b) AGENCY PROGRAM—Each agency shall develop, document, and implement an agency-wide information security program [...] to provide information security for the information and information systems that support the operations and assets of the agency [...] that includes—
"(3) subordinate plans for providing adequate information security for networks, facilities, and systems or groups of information systems, as appropriate [...]"

#### **Guidance References:**

NIST SP 800-40 Procedures for Handling Security Patches [Mell 2002]

Sec 2 Creating and Implementing a Patching Process

[p 5] "We recommend creating a "Patch and Vulnerability Group" (PVG)." and Sec 5 Patching Procedures

NIST SP 800-61 Computer Security Incident Handling Guide [Grance 2004]

Sec 2.5 Incident Response Team Services

[p 2.15] "Patch Management. Giving the incident response team the responsibility for patch management (e.g., acquiring, testing, and distributing patches to the appropriate administrators and users throughout the organization) is generally not recommended. Patch management is a time-intensive, challenging task that cannot be delayed every time an incident needs to be handled. In fact, patch management services are often needed most when attempting to contain, eradicate, and recover from large-scale incidents. Effective communication channels between the patch management staff and the incident response team are likely to improve the success of a patch management program."

4.6.7 Is there an alternate communications system (other than email) for receiving and distributing notifications, information about incidents, and other kinds of warnings?

This function measures the ability of the organization to contact all relevant parties whenever necessary.

**Not applicable** – It would be unusual for this function to be Not Applicable since most common services provide at a minimum phone and email capabilities for notification. Even a minimalist "call tree" backup plan could be implemented. The evaluator should capture any rationale if this function is going be marked as Not Applicable.

**Impact statement** – Communications channels can fail in unexpected ways. As a proactive measure, alternative means of communication must be established and tested to ensure proper communications during emergencies or time-critical activities.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – The function is fully satisfied when there are documented policies, procedures, and guidance for implementing or maintaining alternate communications systems. The function is partially satisfied if communications depend on a primary method or share a common point of failure (e.g., email servers and alternate systems are on same network). Specifically, the scoring guidance is as follows:

- The [Yes] answer for this question can be achieved if all required indicators [R] are met.
- The [Partial] answer for this question can be achieved if
  - the organization has informal procedures, limited, or an ad hoc process for implementing alternate communications OR
  - personnel understand and follow the informal procedures consistently
- The [No] answer for this question results if most or all of the required indicators [R] are not met

**Improvement** – Improvement can be achieved by implementing

- formal procedures, guidelines, and training, including how to implement alternative communications processes and methods, notification, and how to follow the methodology
- a process to keep all POC lists and source information up to date

		In	cident Management Capability Metrics			
4.6.7		distribut	mmunications system (other than email) for ing notifications, information about incidents, and s?	Priority II		
Not observed applicable Yes and distributing inform viruses, incidents, vulu		There are multiple mechanisms for receiving and distributing information about new viruses, incidents, vulnerabilities, and threats.	Y	P	N	
		Partial	<ul> <li>Voice/FAX is used as the alternate communications system.</li> </ul>			J
Prereq						
		ncation me	thods have been identified and implemented [R]			
Contro						
			ing periodic testing of communications exist [R]	:c.	4.:	
	requirements [R]	edures outi	ine roles, responsibilities, scope, appropriate tools, and	поши	zation	
		ance for e	ach type of communication method exists [R]			
			trained on the procedures, process, and supporting tech	nologi	es iised	I [R]
Activit	1.1	ropriacely	dumed on the procedures, process, and supporting teen	norogi	ob uboc	[14]
	•	nunication	s system and plan are maintained [R]			
			otified during operational exercises per the test communication	nicatio	ns plar	1
			For alternate means of communications [R]		•	
	COOP provides n	neasures to	maintain communications through almost any emerger	ncy or	disaste	r
·	Various forms of	communic	ations are used such as pagers, mobile phones, FAX, S'	TÙ III,	, secure	e
		nail accou	nt(s) on separate networks, secure web page exist, for e	merge	ncy	
	communications					
		nternet Pro	stocol (VoIP) issues in contingency plan are considered	, as we	ell as th	eir
	imitations					
	rting Mechanism		T. DAY			
			ile, two-way radio, FAX, pager, etc.			
		alternate c	contact info for designated personnel [R]			
Artifac		altarnata	communications paths			
			from testing communications mechanisms			
			ganizations, and trusted agents to contact [R]			
Quality	1.1	Topriate of	gamzations, and trusted agents to contact [K]			
		ncluding v	when to implement alternate methods, exist [R]			
			wledgeable of, and consistently follow the procedures,	oroces	ses.	
			ogies for performing this task [R]		,	
			on of communications availability is performed (month	ıly, ser	ni-ann	ually,
	or when service providers change)					
☐ More than one alternate communications method exists						
Regulatory References: None						
	nce References:					
			y Incident Handling Guide [Grance 2004]			
			3-16] "The team should plan and prepare several comm	unicati	on	
			at are appropriate for a particular incident."			
Interna	al Organization	Reference	s:			

## 4.7 Threat Level Implementation

4.7.1 Is the latest organization or other relevant guidance and procedures for threat level reporting process, formats, directive actions, and security accessible, maintained, and followed?

This function focuses on the ability of the organization to implement a comprehensive process for effectively handling changes in threat levels. Threat levels can be national in origin, such as those established by the U.S. Department of Defense (sometimes referred to as INFOCON levels) or some other external entity warnings that are applicable to the organization. As part of any protection strategy, incident management personnel must be able to manage and track changes in response to threat level status for incident management systems and networks and be able to quickly implement changes in requirements associated with increasing or decreasing threat levels.

**Not applicable** – It would be unusual for this function to be Not Applicable since that would imply that incident management personnel never notify anyone in the organization about changes in threat levels. The evaluator should capture the rationale for this function to be classified as Not Applicable and use judgment to decide if the rationale is valid or not. If is the reason is not valid, this question should be marked as not met.

**Impact statement** – Adhering to threat guidance and directives can help ensure that people and technology (systems and networks) are focused on aligning their actions to adapt to changes that can affect a variety of operational issues: personal protection, protection of data and information, and the resilience of the systems for continued operations.

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – The goal of satisfactorily performing this function is for the organization to have an established mechanism in place that enables it to alter its operational activities to meet increasing or decreasing security postures and for personnel to perform their roles and responsibilities to meet the mission, goals, and objectives for incident management. This is a Priority I function and the question can only have a Yes or No answer.

- A score [Yes] can be achieved if all of the required indicators [R] are met.
- Any other combination of indicators results in a [No] score.

**Improvement** – The optional or non-required indicators relative to threat level processes identify possible areas for improvement planning. Other possible improvements include

- formalizing POC lists and periodic validation to ensure up-to-date information is available during changes in threat levels
- performing mock exercises and using lessons learned to improve processes

		Incident Management Capability Metrics			
4.7.1	the threat lev	rganization or other relevant guidance and procedures for el reporting process, formats, directive actions, and security aintained, and followed?	Prio	rity I	
Not observed	Not applicable	The latest organization or other relevant guidance and procedures are maintained and adhered to for the threat level reporting process, formats, directive actions, and security.	Y	N	
[R] Dei Controls Controls Dood de- Pro Per ince Pro Per Supportin Me Ass Artifacts Cop Dei Rep Quality Per mei	fined criteria or cumented processed ating leve cedures are in sonnel have ted reasing or decrecedures provide ponsibilities and sonnel review sonnel follow to sonnel change mg Mechanism for trasigned POCs to pies of latest or do-date list of idance procedumonstration of ports with track sonnel are away tho dologies, and the is a process	compliance with appropriate regulations or guidance [R] chnical understanding of ramifications associated with threat leve easing) [R] le detailed guidance on steps to change threat levels, including roll of notification requirements [R] changes in threat level reporting guidance threat levels based on threat situation and guidance instructions [as acking compliance exists [R] change threat levels [R] reganization threat level procedures [R] resormeasures to implement when changing threat levels [R] changes in threat levels (exercises, scenarios, table top walkthrouging and implementation of security threat level on internal network of the control of the con	evating els (for les and R] eghs) orks process	g and	
The imp Regulator Guidance	quality of performance and artifacts associated with this activity [R]  ☐ The quality and effectiveness of this activity are periodically evaluated and appropriate improvements are made [R]  Regulatory References: None  Guidance References: None  Internal Organization References:				

### 4.7.2 Is the constituency assisted with decisions regarding changes to local threat levels?

This function focuses on the ability of incident management personnel to help their constituency with changes in threat levels by providing assistance and guidance, and by monitoring the changes to support any reporting requirements or regulations. Threat levels can be national in origin, such as those established by the Department of Homeland Security (or some other external entity warnings that are applicable to the organization) or local. For example, there may be a specific threat level associated with an incident that only affects the city or area in which part of the organization resides. As part of any protection strategy, incident management personnel must be able to quickly help its constituency implement changes in requirements associated with such changes in local threat levels—whether that level is increasing or decreasing.

**Not applicable** – It is unlikely that this function would be Not Applicable since even at the organizational level there should be a plan or process in place to determine appropriate changes in operations based on threat levels within the constituency.

#### **Impact statement** – TBD

**Scoring and interpretation guidance** – The metric is fully satisfied when there are documented policies, procedures, and guidance for assisting constituents with changes in threat levels.

- The [Yes] answer for this question can be achieved if all required indicators [R] are met.
- The [Partial] grade for this question can be achieved if
  - there are informal procedures for completing this task OR
  - incident management personnel assist the constituents with guidance and technical support for threat level changes on an occasional basis AND
  - personnel understand and follow the informal procedures consistently AND
  - feedback on lessons learned is sent to the appropriate contacts

#### **Improvement** – Improvement can be gained by instituting

- quality assurance testing
- policies to document and test all procedures
- training in procedures and threat levels

Improvements in efficiency can also occur by maintaining and updating a prioritized list of criteria for how threat level changes affect the constituents' networks and by using this list to determine primary contacts. Further improvements can be achieved by assessing the impacts of threat changes on the constituency's mission and operations.

			Inci	ident Management Capability Metrics			
4.7.2		e constitu nt levels?		sted with decisions regarding changes to local	Pr	riority	II
Not observe	observed applicable		Yes	Yes Assistance is provided to constituency concerning recommendations on increasing local threat levels as conditions warrant (including providing information on threats, warnings, and incidents).		P	N
			Partial	The constituency is provided with assistance on an ad hoc basis.			
Control	information in constitue de la	managen  nted proce g threat lented prote nted police el are app ents [R] e includes es are in el have tec vels [R] res provice polities, an el guidance neir netwe ess and tra e includes ent comp inte conta	edures exi- evels) for ective mea- cies and pr ropriately s impact as- compliance chnical un le detailed nd notifica ce is devel- orks in res- aining are s impact as- liance with acts are not	at threat levels from the organization or appropriate some lare aware of and understand the threat levels and status (both constituent systems [R] assures required for each threat level exist [R] accedures for assisting constituents in applying threat trained on the policies and procedures for providing a sesessment of threat change on constituent mission and the ewith appropriate regulations or guidance [R] derstanding of ramifications associated with increasing guidance on steps to change threat levels, including a step of the provided to constituents on implementing direction requirements [R] approvided to constituents on how to respond to threat sesessment of threat change to constituent mission and in threat level changes is monitored [R] tified (through proper channels) of status, as required	elevat: change assistan d opera ng or d roles, ected r level c	meanir ing and es existance to ations ecreas:	d de- t [R]
		echanism sm for tra	<b>is</b> acking con	npliance			
	Assigned			d backups) at constituent sites for notification [R]			
	<ul> <li>□ Copies of latest organization threat level procedures [R]</li> <li>□ Up-do-date list of POCs (primary and backups) to be notified or involved in threat changes [R]</li> <li>□ Guidance procedures or measures to implement when threat levels change [R]</li> <li>□ Copies of supplemental threat procedures developed by constituents</li> <li>□ Copies of lessons learned and/or follow-up reports showing that improvements were incorporated.</li> <li>□ Copies of supplemental constituent procedures on file</li> </ul>						-
t	echnolog	gies for p	erforming	wledgeable of, and consistently follow the procedure this task [R]	_		
	vith this Γhe qual	activity   ity and e	[R]	is for evaluating the quality of performance and artifacts of this activity are periodically evaluated and appropriate the section of the sec		sociate	a

Incident Management Capability Metrics					
Regulatory References: None					
Guidance References: None					
Internal Organization References:					

# Appendix List of Incident Management Functions

This appendix contains a simple list of all of the function questions contained in this document. It is provided for convenience for those who wish to have a complete list.

Question	Priority
Interfaces	
0.1.1 Have well-defined, formal interfaces for conducting agency incident management activities been established and maintained?	I
Protect	
Risk Assessment Support	
1.1.1 Are Risk Assessments (RAs) performed on constituent systems?	I
1.1.2 Are the constituents assisted with correcting problems identified by Risk Assessment (RA) activities?	III
1.1.3 Is proactive vulnerability scanning (VS) performed on constituent networks and systems?	I
1.1.4 Is the constituent assisted with correcting problems identified by vulnerability scanning (VS) activities?	III
1.1.5 Is trend analysis supported and conducted?	III
Malware Protection Support	
1.2.1 Is there an institutionalized Malware/Anti-Virus (AV) Program?	I
Computer Network Defense Operational Exercises	
1.3.1 Are operational exercises conducted to assess the security posture of the organization?	III
1.3.2 Are lessons learned from operational exercises incorporated into the constituents' network defenses?	III
Constituent Protection Support and Training	
1.4.1 Is there a list of which systems, data, and information are mission critical?	I
1.4.2 Is guidance provided to constituents in best practices for protecting their systems and network?	III
1.4.3 Are constituents provided with security education, training, and awareness (ETA)?	II

Question	Priority
Information Assurance/Vulnerability Management	
1.5.1 Is there a patch alert and management program?	I
Detect	
Network Security Monitoring	
2.1.1 Is there network monitoring of the security of constituent systems and networks?	I
Indicators, Warning, and Situational Awareness	
2.2.1 Are network and system configurations or rule sets reviewed and updated in response to changes in the threat environment, and are the constituents notified of the updates?	I
2.2.2 Is public monitoring of external web sites and other trusted sources of information conducted?	I
Respond	
Incident Reporting	
3.1.1 Are incidents reported to and coordinated with appropriate external organizations or groups in accordance with organizational guidelines?	I
3.1.2 Are incidents reported to appropriate organization management in accordance with organizational guidelines?	I
3.1.3 Are events/incidents reported from the constituency?	I
3.1.4 Is a notification service provided to constituents?	I
3.1.5 Are incidents reported to law enforcement as required and/or the intelligence community as appropriate?	I
3.1.6 Is there support for incident management for classified or sensitive information, networks, and/or systems?	I
3.1.7 Is there a central repository for constituent security event/incident reporting?	II
Incident Response	
3.2.1 Is there an event/incident handling capability?	I
3.2.2 Is there an operations log or record of daily operational activity?	II
3.2.3 Is information on all events/incidents collected and retained in support of future analytical efforts and situational awareness?	II
3.2.4 Is relevant information on all events/incidents collected and retained in support of law enforcement investigations?	I

Question	Priority
3.2.5 Are general incident response guidelines, checklists, and recommended procedures distributed to constituents to encourage consistency in response methods/standards?	II
3.2.6 Are trusted relationships maintained with internal organizational experts who can give technical and non-technical advice and information?	IV
3.2.7 Have trusted relationships been developed with other external experts (CERT/CC, FIRST, vendors, other entities, etc.)?	III
Incident Analysis	
3.3.1 Is incident analysis conducted?	I
3.3.2 Is fusion analysis (analyzing data from disparate sources) to identify concerted attacks and shared vulnerabilities performed?	III
3.3.3 Is retrospective analysis conducted?	IV
3.3.4 Is incident correlation performed?	II
3.3.5 Is forensics analysis performed on constituent systems and networks?	IV
3.3.6 Do the analytical processes incorporate methods to determine the risk or threat level of a confirmed incident?	I
Sustain	
MOUs and Contracts	
4.1.1 Is there an incident management function or CSIRT designated by the organization head or CIO through an official appointment order?	II
4.1.2 Is there a documented agreement(s) that identifies the incident management services provided to the constituency?	II
4.1.3 Does the agreement with the constituent specify that the constituency will provide notification in advance of changes or planned outages to its network?	III
Project/Program Management	
4.2.1 Is there a financial plan for incident management functions?	IV
4.2.2 Are there documented roles and responsibilities for key incident management activities throughout the organization?	II
4.2.3 Is there a program management plan (workforce plan) for incident management personnel?	II
4.2.4 Is there a Quality Assurance (QA) Program to ensure quality of work and delivery for provided products and services?	I

Question	Priority
4.2.5 Is there an established business resumption plan to support disaster recovery, reconstitution, and restoration efforts for incident management functions?	I
4.2.6 Is there a personnel security plan for incident management personnel?	III
4.2.7 Is the incident management IT infrastructure adequate to support incident management functions?	II
CND Technology Development, Evaluation, and Implementation	
4.3.1 Is there a capability to safely test tools for use within the incident management environment?	III
4.3.2 Is there a process to monitor and review various forms of media to ensure that incident management personnel stay abreast of emerging technologies?	IV
Personnel	
4.4.1 Are there established ETA requirements and minimum competency levels incorporated into the training program for all personnel performing incident management activities?	I
4.4.2 Is there a professional development program for incident management personnel?	IV
Security Administration	
4.5.1 Are there physical protective measures in place to protect incident management IT systems, facilities, and personnel?	I
4.5.2 Is there an operations security (OPSEC) program?	I
CND Information Systems	
4.6.1 Are there Defense-in-Depth strategies and methodologies to harden the incident management computer networks and systems?	I
4.6.2 Are there processes and technologies to support the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of incident management data and information?	I
4.6.3 Do incident management personnel monitor their own systems and networks?	I
4.6.4 Are Risk Assessments (RAs) performed on incident management systems and networks?	I
4.6.5 Are vulnerability scanning tools run on the incident management systems and networks?	I
4.6.6 Is there a patch management program in place for the incident management systems?	I
4.6.7 Is there an alternate communications system (other than email) for receiving and distributing notifications, information about incidents, and other kinds of warnings?	II

Question	Priority
Threat Level Implementation	
4.7.1 Is the latest organization or other relevant guidance and procedures for the threat level reporting process, formats, directive actions, and security accessible, maintained, and	
followed?	I
4.7.2 Is the constituency assisted with decisions regarding changes to local threat levels?	II

# **Acronyms**

ACL access control list

ADS anomaly detection system

AV anti-virus

CBK Common Body of Knowledge CBT computer based training

CD compact disc

CERT/CC CERT Coordination Center

CIA confidentiality, integrity, and availability

CIO chief information officer

CISSP Certified Information Systems Security Professional

CMM Capability Maturity Model

CMMI Capability Maturity Model Integration

CND computer network defense

CNDSP computer network defense service provider

COBIT Control Objectives for Information and related Technology

CSIRT computer security incident response team

DHS Department of Homeland Security

DMZ demilitarized zone
DNS Domain Name System
DoD Department of Defense

ETA education, training, and awareness

FAX facsimile

FFIEC Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council

FIPS Federal Information Processing Standards

FISMA Federal Information Security Management Act of 2002

FTP file transfer protocol
GnuPG GNU Privacy Guard
HR human resources
IA information assurance
IC intelligence community
IDS intrusion detection system

IEC International Electrotechnical Commission

INFOCON information operations condition

IP Internet Protocol

IPS intrusion prevention system, or intrusion protection system

(ISC)<sup>2</sup> International Information Systems Security Certification Consortium

ISO information security officer

ISO International Organization for Standardization

ISP internet service provider IT information technology

ITGI Information Technology Governance Institute

ITIL IT Infrastructure Library

LE law enforcement LOA letter of agreement

MO modus operandi (mode of operation)

MOA memorandum of agreement MOU memorandum of understanding MSSP managed security service provider

NIC network information center

NIST National Institute of Standards and Technology

NIST SP NIST Special Publication NOC network operations center

OCTAVE Operationally Critical Threat, Asset, and Vulnerability Evaluation

OMB Office of Management and Budget

OPSEC operations security
OS operating system
PC personal computer
PGP Pretty Good Privacy
PKI public key infrastructure

POC point of contact QA quality assurance RA risk assessment

SEI Software Engineering Institute SKiP Security Knowledge in Practice

SLA service level agreement
SME subject matter expert
SOC security operations center
STU secure telephone unit
TBD to be determined

US-CERT United States Computer Emergency Readiness Team

VoIP Voice over Internet Protocol VPN virtual private network VS vulnerability scanning

# **Bibliography**

URLs are valid as of the publication date of this document.

# [Alberts 2004]

Alberts, Chris; Dorofee, Audrey; Killcrece, Georgia; Ruefle, Robin; & Zajicek, Mark. Defining Incident Management Processes for CSIRTs: A Work in Progress (CMU/SEI-2004-TR-015 ADA453378). Pittsburgh, PA: Software Engineering Institute, Carnegie Mellon University, 2004. http://www.cert.org/archive/pdfs/04tr015.pdf

http://www.sei.cmu.edu/publications/documents/04.reports/04tr015.html.

# [Bace 2001]

Bace, Rebecca & Mell, Peter. Intrusion Detection Systems (NIST Special Publication 800-31). http://csrc.nist.gov/publications/nistpubs/800-31/sp800-31.pdf (2001).

# [Barker 2003]

Barker, William C. Guideline for Identifying an Information System as a National Security System (NIST Special Publication 800-59). http://csrc.nist.gov/publications/nistpubs/800-59/SP800-59.pdf (2003).

# [FFIEC 2002]

Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council (FFIEC). IT Handbook InfoBase. http://www.ffiec.gov/ffiecinfobase/index.html (2004).

#### [Grance 2004]

Grance, Tim; Kent, Karen; & Kim, Brian. Computer Security Incident Handling Guide (NIST Special Publication 800-61). http://csrc.nist.gov/publications/nistpubs/800-61/sp800-61.pdf (2004).

#### [Hash 2005]

Hash, Joan; Bartol, Nadya; Rollins, Holly; Robinson, Will; Abeles, John; & Batdorff, Steve. Integrating Security into the Capital Planning and Investment Control Process (NIST Special Publication 800-65). http://csrc.nist.gov/publications/nistpubs/800-65/SP-800-65-Final.pdf (2005).

#### [ISF 2005]

Information Security Forum. The Standard of Good Practice for Information Security. 2005. http://www.isfsecuritystandard.com/.

#### [ISC2 2005]

International Information Systems Security Certification Consortium (ISC)2. Certified Information Systems Security Professional (CISSP) Common Body of Knowledge (CBK). https://www.isc2.org/cgi-bin/content.cgi?category=97 (2004).

# [ISO 2005a]

International Organization for Standardization. Information technology — Security techniques — Code of practice for information security management (ISO/IEC 17799:2005) http://www.iso.org/iso/en/CatalogueDetailPage.CatalogueDetail?CSNUMBER=39612 (2005).

#### [ISO 2005b]

International Organization for Standardization. Information technology — Security techniques — Information security management systems – Requirements (ISO/IEC 27001:2005).http://www.iso.org/iso/en/CatalogueDetailPage.CatalogueDetail?CSNUMBER=421 03 (2005).

# [ITGI 2006]

IT Governance Institute. Control Objectives for Information and related Technology (COBIT) 4.0. 2006. http://www.isaca.org/cobit.

# [Killcrece 2002]

Killcrece, Georgia; Kossakowski, Klaus-Peter; Ruefle, Robin; & Zajicek, Mark. CSIRT Services. http://www.cert.org/csirts/services.html (2002).

# [Killcrece 2003a]

Killcrece, Georgia; Kossakowski, Klaus-Peter; Ruefle, Robin; & Zajicek, Mark. State of the Practice of Computer Security Incident Response Teams (CSIRTs) (CMU/SEI-2003-TR-001, ADA421664). Pittsburgh, PA: Software Engineering Institute, Carnegie Mellon University, 2003. http://www.cert.org/archive/pdf/03tr001.pdf http://www.sei.cmu.edu/publications/documents/03.reports/03tr001.html.

#### [Killcrece 2003b]

Killcrece, Georgia; Kossakowski, Klaus-Peter; Ruefle, Robin; & Zajicek, Mark. Organizational Models for Computer Security Incident Response Teams (CSIRTs) (CMU/SEI-2003-HB-001, ADA421684). Pittsburgh, PA: Software Engineering Institute, Carnegie Mellon University, 2003. http://www.cert.org/archive/pdf/03hb001.pdf http://www.sei.cmu.edu/publications/documents/03.reports/03hb001.html.

# [Mell 2002]

Mell, Peter & Tracy, Miles C. Procedures for Handling Security Patches (NIST Special Publication 800-40). http://csrc.nist.gov/publications/nistpubs/800-40/sp800-40.pdf (2002).

# [NARA 2003]

The National Archives and Records Administration. General Records Schedule 24 – Information Technology Operations and Management Records. http://www.archives.gov/records-mgmt/ardor/grs24.html (2003).

#### [NIST 2004]

National Institute of Standards and Technology. Standards for Security Categorization of Federal Information and Information Systems (FIPS PUB 199).

http://csrc.nist.gov/publications/fips/fips199/FIPS-PUB-199-final.pdf (2004).

#### [NIST 2005]

National Institute of Standards and Technology. Computer Security Expert Assist Team. http://csrc.nist.gov/cseat/ (2005).

# [NIST 2006]

National Institute of Standards and Technology. Minimum Security Requirements for Federal Information and Information Systems (FIPS PUB 200).

http://csrc.nist.gov/publications/fips/fips200/FIPS-200-final-march.pdf (2006).

#### [NIST 2007]

National Institute of Standards and Technology. NIST Special Publications, 800 Series. http://csrc.nist.gov/publications/nistpubs/ (2007).

# [OGC 2006]

Office of Government Commerce. IT Infrastructure Library (ITIL).

http://www.itil.co.uk/ (2006).

# [OLRC 2003]

Office of the Law Revision Counsel, U.S. House of Representatives. United States Code, Title 44, Sections 3541-3549 "Federal Information Security Management Act of 2002."

http://uscode.house.gov/uscode-cgi/fastweb.exe?getdoc+uscview+t43t44+1817+13++() (2003).

# [OMB 1996]

Office of Management and Budget. Circular No. A-130, Revised, Appendix III, Security of Federal Automated Information Resources. http://www.whitehouse.gov/omb/circulars/a130/a130appendix iii.html (1996)

http://www.whitehouse.gov/omb/circulars/a130/appendix iii.pdf (1996).

#### [Ross 2004]

Ross, Ron; Swanson, Marianne; Stoneburner, Gary; Katzke, Stu; & Johnson, Arnold. Guide for the Security Certification and Accreditation of Federal Information Systems (NIST Special Publication 800-37).

http://csrc.nist.gov/publications/nistpubs/800-37/SP800-37-final.pdf (2004).

#### [Sharp 2001]

Sharp, Alec & McDermott, Patrick. Workflow Modeling: Tools for Improvement and Application Development. Boston, MA: Artech House, 2001.

#### [SEI 2002]

Software Engineering Institute. Securing Networks Systematically — the SKiP Method. http://www.cert.org/archive/pdf/SKiP.pdf (2002).

#### [SEI 2003]

Software Engineering Institute. Operationally Critical Threat, Asset, and Vulnerability Evaluation (OCTAVE). http://www.cert.org/octave/ (2003).

# [SEI 2005]

Software Engineering Institute. Capability Maturity Model Integration (CMMI). http://www.sei.cmu.edu/cmmi/ (2005).

# [Swanson 1996]

Swanson, Marianne & Guttman, Barbara. Generally Accepted Principles and Practices for Securing Information Technology Systems (NIST Special Publication 800-14). http://csrc.nist.gov/publications/nistpubs/800-14/800-14.pdf (1996).

#### [Swanson 1998]

Swanson, Marianne. Guide for Developing Security Plans for Information Technology Systems (NIST Special Publication 800-18). http://csrc.nist.gov/publications/nistpubs/800-18/Planguide.PDF (1998).

# [Swanson 2001]

Swanson, Marianne. Security Self-Assessment Guide for Information Technology Systems (NIST Special Publication 800-26). http://csrc.nist.gov/publications/nistpubs/800-26/sp800-26.pdf (2001).

# [Swanson 2002]

Swanson, Marianne; Wohl, Amy; Pope, Lucinda; Grance, Tim; Hash, Joan; & Thomas, Ray. Contingency Planning Guide for Information Technology Systems (NIST Special Publication 800-34). http://csrc.nist.gov/publications/nistpubs/800-34/sp800-34.pdf (2002).

#### [Wack 2002]

Wack, John; Cutler, Ken; & Pole, Jamie. Guidelines on Firewalls and Firewall Policy (NIST Special Publication 800-41). http://csrc.nist.gov/publications/nistpubs/800-41/sp800-41.pdf (2002).

#### [West-Brown 2003]

West-Brown, Moira J.; Stikvoort, Don; Kossakowski, Klaus-Peter; Killcrece, Georgia; Ruefle, Robin; & Zajicek, Mark. Handbook for Computer Security Incident Response Teams (CSIRTs), 2nd Edition (CMU/SEI-2003-HB-002, ADA413778). Pittsburgh, PA: Software Engineering Institute, Carnegie Mellon University, 2003. http://www.cert.org/archive/pdf/csirt-handbook.pdf http://www.sei.cmu.edu/publications/documents/03.reports/03hb002.html.

R	EPORT DOCUME	NTATION PAG	E	Form Approved OMB No. 0704-0188
Public reporting burden for this collection of information is estimated to average 1 hour per response, including the time for reviewing instructions, searching existing data sources, gathering and maintaining the data needed, and completing and reviewing the collection of information. Send comments regarding this burden estimate or any other aspect of this collection of information, including suggestions for reducing this burden, to Washington Headquarters Services, Directorate for information Operations and Reports, 1215 Jefferson Davis Highway, Suite 1204, Arlington, VA 22202-4302, and to the Office of Management and Budget, Paperwork Reduction Project (0704-0188), Washington, DC 20503.				
1.	AGENCY USE ONLY	2. REPORT DATE	3.	
	(Leave Blank)	April 2007		COVERED
				Final
4.	TITLE AND SUBTITLE		5.	FUNDING NUMBERS
	Incident Management Capability Met	rics Version 0.1		FA8721-05-C-0003
6.	AUTHOR(S)			
	Audrey Dorofee; Georgia Killcrece; R	Robin Ruefle; & Mark Zajicek		
7.	PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME(S)	AND ADDRESS(ES)	8.	
	Software Engineering Institute			REPORT NUMBER
	Carnegie Mellon University			CMU/SEI-2007-TR-008
	Pittsburgh, PA 15213	()		
9.	SPONSORING/MONITORING AGENCY NA	ME(S) AND ADDRESS(ES)	10	). SPONSORING/MONITORING AGENCY REPORT NUMBER
	HQ ESC/XPK 5 Eglin Street			AGENOT REPORT NOMBER
	Hanscom AFB, MA 01731-2116			
11.	SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES			
12A	DISTRIBUTION/AVAILABILITY STATEMEN	T	12	2B DISTRIBUTION CODE
	Unclassified/Unlimited, DTIC, NTIS			
13.	ABSTRACT (MAXIMUM 200 WORDS)		'	
Successful management of incidents that threaten an organization's cyber security is a complex endeavor. Frequently an organization's primary focus on the response aspects of security incidents results in its failure to manage incidents beyond simply reacting to threatening events.				
The metrics presented in this document are intended to provide a baseline or benchmark of incident management practices. The incident management functions—provided in a series of questions and indicators—define the actual benchmark. The questions explore different aspects of incident management activities for protecting, defending, and sustaining an organization's computing environment in addition to conducting appropriate response actions. This benchmark can be used by an organization to assess how its current incident management capability is defined, managed, measured, and improved. This will help assure the system owners, data owners, and operators that their incident management services are being delivered with a high standard of quality and success, and within acceptable levels of risk.				
14.	14. SUBJECT TERMS			. NUMBER OF PAGES
	incident management capability metrics, indicator, benchmark			229
16. PRICE CODE				
17.	SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF	18. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION	19. SECURITY	20. LIMITATION OF
	REPORT	OF THIS PAGE	CLASSIFICATION OF	ABSTRACT
	Unclassified	Unclassified	ABSTRACT	UL
			Unclassified	

NSN 7540-01-280-5500

Standard Form 298 (Rev. 2-89) Prescribed by ANSI Std. Z39-18 298-102